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During 2021, Lecta faced very uncertain economic conditions
and several waves of increasing input costs.
Despite this challenging environment,
we successfully managed to progressively restore profitability.
We not only overcame challenges, but also further executed
our transformation journey with conviction.
Lecta is back and well prepared for a sustainable future.
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CEO and CFO
statements

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER STATEMENT

Gilles Van Nieuwenhuyzen
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholder
I am today happy to report that 2021 has shown a clear improvement on 2020,
despite very fluctuating economic conditions.
On the positive side, we started the year 2021 with clear signs that the COVID-19
pandemic was somewhat fading away. This gradual improvement over the first
two quarters translated into volumes coming back in all our grades which led quite
quickly to a situation where all our production facilities became at full capacity.
On the negative side, we were confronted early 2021 with an overall cost inflation
of all our main inputs. Those increases were first led by Pulp, but then quickly
followed by Chemicals and Transport. On top of this situation, the global economy
started to overheat and created significant supply issues, especially in maritime
freight, making it difficult to ship in and out of Europe in an orderly manner.
Despite actions to mitigate those increases, Lecta had no choice but to seek
selling prices increases from customers. Those actions were applied successfully
over the second and third quarters to restore sustainable margins.
A second wave of inflationary costs hit then our business toward the end of the
third quarter with this time the Gas price reaching unforeseen levels. This caused
a direct cost increase for Lecta as an energy consumer but also pushed other
materials to increase like chemicals and transport.
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For the second time in the year, we worked to pass on to our customers those
cost increases during the fourth quarter and the beginning of 2022.
The outbreak of the Russian/Ukraine war in February 2022 is the third wave of
cost inflation that Lecta will have to overcome.
Across the year 2021, the team of Lecta has demonstrated a new capacity for
resilience. After a though year 2020, impacted by refinancing and COVID-19,
2021 has been a critical year to transform the company. Despite those difficult
conditions, Lecta has been able to get back towards the end of the year 2021 to a
level of profitability which was expected following the refinancing.
I am also very happy to report that our Governance and Leadership team is
continuously getting stronger. We progressively reinforced our team in the course
of 2021 and early 2022 with the appointment of Georges Gravanis as Non-executive
Director and I had the pleasure to join the Group as Director and CEO.
As a consequence of the hard work delivered by our teams in 2021, Lecta is
back and we now look forward to its continued transformation journey which we
embarked upon almost two years ago. Our main capex of 2021 was dedicated
to the Condat PM8 transformation into Specialties Paper such as Glassine and
Coated 1-Side. This main project has been delivered in time and is now starting
to deliver the expected benefits. I am proud of the way this project has been
managed and those new products are now contributing to Lecta’s diversified
portfolio.
To finish, I want to warmly thank all our employees for having taken care of their
health and having also protected each other during the difficult times of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Today we are almost back to normal conditions and our
plants are running close to full capacity. I know we can count on everyone to
maximize the performance our production facilities and provide our customers
with strong service
Lecta is today in a much better financial situation than one year ago and our
organization is well prepared to face the future.
I am confident in our teams for delivering the strong performance that you can
expect from us.
Gilles Van Nieuwenhuyzen
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Alain Gaudré
Chief Financial Officer

Year 1 of the transformation journey
Revenue
For the full year 2021, Lecta had revenue of €1,339.9 million versus €983.1
million , an increase of €356.7 million or +36%. Lecta recovered this year the
volumes lost in 2020 and as a consequence the Group was back to pre-COVID-19
pandemic levels. This revenue splits between products and energy sales
evolution as follows:
• Total Net Sales for our three product ranges increased by €261.4 million or
+28%, from €934.8 million in 2021 to €1,196.3 million in 2021. The increase
in terms of overall volumes was the main component of that +28% with an
increase of 246,500 metric tonnes or +26%, to achieve 1,184,300 metric
tonnes in 2021 vs 937,800 metric tonnes in 2020. Average net sales price
increase was 13€/t or +1.3%, with 1,010€/t in 2021 vs 997€/t in 2020.
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• Each product range recovered the volumes lost in 2020 during 2021. Coated
Woodfree increased by +31% in Net Sales from 2020 to 2021. As opposed
to 2020, our volumes increased more than the market average (+8%) as our
geographical positioning exposed us more to the Southern Europe countries
(Spain, Italy and France) which suffered the most due to the COVID-19
pandemic and we also benefitted from the removal of competitors production.
Specialties also increased by +28% offsetting the decrease of 2020 and
continuing to grow Self Adhesive business (+7% market growth in 2021).
Purchased Products progressed slightly less than the other two product ranges
with a +19% increase.
• Shares of Coated Woodfree, Specialties and Purchased Products in the Net
Sales of the Group remained rather stable between the two years.
• Sales of energy increased by €95.3 million or +197%, from €48.3 million in
2020 to €143.6 million in 2021. Volume of sales increased in accordance with
production increase by 194,200 MWh or +21%, with 1,122,600 MWh in 2021 vs
928,400 MWh in 2020. Due also to the electricity market conditions and global
increase of Gas and CO2 rights cost increase, average net sales price increased
by 76€/MWh or +146%, with 128€/MWh in 2021 vs 52€/MWh in 2019.

Raw Materials and Consumables Used
The costs of raw materials and consumables used increased by €181.9 million or
+38.3% from €474.3 million in 2020 to €656.2 million in 2021. As a percentage
of revenue, cost of raw materials and consumables increased from 48.2%
in 2020 to 49.0% in 2021. This significant increase in value was due to our
higher volumes sold (Net Sales increase +36%). The Group also suffered from
an increase in the average consumption price of pulp of 141€/t coupled with
chemicals costs inflation.
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Labor Costs
Labor costs increased by €15.8 million, or +9.7%, from €162.8 million in 2020 to
€178.6 million in 2021. As opposed to 2020 and due to the relatively high fixed
cost element of those costs, the sharp increase in volume meant a reduction as a
percentage of revenue from 16.6% in 2020 to 13.6% in 2021.
The progressive reduction of the COVID-19 consequences in 2021 resulted in a
reduction of the offered measures aimed at mitigating the economic consequences
of temporary shutdowns. The resulting savings in labor cost for short-time working
amounted to €1.3 million in 2021 compared to €9.3 million in 2020.
Lecta continued to streamline its operations and increase productivity on an ongoing basis. As a result of those actions, headcount decreased by 46 heads, from
3,033 employees at the end of 2020 to 2,987 employees at the end of 2021.

Other Operating Costs Except One-off costs
Other operating costs except one-offs costs increased by €163.5 million, or
+54%, from €300.6 million in 2020 to €464.1 million in 2021.
Those costs were composed by pure variable costs on one side, such as
energy, packaging materials, distribution and selling costs. But they also include
outsourcing, maintenance, production consumables, and overheads which have a
fixed cost component.
Despite that fixed element, the Other Operating Costs except one-off costs
expressed as a percentage of revenue, increased from 30.6% in 2020 to 34.6%
in 2021. This sharp increase is mainly due energy and distribution costs which
reached unforeseen levels in 2021.

EBITDA
EBITDA increased by €37.2 million, or +183%, from €20.3 million in 2020 to €57.4
million in 2021. Thanks to the recovery of volumes, gradually during the year,
and the recovery of sustainable margin in the second semester of 2021, Coated
Woodfree EBITDA increased by +149%. Specialties EBITDA showed a clear
recovery of +248% due to its integrated pulp activities. Purchase Products segment
saw its EBITDA increasing only by +78% due to a more limited volume growth.
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Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization decreased by €2.4 million, or -4%, from €54.9
million in 2020 to €52.5 million in 2021.

Goodwill impairment/recapitalization fees and costs and other
One-off costs
In 2021, Lecta reported a one-off charge of €(11.0) million, which included €(6.2)
million of Organization efficiency program, €(1.0) million of fees & costs in relation
with the Recapitalization of the Group and €(3.8) million of other costs mainly due
to the start-up of Condat PM8 machine.
In 2020, Lecta reported a one-off charge of €(171.0) million, which included
€(8.4) million of Organization efficiency program, €(42.3) million of fees & costs
in relation with the Recapitalization of the Group and €(118.3) million due to the
impairment of Goodwill.

Finance Costs
In 2021, Lecta reported finance cost of €(45.1) million. That amount included
€(1.7) million fee paid to extend the maturity of the €115 million SSFA.
In 2020, Lecta reported net finance income of €375.5 million. It consisted of
€423.2 million of income in relation to the 2016 Floating and Fixed rate notes
capitalized on 4 February 2020 and the cancellation in full of the Junior notes on
16 July 2020, €(9.9) million of finance cost in relation with the 2016 Floating and
Fixed rate notes accrued until 4 Feb 2020 and €(37.8) million of other finance
costs.

Income Tax
In 2021, the income tax charge amounted to €(4.8) million.
In 2020, Lecta reported an income tax charge of €(4.0) million.
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Profit (Loss) after Tax
In 2021, Lecta reported a Loss after Tax of €(56.0) million compared to a Profit of
€165.9 million in 2020.
The Profit after Tax for 2020 was impacted by significant costs such as €(42.3)
million of refinancing costs and €(118.3) million due to the impairment of
goodwill, and significant profits such as €423.2 million of income in relation with
the 2016 Floating and Fixed rate notes capitalized on 4 February 2020 and the
cancellation in full of the Junior notes on 16 July 2020.

Cash Flow
Net cash flow from operating activities was €124.9 million in 2021 vs €(32.1)
million in 2020 and is split was as follows:
– an EBITDA of €57.4 million in 2021 vs €20.3 million in 2020;
– a Working Capital decrease of €84.1 million vs €(6.0) million in 2020;
– Other Operating Activities payments of €(16.6) million in 2021 vs €(46.4) million
in 2020, mainly composed of other one-off cost of €(17.2) in 2021 and €(46.3)
million of fees related to the refinancing in 2020.
In 2021, the Working Capital decrease was explained by inventories reduction
of €38.1 million. The increase in Payables and the corresponding increase in
Receivables was due to the increased Net Sales and corresponding purchases.
The increase of Receivables has been financed in 2021 using non-recourse
factoring lines.
Net Cash Flow to investing activities increased to €(89.4) million in 2021 vs
€(54.3) million in 2020. The main strategical Capital Expenditure in 2021 referred
to the transformation of the Paper Machine 8 in Condat mill from Coated
Woodfree to Specialty Glassine paper.
Net Cash Flow to financing activities was €(67.4) million in 2021 vs €176.1 million
in 2020. This was split into the following items:
– a share capital increase of €0.2 million in 2021 vs € 59.9 million in 2020;
– a reduction of the Net Borrowings of €22.9 million in 2021 vs a reduction
of €155.7 million consecutive to the two refinancing operations done on 4
February 2020 and 16 July 2020;
– interests paid of €(43.3) million in 2021 vs €(38.4) million in 2020;
– dividends paid to minority shareholders in Alto Garda Power SrL for €(1.3)
million in 2021 vs €(1.2) million in 2020.
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As a consequence, Lecta’s cash position reduced from €177.0 million to €138.6
million while overdrafts decreased from €(20.5) million to €(13.5) million. Net
cash position reduced by €31.4 million.

Capital Resources and Liquidity
Lecta’s total capital resources amounted to €214.1 million in Total equity and
€410.5 million in Non-current interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December
2021, compared to €269.4 million in Total equity and €398.9 million in Noncurrent interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2020. In addition, Current
interest-bearing borrowings amounted to €22.6 million as at 31 December 2020,
compared €56.6 million as at 31 December 2020.
On 31 December 2021, Committed facilities amounted to €462 million of which
€418 million were used. These were composed of:
– €256 million of Senior Secured Notes issued on 4 February 2020 for €200
million and on 16 July 2020 for €56 million with a 5-year maturity;
– €115 million super senior facilities consisting of a super senior €75 million term
loan and a super senior €40 million RCF issued on 4 February 2020 with a
2-year maturity extended by 1 year without needing consent from the lenders;
– €50 million ICO loans guaranteed by the Spanish State issued in April and May
2020 with a two-year grace period and to be amortized over periods from 1 to 3
years;
– €19 million Nouvelle Aquitaine interest-free loan expiring in April 2027;
– €22 million other committed lines expiring from 2022 to 2029.
On 31 December 2021, Uncommitted facilities amounted to €184 million of
which €121 million were used. These were composed of discounted bills, nonrecourse and recourse factoring lines and overdrafts.
Available liquidity amounted to €246 million composed therefore of €139 million
of cash, €44 million of undrawn committed facilities and €63 million of undrawn
uncommitted facilities.
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Conclusion
After having successfully reinforced its financial structure in 2020, Lecta has
confirmed its financial turnaround in 2021, with an EBITDA to Sales increase from
2.1% in 2020 to 4.3% in 2021.
This performance continuously improved in the course of 2021 overcoming the
very challenging market conditions where our input costs significantly increased.
Lecta managed to reduce the impact of the overall increasing cost base with a
series of actions and was able to increase also the selling prices to pass to its
customers the share which was not absorbed.
Despite all those headwinds, Lecta implemented its Capital Expenditure
strategical program and successfully transformed the Condat Paper Machine 8
into Specialties Paper. At the end of 2021, Lecta is considering with confidence
the future with a strong financial situation, a recovered sustainable profitability
level and a first successful phase of its transformation journey realized.
Lecta is back and will continue its transformation, implementing its business plan
and delivering the expected return to its new shareholder base.
Alain Gaudré
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LECTA Ltd
(Registered Number 12405393)
Strategic Report for the year ended
31 December 2021

The Directors present their
Strategic Report for the year
ended 31 December 2021
Principal activities

Competitive market

Lecta Group (“the Group”) is engaged in the production
and sale of several specialty papers and coated woodfree
paper (“CWF”). Lecta Group has production sites in
Spain, France and Italy.

The Group operates in highly competitive markets
where price and quality are critical. The Group frequently
experiences pricing pressure from competitors in many
of its product lines and geographic markets. The Group’s
ability to compete effectively depends on its cost
competitiveness. Energy and raw material prices are a
continuous risk that has been aggravated in the recent
past due to natural disasters, global politics, and recent
military action.

Review of business
As shown in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, revenues in 2021 totaled €1,340 million
(2020: €983 million), with 1,184 thousand metric tonnes
(2020: 938 thousand metric tonnes) of paper delivered to
third parties.
Accounts show an EBITDA of €57.4 million (2020: €20
million) and a net loss of €(56.0) million (2020: net profit
€166 million).
The Balance Sheet shows that the Group’s financial
position at year-end was strong with €214 million of
equity (2020: € 269 million) and €410 million of noncurrent interest-bearing borrowings (2020: €399 million).

Financial risk management
The Group’s operations are exposed to a number of
financial risks, which include:
• Customer credit risk;
• Liquidity risk;
• Market risk;
• Interest rate risk;
• Foreign currency exchange risk;
• Business risk; and
• CO2 emission rights;
These risks are further explained in Note 39 (Financial
risk management objectives and policies) of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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COVID-19
In 2020, the restrictions applied across almost all
countries have changed consumption patterns and
have limited, to varying degrees, certain economic and
social activities that have subsequently had an impact
on greater or lesser use of paper. In 2021, however, as
a result of the lifting of most restrictions and the widespread vaccination program, the industry has shown
signs of recovery. The statistics of European producers
(Euro-Graph, FINAT, and ETPA) show that deliveries
increased by 12% in CWF, 11% in uncoated woodfree
(“UWF”), 12% in thermal paper, and 7% in self-adhesive
paper. The advertising investment has also increased by
22% in 2021.
Other market segments such as the labeling of food
linked to e-commerce packaging, hygiene or cleaning
products and flexible packaging in general have seen their
demand maintained, and at times increased, as domestic
consumption increased compared to consumption in bars
or restaurants.
The emergency caused by COVID-19 has led to the
need to draft and develop a contingency plan to
mitigate the risks caused by the pandemic and the
consequent economic crisis. Within this framework,
strategic objectives and operational objectives have been
identified, which are summarized below:
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Strategic Objectives:
• Ensure health and safety of our employees;
• Offer security and confidence to our stakeholders;
• Guarantee the fulfillment of the key objectives of the
business in the event of possible contingencies;
• Identify threats and vulnerabilities to the critical
operations of the company, and seek to control and
treat these in a proactive way;
• Integrate standardization in operational risk
management; and
• Resume activity as soon as possible.
Operational Objectives:
• Integrate prevention activities into risk management,
minimizing the likelihood that a contingency will cause
Lecta to stop operating long enough for it to be unable
to deliver its products on time;
• Avoid a domino effect on production plants and logistics
centers;
• Prevent other activities or production points of the
company from being interrupted.
Bearing these objectives in mind, Lecta has taken
extensive precautions to protect the health and safety
of its employees and to ensure business continuity. This
plan has remained active throughout 2021, following
the development of the pandemic and the measures
that Governments and the Health Authorities have
implemented throughout the year. The improvements in
the pandemic situation resulting from the wide-spread
vaccination program, has allowed Lecta to partially return
to normal activity in the second half of the year.

Regulatory changes
The Group’s operations are subject to the general
supervision of various public administrative authorities,
including labor, tax and environmental authorities, as
well as extensive regulation of the Group’s business and
its impact on the environment, including with respect
to carbon dioxide emissions. Such laws and regulations
require licenses, permits and other approvals to be
obtained in connection with the operation of the Group’s
business. The Group is also required to purchase carbon
dioxide emission credits proportionate to the Group’s
emissions, the price of which may significantly increase.
The Group manages its business with high standards in a
manner that conforms to general practice in the industry
and that complies with applicable administrative rules,
regulations and procedures.
In particular, the policies of quality, environment, energy,
and health and safety, which form part of the integrated
management system of Lecta (“LIMS”), reinforce our
commitment and responsibility towards the communities
and environments in which we operate.
These policies are the basis of our organization and are
applied to all activities and all work centers of Lecta. These
policies encourage the production and distribution of paper
with a commitment to quality and service that satisfies
customer expectations, considering criteria of economic
profitability, social responsibility, environmental protection,
energy efficiency and health and safety at work.

Raw materials

Future outlook

The Group’s operations are dependent upon a reliable
supply of the Group’s raw materials, particularly the
Group’s principal raw materials of pulp, wood, minerals,
chemicals, gas and electricity. Temporary or prolonged
interruption to the supply of the Group’s essential
minerals and chemicals, including latex, carbonates,
starch, clay, and reactive agents used in the production of
thermal paper due to economic, political, labor or social
instability or other developments affecting the Group’s
suppliers could seriously affect the Group’s business.
Although the Group is not dependent on any single
supplier for any of its mineral or chemical requirements,
some of them are very concentrated markets.

In February 2022, a number of countries (including the
US, UK and EU) imposed sanctions against certain
entities and individuals in Russia as a result of the
official recognition of the Donetsk People Republic and
Lugansk People Republic by the Russian Federation.
Announcements of potential additional sanctions have
been made following military operations initiated by
Russia against Ukraine on 24 February 2022.
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Due to the growing geopolitical tensions, since February
2022, there has been a significant increase in volatility on
the securities, currency, and energy markets, as well as
a significant depreciation of the Russian ruble against the
US dollar and the euro. It is expected that these events
may affect the activities of Russian enterprises in various
sectors of the economy.
Although the company’s performance at the date of this
report has not been significantly impacted by the above,
Lecta continues to monitor the evolving situation and its
impact on the financial position and results of the Group.
For 2022, amid this exceptional uncertainty, the global
economy is projected to grow 4.4% in 2022 (IMF). The
strength of the recovery varies considerably between
countries. In terms of GDP, in particular, in the euro zone
the growth outlook is 3.9% compared to 5.2% in 2021. In
the UK, growth is expected to reach 4.7%.

Key performance indicators
As a business, Lecta Group monitors KPI’s such as Sales
in volume and value, EBITDA and EBITDA margin. The
performance management system is used to track more
detailed financial and non-financial KPI’s which continued
to give the Group improved insight into each area of the
business resulting in streamlining of current processes as
well as highlighting potential opportunities.
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Section 172(1) Statement
Lecta’s decision making, management and operations
are guided by Lecta’s Code of Ethics and Anti bribery
policy together with the respective Codes of Conduct
issued at local level by operating companies. These set
out standards of behavior for all of Lecta’s employees,
including directors and executives.
The Lecta Code of Conduct emphasizes Lecta’s
commitment to business integrity and responsible
business operations, manifesting the company’s guiding
principles.
Lecta also has a policy of quality, environment, energy
and health and safety at work, which forms part of the
integrated management system (“LIMS”). This reinforces
our commitment and responsibility towards the
communities and environments in which we operate.
This policy is the basis of our organization and is
applied to all activities and all work centers of Lecta.
This policy encourages the production and distribution
of paper with a commitment to quality and service that
satisfies customer expectations, considering criteria of
economic profitability, social responsibility, environmental
protection, energy efficiency and health and safety at
work.
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During 2021 Lecta has also:
• Made the relevant changes to procedures required by
whistleblowing regulations;
• Maintained its active position as a member of the
United Nations Global Compact;
• Several operating companies have taken part of
various actions in the social field, collaborating
with Organizations and Foundations (including the
collaboration in calendars of non-profit organizations,
with various local associations, organizations and
foundations like the Riva del Garda museum, and
with different schools and festivals (for instance the
“International School of Paper, Printed Communication
and Biomaterials (INP PAGORA)” and the “Association
Technique de l’Industrie Papetière” (ATIP) ”);

In the industrial field, in 2021 the monitoring audit
of the integrated Multi-Site management system in
Environment (ISO 14001: 2015), Quality (ISO 9001: 2015),
Energy Efficiency (ISO 50001: 2018) and Occupational
Health and Safety (ISO 45001: 2018) was completed
across all Lecta factories as well as the Barcelona Office,
yielding positive results.
The EMAS registry has also been updated in all of the
Group’s factories, and the Multi-Site PEFC™ (14-3300002) and FSC® C011032 Chain of Custody audits have
been passed by all Lecta factories and in the Barcelona
Office with positive results.

• Communication with the different stakeholders of our
environmental practices, for example, through the
publication of the ‘New Responsible Purchasing of
Wood and Forest-Based Products Policy’, the ‘2020
Environmental Report’ and the ‘Social Responsibility
Actions’. Lecta has also joined CELAB Circular Economy
for Labels) an initiative aimed at promoting global
recycling in the self-adhesive label industry;

Signed on behalf of Directors on 27 April 2022
Dermot F. Smurfit
Chairman
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Overview

Lecta was formed in 1997 through the acquisition
of Cartiere del Garda (“Garda”) of Italy in October of
that year, to which Condat of France was added in
November 1998 and Torraspapel of Spain in December
1999. All three companies were long-established paper
manufacturers.
Today, Lecta is one of the leading manufacturers and
distributors of specialty papers for labels and flexible
packaging, coated and uncoated paper for publishing,
along with other high value-added print media in Europe.
With a manufacturing capacity of above 1.7 million metric
tonnes and revenue of €1.3 billion, Lecta produces pulp,
base paper and finished products with state-of-the-art
technology. Its integrated production and distribution
system, and in-depth product expertise, are key to its
business model.
Lecta is a multinational group with nearly 3,000
employees and seven mills in France, Italy and Spain. All
of Lecta’s mills are certified to the strictest standards in
environmental management (ISO 14001 and European
EMAS), energy efficiency (ISO 50001), quality (ISO
9001), as well as occupation health and safety (OHSAS
18001 and ISO 45001). Lecta has also certified the
Chain of Custody standards of all its mills to PEFC™ and
FSC® C011032. Finally, two of its mills are Food safety
standards (ISO 22000 and FSSC 22000) certified.
In addition to sales offices in nine countries (Belgium,
France, Germany, Italy, Morocco, Portugal, Spain, UK, and
USA), Lecta is present in the distribution business, with
its own distributors in France, Italy, Portugal and Spain.

Functional Papers
Creaset Seal

In the year ended 31 December 2021, Lecta’s mills
produced an aggregate of 1,080,000 metric tonnes of
specialty papers and coated woodfree (“CWF”) paper.
Lecta delivered a total of 1,184,000 metric tonnes of
paper, of which 1,080,000 metric tonnes related to Lecta
products and 105,000 metric tonnes related to third party
products. 305,000 metric tonnes were delivered through
Lecta’s own distributors.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, Lecta incurred
revenue of €1,340 million and EBITDA of €57 million.
Lecta marketed products in Europe (84%), Americas (9%)
and the rest of the world (7%).
The following table sets forth certain operating and
consolidated financial data for Lecta’s business:

(in millions of euro)

2021

2020

Volume sold of paper (in thousands of metric tonnes)

1,184

938

Volume sold of energy (in thousands of MWh)

1,123

928

Net Sales of Paper

1,196

935

Sales of Energy
Revenue
EBITDA
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48

1,340

983

57
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Factors affecting Lecta’s
Results of Operations

COVID-19 Pandemic and market growth
It is important to note that the activity of Lecta was
strongly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic from midMarch to August 2020, before progressively improving,
and being considered back to a normal level of activity in
the 4th quarter of 2021.

Raw Materials Costs
Pulp, chemicals and energy represent Lecta’s primary
input costs.
Lecta purchases approximately 67% of its pulp
requirements. Wood pulp is the principal raw material
required to manufacture paper. The price of pulp is highly
volatile and sensitive to changes in wood prices, industry
capacity, producer inventories, demand for paper,
cyclical changes in the world economy, and fluctuations
in the U.S. dollar, the reference currency for trading.
Fluctuations in pulp prices may impact, in turn, prices of
final paper products.
The price of crude oil also impacts oil-based raw materials
and transportation costs. It was also highly volatile in the
recent period. In order to reduce its energy costs Lecta
operates six cogeneration plants with a total installed
capacity of 271MW.

Labor Costs
Another significant portion of operating costs is labor.
Lecta has achieved significant productivity improvements
(as measured by net sales of paper per employee) and
has reduced its headcount by more than a third since the
start of graphic paper demand slowdown, despite the
acquisition of two paper distributors in France and Italy.

Cost-Savings Measures and Efficiency of
Operations
Paper producers have a high proportion of fixed costs,
and as a result, fluctuations in volumes and prices for
paper products cause corresponding fluctuations in their
profitability. As pricing in the paper industry is highly
competitive, particularly for the commodity products,
producers must focus on achieving greater efficiency and
cost-control to improve their competitive positions.
To that end, Lecta has undertaken a group wide
organization efficiency program aimed at developing
the synergies through the integration of its businesses
in France, Italy, Portugal and Spain, outsourcing the
non-core activities, giving its subsidiaries reduced
production, logistics and distribution costs, and adapting
its production capacity to the evolution of the markets
through conversion or closure. The program also entails
significant headcount reduction.

Effect of Currency Fluctuations
Lecta sales are denominated principally in euro. They
are also denominated in pounds sterling, U.S. dollar
and other currencies. The principal raw material, pulp,
is a commodity priced in U.S. dollar. The other costs are
predominantly denominated in euro.
As a consequence, Lecta is structurally a net buyer of
U.S. dollars. As such, all other things being equal, a
weakening of the U.S. dollar would have a positive impact
on the earnings. However, the U.S. dollar price of pulp
and the euro price of paper are correlated to the U.S.
dollar such that in the long run, a weakening of the U.S.
dollar exerts downward pressure on euro paper prices
and upward pressure on pulp prices.
Lecta has a policy of hedging its foreign exchange
exposure on non-euro denominated sales and purchases
once they are committed. It only hedges a low portion of
its projected foreign exchange flows.
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Presentation of Financial Data

Lecta’s revenue consists of net sales of paper and sales
of energy (see the section Overview above). The core
activity of Lecta is to produce and sell paper. In this
context, Lecta operates cogeneration plants that burn
gas and produce electricity and steam. The production
of steam is internally consumed, while the production of
electricity can be internally consumed or sold to the grid.
For segmental reporting, the sale of electricity to the grid
is not considered as revenue but as reduction in energy
cost to produce paper.

Lecta’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with UK-adopted IFRSs.

Segment reporting
Lecta Group’s activity is analyzed through three lines of
products and services
– Coated Woodfree;
– Specialties;
– Purchased Products.

The following table compares sales and profit information
of the products and services for:
– The year 2021, with the year 2020; and
– The three-month period ended 31 December 2021, with
the same period of last year and the prior quarter.

Net Sales of Paper
Products & Services
(in EUR M)
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products
Total

31 Dec
2021

Products & Services

31 Dec
2021

541
505
151
1,197

31 Dec
2020
413
395
127
935

Change
absolute
%
+128
+31%
+110
+28%
+24
+19%
+261
+28%

Q4
2021
162
146
43
350

Q4
2020
107
94
36
237

31 Dec
2020

Change
absolute
+7
+26
+4
+37

Q4
2021

Q4
2020

Change
absolute
%
+55
+51%
+52
+55%
+7
+20%
+114
+48%

Q4
2021
162
146
43
350

Q3
2021
141
131
36
308

Change
absolute
%
+21
+15%
+15
+11%
+7
+19%
+43
+14%

Q4
2021
9
14
5
27

Q3
2021
(0)
8
2
9

Change
absolute
%
+9
nm
+6
+86%
+3
+185%
+19
+210%

Q4
2021
5.4%
9.7%
10.8%
7.8%

Q3
2021
-0.2%
5.8%
4.5%
2.9%

EBITDA
(in EUR M)
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products
Total

11
37
9
57

5
11
5
20

31 Dec
2021
2.1%
7.3%
6.0%
4.8%

31 Dec
2020
1.1%
2.7%
4.0%
2.2%

%
+149%
+248%
+78%
+183%

9
14
5
27

(5)
(0)
2
(3)

Change
absolute
%
+14
nm
+14
nm
+2
+103%
+31
nm

EBITDA Margin
Products & Services
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products
Total

Change
Percentage points
+1.0
+4.6
+2.0
+2.6

Q4
2021
5.4%
9.7%
10.8%
7.8%

Q4
2020
-5.0%
-0.2%
6.4%
-1.4%

Change
Percentage points
+10.4
+9.9
+4.4
+9.2

Change
Percentage points
+5.7
+3.9
+6.3
+5.0

Evolution of Net Sales of Paper, EBITDA, and EBITDA Margin:
Net Sales of Paper

EBITDA

(in EUR M)

(in EUR M)

400

34.0
350

350
300

(EBITDA Margin)

299

286
237

250
194

200

29.0

24.0

308

7.8%

8.1%

19.0

252

14.0

3.8%

4.1%

2.9%

9.0

205

1.2%

4.0
-1.0

150
Q1
2020

Q2
2020

Q3
2020

Q4
2020

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021
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-6.0
Q1
2020

Q2
2020

-1.5%
Q3
2020

-1.4%
Q4
2020

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021
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Breakdown of Net Sales of Paper and EBITDA by Product and Service:

Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products

Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products

Q4 2021
46%
42%
12%
100%

Net Sales of Paper
Q4 2020
45%
40%
15%
100%

Change
+1pp
+2pp
-3pp

Net Sales of Paper
Dec 2021 YTD
Dec 2020 YTD
45%
44%
42%
42%
13%
14%
100%
100%

Change
+1pp
-0pp
-1pp

EBITDA
Q4 2021
Q4 2020
Change
32%
165%
-133pp
51%
6%
+45pp
17%
-70%
+87pp
100%
100%
In Q4 2020, the EBITDA was negative.
EBITDA
Dec 2021 YTD Dec 2020 YTD Change
20%
22%
-3pp
64%
52%
+12pp
16%
25%
-9pp
100%
100%

Net Sales of Paper

SPEC
42%

CWF
44%

PP
16%

SPEC
64%

CWF
20%

PP
25%

CWF
22%

SPEC
52%

Dec 2020 YTD

PP
14%

Dec 2021 YTD

SPEC
42%

CWF
45%

Dec 2020 YTD

PP
13%

Dec 2021 YTD

CWF: Coated WoodFree
SPEC.: Specialities
PP: Purchased products

EBITDA

Release Liner
Linerset Glassine Y
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CWF
Net Sales of Paper

EBITDA

(in EUR M)

(in EUR M)

200
162

175

141

150
125

92

100

107

113

125

141

9.7%
5.4%

10
5

73

75

15

(EBITDA Margin)

1.7%

0.8%

0

50

-1.2%

-5

25
0

-0.2%
-3.2%

-5.0%

-10
Q1
2020

Q2
2020

Q3
2020

Q4
2020

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

In 4Q2021, the net sales of Coated Woodfree paper were €162
million vs €107 million in 4Q2020, an increase of €55 million or
+51%. The EBITDA of €9 million was higher than in 4Q2020

Q1
2020

Q2
2020

Q3
2020

Q4
2020

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

(€-5 million). This increase was essentially due to higher sales
prices and higher volumes. It was also due to higher margin
on variable costs, partly offset by higher fixed costs.

Specialties
Net Sales of Paper

EBITDA

(in EUR M)

(in EUR M)

160
140
120

146
123

121
96

100

83

94

131

105

80
60
40
20
0
Q1
2020

Q2
2020

Q3
2020

Q4
2020

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

In 4Q2021, the net sales of Specialties were €146 million vs
€94 million in 4Q2020, an increase of €52 million or +55%.
The EBITDA of €14 million was higher than in 4Q2020 (€-0.2

16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
-2

(EBITDA Margin)
9.7%

7.5%

6.7%

6.8%

5.8%

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

3.0%

Q1
2020

Q2
2020

-1.4%
Q3
2020

-0.2%
Q4
2020

Q1
2021

Q4
2021

million). This increase was essentially due to higher volumes.
It was also due to higher sales prices, higher margin in
variable costs, partly offset by higher fixed costs.

Purchased products
Net Sales of Paper

EBITDA

(in EUR M)
55
50
45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

(in EUR M)

37

36
25

Q1
2020

Q2
2020

30

Q3
2020

Q4
2020

34

Q1
2021

38

Q2
2021

43
36

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

In 4Q2021, the net sales of Purchased products were €43
million vs €36 million in 4Q2020, an increase of €7 million or
+20%. The EBITDA of €5 million was higher than 4Q2020
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5.0
4.5
4.0
3.5
3.0
2.5
2.0
1.5
1.0
0.5
0.0

(EBITDA Margin)
10.8%

6.1%

6.4%

4.5%

3.7%

3.5%

1.5%

1.5%
Q1
2020

Q2
2020

Q3
2020

Q4
2020

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

(€2 million). This increase was due to an increase in volumes
and higher sales price, higher margin on variable costs, and
stable fixed costs.
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Three Months Ended 31 December 2021 Compared to Three Months Ended 31 December 2020
The following table sets forth Lecta’s income statement line
items in absolute numbers, as a percentage of revenue for

the quarters ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020 and in the percentage change quarter over quarter:
Three months ended 31 December
2021

(in millions of euro, except percentages)

Volume sold (in thousands of metric tonnes)
Revenue
Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
Raw materials and consumables used
Labor costs
Other operating costs except one-off costs
EBITDA
Depreciation
Amortization
Goodwill impairement
Recapitalization fees & costs
Other one-off costs
Profit from operations
Finance income (expense)
Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations
Income tax
Profit (loss) after tax from continuing operations
Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations
Profit (loss) after tax

%

(unaudited)

320.8
416.0
7.0
(190.5)
(47.8)
(157.3)
27.5
(12.8)
(0.0)
0.0
(0.5)
(4.9)
9.3
(13.6)
(4.3)
(2.0)
(6.3)
0.0
(6.3)

2020

%

Change

% change

(unaudited)

100.0
1.7
(45.8)
(11.5)
(37.8)
6.6
(3.1)
(0.0)
0.0
(0.1)
(1.2)
2.2
(3.3)
(1.0)
(0.5)
(1.5)
0.0
(1.5)

243.0
249.0
(26.0)
(109.5)
(41.7)
(75.0)
(3.2)
(13.3)
(0.0)
0.0
(0.7)
(8.0)
(25.2)
(10.1)
(35.3)
12.5
(22.8)
0.0
(22.8)

100.0
(10.5)
(44.0)
(16.7)
(30.1)
(1.3)
(5.3)
(0.0)
0.0
(0.3)
(3.2)
(10.1)
(4.0)
(14.2)
5.0
(9.1)
0.0
(9.1)

+77.8
+167.1
+33.0
-81.0
-6.1
-82.2
+30.7
+0.5
+0.0
+0.0
+0.1
+3.1
+34.5
-3.6
+31.0
-14.6
+16.4
+0.0
+16.4

+32.0%
+67.1%
-126.8%
+74.0%
+14.6%
+109.5%
-4.1%
-100.0%
-22.3%
-38.8%
-136.8%
+35.3%
-87.8%
-116.2%
-72.2%
-72.2%

Revenue

Raw Materials and Consumables Used

For the fourth quarter ended 31 December 2021, Lecta
earned revenue of €416.0 million versus €249.0 million
in the fourth quarter ended 31 December 2020, which
represents an increase of €167.1 million or 67%. This
increase was primarily attributable to:

The costs of raw materials and consumables used
increased by €81.0 million, or 74%, from €109.5 million in
4Q2020 to €190.5 million in 4Q2021, and as a percentage
of revenue, these costs increased from 44% in 4Q2020
to 46% in 4Q2021. The absolute increase was mainly
attributable to higher purchased volumes, higher volume of
production, an increase in the average consumption price
of pulp of 189€/t, and an increase in chemical prices.

• Higher sales of CWF paper, Specialties and Purchased
Products of €113.7 million or +48%, from €236.6 million
in 4Q2020 to €350.3 million in 4Q2021, resulting from
higher sales volumes of 77,800 metric tonnes or +32%,
with 320,800 metric tonnes in 4Q2021 vs 243,000
metric tonnes in 4Q2020, and an increase in average
net sales price of 118€/t or +12.1%, with 1,092€/t in
4Q2021 vs 974€/t in 4Q2020; and
• Higher sales of energy of €53 million or +432%, from
€12.3 million in 4Q2020 to €65.7 million in 4Q2021,
resulting from higher sales volumes of 72,100 MWh or
+32%, with 299,300 MWh in 4Q2021 vs 227,200 MWh
in 4Q2020, and an increase in average net sales price of
165€/MWh or +304%, with 220€/MWh in 4Q2021 vs
54€/MWh in 4Q2020.
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Labor Costs
Labor costs increased by €6.1 million, or 15%, from €41.7
million in 4Q2020 to €47.8 million in 4Q2021, and as a
percentage of revenue they decreased from 16.7% in
4Q2020 to 11.5% in 4Q2021.
The headcount increased slightly by 19 heads, from 2,971
employees in 4Q2020 to 2,990 employees in 4Q2021,
despite the strong increase in volumes.
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Self-Adhesive
Adestor Meltavac
Bright Silver

Other Operating Costs except One-Off Costs

One-Off Costs

Other operating costs except one-off costs increased by
€82.2 million, or 110%, from €75.0 million in 4Q2020 to
€157.3 million in 4Q2021, and as a percentage of revenue
these costs increased from 30.1% in 4Q2020 to 37.8%
in 4Q2021. The absolute increase was primarily due to
higher costs of energy, packaging materials, outsourcing,
distribution, selling variable, maintenance, production
consumables, and overheads.

In 4Q2021, Lecta recorded one-off costs of €(5.4)
million, including €(3.2) million of organization efficiency
program and €(0.5) million of fees & costs in relation
with the Recapitalization of the Group (see the section
Recapitalization – Main steps below). In 4Q2020, Lecta
recorded one-off costs of €(8.7) million, including €(6.4)
million of organization efficiency program expense
and €(0.7) million of fees & costs in relation with the
Recapitalization of the Group.

EBITDA
EBITDA increased by €30.7 million, from €-3.2 million in
4Q2020 to €27.5 million in 4Q2021. This increase was the
result of higher sales of paper in volume, and in sales
prices, higher margin on variable costs, partly offset by
higher fixed costs.

Depreciation and Amortization

Finance Costs
Finance costs increased by €3.6 million or 35%, from
€10.1 million in 4Q2020 to €13.6 million in 4Q2021.

Income Tax
Lecta recorded an income tax charge of €2.0 million in
4Q2021 and an income tax profit €12.5 million in 4Q2020.

Depreciation and amortization decreased by €0.5 million,
or 4%, from €13.3 million in 4Q2020 to €12.8 million in
4Q2021
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Twelve Months Ended 31 December 2021
Compared to Twelve Months Ended 31
December 2020
The following table sets forth Lecta’s income statement
line items in absolute numbers, as a percentage of
revenue for the twelve Months ended 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020 and in the percentage change
period over period:

Year Ended 31 December
2021

(in millions of euro, except percentages)

Volume sold (in thousands of metric tonnes)
Revenue
Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
Raw materials and consumables used
Labor costs
Other operating costs except one-off costs
EBITDA
Depreciation
Amortization
Goodwill impairement
Recapitalization fees & costs
Other one-off costs
Profit from operations
Finance income (expense)
Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations
Income tax
Profit (loss) after tax from continuing operations
Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations
Profit (loss) after tax

%

(audited)

1,184.3
1,339.9
16.4
(656.2)
(178.6)
(464.1)
57.4
(52.4)
(0.1)
0.0
(1.0)
(10.0)
(6.1)
(45.1)
(51.2)
(4.8)
(56.0)
0.0
(56.0)

2020

%

Change

% change

(audited)

100.0
1.2
(49.0)
(13.3)
(34.6)
4.3
(3.9)
(0.0)
0.0
(0.1)
(0.7)
(0.5)
(3.4)
(3.8)
(0.4)
(4.2)
0.0
(4.2)

937.8
983.1
(25.1)
(474.3)
(162.8)
(300.6)
20.3
(54.7)
(0.2)
(118.3)
(42.3)
(10.4)
(205.6)
375.5
170.0
(4.0)
165.9
0.0
165.9

100.0
(2.6)
(48.2)
(16.6)
(30.6)
2.1
(5.6)
(0.0)
(12.0)
(4.3)
(1.1)
(20.9)
38.2
17.3
(0.4)
16.9
0.0
16.9

+246.5
+356.7
+41.5
-181.9
-15.8
-163.5
+37.2
+2.3
+0.0
+118.3
+41.3
+0.5
+199.5
-420.6
-221.1
-0.8
-221.9
+0.0
-221.9

+26.3%
+36.3%
-165.4%
+38.3%
+9.7%
+54.4%
+183.1%
-4.2%
-25.2%
-100.0%
-97.5%
-4.4%
-97.0%
-112.0%
-130.1%
+20.2%
-133.7%
-133.7%

Adjustment in Energy*

Revenue

In June and July 2020, the Spanish Authorities published
a new Royal Decree (23/2020) and some information
about the computation of Ro (“Retribución a la
operación”) used to determine the remuneration for the
sale of electricity to the grid since 4Q2018. This translated
in the booking of an adjustment in energy of €(1.1) million
reported as “Other operating costs except one-off costs”
in the twelve months ended 31 December 2020.

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, Lecta
earned revenue of €1,339.9 million versus €983.1 million
in the twelve months ended 31 December 2020, an
increase of €356.7 million or 36%. This increase was
essentially attributable to:
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• Higher sales of CWF paper, Specialties and Purchased
Products of €261.4 million or 28%, from €934.8 million
in twelve months ended 31 December 2020 to €1,196.3
million in twelve months ended 31 December 2021,
resulting from higher sales volumes of 246,500 metric
tonnes or 26%, with 1,184,300 metric tonnes in twelve
months ended 31 December 2021 vs 937,800 metric
tonnes in twelve months ended 31 December 2020,
and an increase in average net sales price of 13€/t
or 1.3%, with 1,010€/t in twelve months ended 31
December 2021 vs 997€/t in twelve months ended 31
December 2020; and
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Release Liner
Linerset CCK

decreased from 16.6% in twelve months ended 31
December 2020 to 13.6% in twelve months ended 31
December 2021.
In light of the lower level of activity imposed by
COVID-19, Governments in Spain, France and Italy
offered measures aimed at mitigating the economic
consequences of temporary shutdowns. The resulting
saving in labor cost for short-time working amounted to
€9.3 million in 2020 and €1.3 million in 2021.
In 1Q2020, Lecta also benefitted from a non-recurrent
€1.6 million labor cost reduction in relation with the lower
level of activity.

• Higher sales of energy of €95.3 million or 197%, from
€48.3 million in twelve months ended 31 December 2020
to €143.6 million in twelve months ended 31 December
2021, resulting from higher sales volumes of 194,200
MWh or 21%, with 1,122,600 MWh in twelve months
ended 31 December 2021 vs 928,400 MWh in twelve
months ended 31 December 2020, and an increase in
average net sales price of 76€/MWh or 146%, with 128€/
MWh in twelve months ended 31 December 2021 vs
52€/MWh in twelve months ended 31 December 2020.

Raw Materials and Consumables Used
The costs of raw materials and consumables used
increased by €181.9 million or 38.3% from €474.3.4
million in twelve months ended 31 December 2020 to
€656.2 million in twelve months ended 31 December
2021 and as a percentage of revenue they increased
from 48.2% in twelve months ended 31 December
2020 to 49.0% in twelve months ended 31 December
2021. The absolute increase was mainly attributable to
higher purchased volumes, higher volume of production,
an increase in the average consumption price of pulp of
141€/t, and an increase in chemicals prices.

Labor Costs
Labor costs increased by €15.8 million, or 9.7%, from
€162.8 million in twelve months ended 31 December
2020 to €178.6 million in the twelve months ended 31
December 2021, and as a percentage of revenue they
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The headcount decreased by 46 heads, from 3,033
employees in twelve months ended 31 December
2020 to 2,987 employees in twelve months ended 31
December 2021, despite the strong increase in volumes..

Other Operating Costs except One-Off
Costs
Other operating costs except one-off costs increased
by €163.5 million, or 54%, from €300.6 million in the
twelve months ended 31 December 2020 to €464.1
million in the twelve months ended 31 December 2021.
As a percentage of revenue, these costs increased from
30.6% in the twelve months ended 31 December 2020 to
34.6% in the twelve months ended 31 December 2021.
The absolute increase was primarily due to higher costs
of energy, packaging materials, outsourcing, distribution,
selling variable, maintenance, production consumables,
and overheads.
In 1Q2020, Lecta benefitted from a non-recurrent €1.8
million other operating costs reduction in relation to the
lower level of activity.

EBITDA
EBITDA increased by €37.2 million, or 183%, from €20.3
million in twelve months ended 31 December 2020 to
€57.4 million in twelve months ended 31 December 2021.
This increase was the result of higher sales of paper in
volume, and in sales prices, higher margin on variable
costs, partly offset by higher fixed costs.
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Depreciation and Amortization

Finance Costs

Depreciation and amortization decreased by €2.4 million,
or 4%, from €54.9 million in the twelve months ended
31 December 2020 to €52.5 million in the twelve months
ended 31 December 2021.

In the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, Lecta
reported finance costs of €(45.1) million.

One-Off Costs
In the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, Lecta
recorded one-off costs of €(11.0) million, including €(6.2)
million of Organization efficiency program, €(1.0) million
of fees & costs in relation to the Recapitalization of the
Group (see the section Recapitalization – Main steps
below).
In the twelve months ended 31 December 2020, Lecta
recorded one-off costs of €(171.0) million, including
€(8.4) million of Organization efficiency program, €(42.3)
million of fees & costs in relation to the Recapitalization
of the Group (see the section Recapitalization – Main
steps below), and €(118.3) million due to the impairment
of goodwill. The latter is a consequence of the revision
of the Business Plan as at 31 March 2020, to consider
COVID-19 pandemic resulting in lower sales volume and
margin on variable costs.

In the twelve months ended 31 December 2020, Lecta
reported a net finance income of €375.5 million. It
consisted of €423.2 million of income in relation to
the 2016 Floating and Fixed rate notes capitalized on 4
February 2020 and the cancellation in full of the Junior
notes on 16 July 2020, €(9.9) million of finance cost
in relation with the 2016 Floating and Fixed rate notes
accrued until 4 Feb 2020 (see the section Recapitalization
– Main steps below) and €(37.8) million of other finance
costs.

Income Tax
In the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, Lecta
reported an income tax charge of €(4.8) million.
In the twelve months ended 31 December 2020, Lecta
reported an income tax charge of €(4.0) million. It
included €(13.1) million of derecognized deferred tax
asset on losses to be carried forward following the
revision of the Business Plan at 31 March 2020.

Research & Development
Research and development increased from €4.0 million
in the twelve months ended 31 December 2020 to €5.1
million in the twelve months ended 31 December 2021.
These costs were expensed as incurred.
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Liquidity and Capital
Resources

Liquidity
Lecta’s primary sources of liquidity are cash from
operating activities, the RCF credit line, and the
assignment of trade receivables.

Recapitalization – Main steps
On 1 November 2019, Lecta SA announced that a
majority of the holders of its Notes issued in 2016
(“Noteholders” and “2016 Notes”), holders of the
majority of the debt under its RCF, and the Group
had executed a Lock-Up Agreement (“LUA”). Those
parties agreed to support the implementation
of a comprehensive recapitalization transaction
(“Recapitalization”) aiming at materially deleverage the
Group’s balance sheet and enhance its liquidity position
to allow it to continue its transformation into a specialty
paper company, to be controlled by the Noteholders
following the completion of the Recapitalization.
On 27 November 2019, Lecta SA announced that it
had received consents to the LUA from (i) 83% of the
aggregate outstanding principal amount under the 2016
Notes and (ii) 69% of the outstanding principal amount
under the RCF. These consents exceeded the thresholds
required under the LUA. Accordingly, Lecta SA had
to seek to effect the Recapitalization via an English
scheme of arrangement relating to the 2016 Notes (the
“Scheme”) once certain other conditions to launch the
Scheme had been achieved.

On 23 January 2020, the meeting was held, and the
required majority of the Scheme Creditors approved the
Scheme.
On 28 January 2020, the UK Court sanctioned the
proposed Scheme, and an order was delivered to the
registrar of companies on 30 January 2020.
On 4 February 2020, the Recapitalization was
implemented via the transfer of Sub Lecta SA to be
indirectly held by Lecta Ltd - a newly incorporated UK
company and new parent company of the Group - and
the exchange of 2016 Notes to new longer dated debt
instruments and equity. The Recapitalization resulted in
an improved capital structure for the Lecta Ltd Group.
In addition, Lecta Ltd Group announced that it had
entered into an agreement with NatWest Markets Plc to
provide €115 million super senior facilities (“New SSF”)
– consisting of a super senior €60 million term loan and
a super senior €55 million RCF – to refinance and replace
the existing €65 million super senior RCF.
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On 5 December 2019, Lecta SA announced that it had
received over 92% consent to the Recapitalization
from the Noteholders. In addition, it announced that
conditions to launch the Scheme via the issuance of a
Practice Statement Letter (“PSL”) were satisfied. The
PSL - a copy was available at www.lucid-is.com/lecta,
and via Euroclear Bank SA/NV and/or Clearstream Bank
SA, and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange - enabled the
Noteholders to consider the issues to be put before a UK
Court at a convening hearing.
By an order dated 19 December 2019, the UK Court had
directed that a meeting of the company and the Scheme
Creditors had to be convened on or about 23 January
2020 for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit,
approving the Scheme proposed.
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Following the Recapitalization, Lecta Ltd Group benefitted
from:
• A delevered capital structure reflecting the conversion
of €600 million of 2016 Notes into new debt and equity
instruments and the payment of a consent fee to
eligible holders of the 2016 Notes in connection with
the Recapitalization, consisting of:
– €200 million* senior secured notes due 2025, bearing
an interest rate of 3-month Euribor (with a floor at
0%) + 6.000%
– €100 million junior notes due 2028, bearing an
interest rate of 3-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%) +
0.25% cash + 7.000% PIK (annual capitalization); and
– 100% of the equity in Lecta Ltd
• Materially lower annual cash interest burden (reduction
in excess of €20 million)
• Longer-dated maturities which provided the Lecta
Group with increased runway to complete its ongoing
transformation effort
• Significant incremental liquidity through (i) new /
upsized receivables financing arrangements and (ii)
incremental borrowing capacity under the SSF; and
• A new shareholder base featuring institutions with
extensive experience investing in the sector.
In addition, different measures of support of the Group’s
operations in France from the French authorities were
confirmed shortly after the implementation of the
Recapitalization.

As at 31 December 2019 and until the Recapitalization
implemented on 4 February 2020, Lecta SA was the
parent company of the Group. Since the Recapitalization,
Lecta Ltd is the new parent company of the Group, and
Lecta SA is no longer part of the Group.
While this Recapitalization resulted in a significant
deleveraging and the simultaneous provision of new
liquidity, the Group was impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic and tighter working capital terms. In this
context, the Group applied extensive operational actions
to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 and preserve liquidity.
In parallel, Lecta Ltd has been in discussions with its
existing security holders and relationship banks.
On 16 July 2020, Lecta Ltd and its subsidiaries completed
the second portion of the Recapitalization of the Group’s
balance sheet, which included:
• A cash capital increase of €50 million
• he issuance of €55.5 million* new Senior Secured
Notes due 2025 with an OID of 10%
Note: 55,555,555 warrants were granted for free to
the new senior note holders, giving them the right to
subscribe up to 225,000,000 new Lecta Ltd shares at a
subscription price of 0.01€ per new share for the period
commencing on 16 July 2021 and ending on 16 July 2025
• The implementation of €50.4 million ICO loans
guaranteed by the Spanish State
• The cancellation in full of €100 million Junior Notes
issued in February 2020

* The notes issued in 2020 are listed on the Official List of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and traded on the Euro MTF market.
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The Recapitalization allows the Group to not only
overcome the challenges presented by the COVID-19
pandemic, but also to continue its transformation and
emerge with a solid liquidity position and healthy balance
sheet. The following chart outlines the corporate and
financing structure of the Lecta Ltd Group after giving
effect to the Recapitalization:

In addition, the Group obtained from its banks the
replacement of short term uncommitted confirming
lines with €40 million long dated committed ones,
which provide additional stability to working capital
management, and the removal of the €115 million SSFA
covenants during the first 24 months.
Following this second portion of the Recapitalization,
more than 75% of Lecta Ltd share capital is held by funds
managed and advised by Apollo Global Management,
Cheyne Capital, and Tikehau Capital.

Lecta Ltd
(UK)

Paper Industries Financing Sàrl
(Luxembourg)
Paper Industries Intermediate
Financing Sàrl
(Luxembourg)

€255.5m New
Senior Secured
Notes

Paper Industries Holding Sàrl
(Luxembourg)
€75m New Super
Senior Term Loan
€40m New Super
Senior RCF

Sub Lecta SA
(Luxembourg)

Torraspapel SA
(Spain)

Condat SA
(France)

Cartiere del Garda
SpA
(Italy)
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Functional Papers
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Recapitalization - Accounting treatment
IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations
Before 23 January 2020, with the positive vote of
the Scheme Creditors, and before the sanction of the
Scheme by the UK Court on 28 January 2020, it was not
highly probable that the Recapitalization project would
become effective.
Moreover, because of the pledge on Sub Lecta SA
shares granted by Lecta SA to the 2016 Noteholders and
RCF lenders, effective on 31 December 2019,
Lecta SA was not able to sell its participation in
Sub Lecta SA. This pledge was released only on 4
February 2020. Consequently, before 4 February 2020,
the assets (or disposal group) were not available for
immediate sale because of the pledge.

– The new equity instruments, not quoted, had to be
recognized by difference to reflect the fair value of
the financial liability extinguished (€300 million - €300
million = €0 million);
– The difference between the carrying amount of the
old debt (€600 million principal + €20 million accrued
interests = €620 million) on one hand, the new debt
and the new equity instruments (€300 million + €0
million = €300 million) on the other hand, i.e. a gain of
€320 million, was reported as “financial income” in the
Income statement;
– The fees & costs incurred in the Recapitalization had to
be expensed and were reported as “recapitalization fees
& costs” in the Income statement;
– The remaining fees & costs included in the former
financial debt, amounting to €6.2 million, also had to be
expensed and were reported as “financial expense” in
the Income statement on 4 February 2020.

As a conclusion, IFRS 5 criteria were not met at 2019
year-end: at that date, the disposal was not highly
probable and the assets were not available for immediate
sale due to the pledge on Sub Lecta SA shares.

* The notes issued in 2016 and 2020 were and are listed on the
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and traded on
the Euro MTF market.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments / fees & costs in relation
with the Recapitalization

Cash

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments
The transaction was viewed as an exchange of old debt
against two different instruments, a new debt and new
equity instruments.
After analysis, it was concluded that on or around the
Recapitalization date:
– The old debt was quoted on an active market for around
50% of its principal amount (€600 million x 50% = €300
million);
– The new debt was quoted on an active market* for
around 100% of its principal amount (€300 million);
hence, the new debt had to be recognized for its
principal amount (€300 million);
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At 31 December 2021, Lecta had €138.7 million of cash
and cash equivalents.

Capital Resources
Lecta’s total capital resources amounted to €214.1 million
in Total equity and €410.5 million in Non-current interestbearing borrowings as at 31 December 2021, compared
to €269.4 million in Total equity and €398.9 million in Noncurrent interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December
2020. In addition, Current interest-bearing borrowings
amounted to €22.6 million as at 31 December 2021,
compared €56.6 million as at 31 December 2020.
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Cash Flow

Three Months ended 31 December 2021
Compared to Three Months ended
31 December 2020

Lecta’s cash flows for the three months ended
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020
were as follows:

Three months ended 31 December
2021
2020
Change
(unaudited)

(unaudited)

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
EBITDA
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Trade payables
Working capital
Provisions increase (decrease)
Other intangible assets - CO 2 emission rights decrease (increase)
Share based payment arrangement
Recapitalization fees & costs
Other one-off costs
Income tax paid
Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations
Net cash flow (used in) / from operating activities

27.5
(7.4)
(8.2)
2.3
32.4
19.1
16.9
(5.0)
1.4
(0.1)
(6.8)
(0.3)
0.0
52.7

(3.2)
39.7
1.6
0.9
7.9
50.1
3.8
(0.8)
0.0
(0.6)
(7.1)
(0.8)
0.0
41.4

+30.7
-47.2
-9.8
+1.4
+24.5
-31.0
+13.1
-4.2
+1.4
+0.5
+0.4
+0.4
+0.0
+11.3

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Receipt of grants
Purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash sold
Purchase of other assets
Proceeds from disposal of other assets
Dividends from associates
Dividends received from available-for-sale financial investments
Net cash flow (used in) / from investing activities

(14.8)
0.0
(0.4)
0.0
(0.3)
0.3
0.0
0.0
0.0
(15.2)

(13.4)
0.0
(1.0)
(0.0)
0.0
(2.8)
(0.0)
0.0
0.0
(17.3)

-1.4
-0.0
+0.7
+0.0
-0.3
+3.1
+0.0
+0.0
+0.0
+2.0

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest
Share capital increase (redemption)
Interest paid
Issue costs of borrowings
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Loans repaid (granted)
Payments of finance lease liabilities
Net cash flow (used in) / from financing activities

0.0
0.2
(11.0)
(1.8)
3.9
(13.1)
0.0
(0.8)
(22.6)

(1.2)
0.0
(9.8)
(0.0)
18.1
(10.0)
0.0
(1.1)
(3.9)

+1.2
+0.2
-1.2
-1.8
-14.2
-3.1
+0.0
+0.2
-18.6

15.0
0.0
110.2
125.2
138.6
(13.5)

20.2
(0.1)
136.4
156.5
177.0
(20.5)

-5.2
+0.1
-26.2
-31.4
-38.4
+7.0

(in millions of euro)

Net increase (decrease) in Cash & Cash equivalents net of banks overdrafts
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash & cash equivalents net of Bank overdrafts at 1 October
Cash & cash equivalents net of Bank overdrafts at period end
Of which cash and cash equivalents
Of which bank overdrafts

Lecta Ltd FY2021 Annual Report | Directors’ Report

35

CASH FLOW

During the three months ended 31 December 2021,
Lecta’s cash and cash equivalents increased by €16.2
million or +13%, from €122.5 million at 1 October 2021 to
€138.6 million at 31 December 2021. The principal uses of
cash during the three months ended 31 December 2021
were for CO2 emission rights of €(5.0) million, Other oneoff costs of €(6.8) million, Purchase of property plant and
equipment of €(14.8) million, Interest payments of €(11.0)
million, and Repayment of borrowings of €(13.1) million.

During the three months ended 31 December 2021, the
cash flows from operating activities were €52.7 million,
€11.3 million more than €41.4 million of cash flows from
operating activities during the three months ended 31
December 2020. The principal sources and uses of cash
in operating activities were from:

During the three months ended 31 December 2021,
the cash flows used in investing activities were €(15.2)
million, €2.0 million less than €(17.3) million of cash flows
used in investing activities during the three months
ended 31 December 2020. The principal uses and
sources of cash in investing activities were from:
• Purchase of property, plant and equipment of €(14.8)
million;
• Receipt of grant of €(0.4) million, part of it in relation
with the White certificates in order to neutralize the
profit booked in “Other operating costs except one-off
costs” above EBITDA, as the cash was not collected as
at 31 December 2021;
• Disposal of subsidiary net of cash sold of €(0.3) million
due to the liquidation of Sub Lecta SA.

• EBITDA of €27.5 million;
• Decrease in Working capital of €19.1 million due to
increases in inventories (impact of €(7.4) million), in
trade receivables (impact of €(8.2) million), decrease in
prepayments (impact of €2.3 million), and an increase in
trade payables (impact of €32.4 million);

During the three months ended 31 December 2021,
the cash flows used in financing activities were €(22.6)
million, €18.6 million more than €(3.9) million of cash
flows used in financing activities during the three months
ended 31 December 2020. The principal uses and
sources of cash in financing activities were from:

• Increase in Provisions (impact of €+16.9 million);
• CO2 emission rights of €(5.0) million consisting in
anticipated purchases of CO2 emission rights, reported
in “Other intangible assets”;
• Share based payment arrangement of €1.4 million in
order to neutralize the charge booked in “Labor costs”
above EBITDA, as this is a non-cash item (see the
section Remuneration below);
• Recapitalization fees & costs of €(0.1) million in relation
with the Recapitalization of the Group (see the section
Recapitalization – Main steps above);
• Other one-off costs of €(6.8) million mainly in relation
with the Organization efficiency program and Condat’s
line 8 conversion to produce Specialties;

• Share capital increase of €0.2 million, due to the
conversion of warrants;
• Interest paid of €(11.0) million;
• Issue costs of borrowings of €(1.8) million in relation
with the extension of the maturity of the €115 million
SSFA line;
• Repayment of borrowings net of proceeds from
borrowings of €(9.2) million, benefitting from an
increase of €15.3 million in assignment of trade
receivables;
• Payments of finance lease liabilities of €(0.8) million.

• Income tax payments of €(0.3) million.
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Twelve Months ended 31 December 2021
Compared to Twelve Months ended
31 December 2020

Lecta’s cash flows for the Twelve Months ended
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020
were as follows:

2021

Year ended 31 December
2020
Change

(audited)

(audited)

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
EBITDA
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Trade payables
Working capital
Provisions increase (decrease)
Other intangible assets - CO 2 emission rights decrease (increase)
Share based payment arrangement
Recapitalization fees & costs
Other one-off costs
Income tax paid
Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations
Net cash flow (used in) / from operating activities

57.4
(38.2)
(15.2)
(0.2)
137.8
84.1
28.8
(27.6)
1.4
(1.1)
(17.2)
(1.0)
0.0
124.9

20.3
30.3
52.2
(0.7)
(87.8)
(6.0)
2.3
(0.3)
0.0
(46.3)
(3.4)
1.3
0.0
(32.1)

+37.2
-68.5
-67.4
+0.4
+225.5
+90.1
+26.5
-27.4
+1.4
+45.3
-13.8
-2.3
+0.0
+157.0

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Receipt of grants
Purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash sold
Purchase of other assets
Proceeds from disposal of other assets
Dividends from associates
Dividends received from available-for-sale financial investments
Net cash flow (used in) / from investing activities

(85.5)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(0.5)
(3.5)
0.1
0.0
0.0
(89.4)

(47.5)
0.0
(0.3)
(3.0)
(0.7)
(2.8)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(54.3)

-38.0
-0.0
+0.3
+3.0
+0.3
-0.7
+0.1
+0.0
+0.0
-35.0

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest
Share capital increase (redemption)
Interest paid
Issue costs of borrowings
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Loans repaid (granted)
Payments of finance lease liabilities
Net cash flow (used in) / from financing activities

(1.3)
0.2
(41.5)
(1.8)
56.8
(75.5)
0.0
(4.2)
(67.4)

(1.2)
59.9
(32.8)
(5.6)
550.2
(390.1)
0.0
(4.3)
176.1

-0.1
-59.8
-8.7
+3.7
-493.4
+314.7
+0.0
+0.1
-243.5

(31.6)
0.3
156.5
125.2
138.6
(13.5)

89.6
(0.1)
67.0
156.5
177.0
(20.5)

-121.3
+0.4
+89.5
-31.4
-38.4
+7.0

(in millions of euro)

Net increase (decrease) in Cash & Cash equivalents net of banks overdrafts
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash & cash equivalents net of Bank overdrafts at 1 January
Cash & cash equivalents net of Bank overdrafts at period end
Of which cash and cash equivalents
Of which bank overdrafts
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During the twelve months ended 31 December 2021,
Lecta’s cash and cash equivalents decreased by €38.4
million or -22%, from €177.0 million at 1 January 2021 to
€138.6 million at 31 December 2021. The principal uses of
cash during the twelve months ended 31 December 2021
were for CO2 emission rights of €(27,6) million, Other oneoff costs of €(17.2) million, Purchase of property plant and
equipment of €(85.5) million, Interest payments of €(41.5)
million, and repayment of borrowings of €(75.5) million.

• Share based payment arrangement of €1.4 million in
order to neutralize the charge booked in “Labor costs”
above EBITDA, as this is a non-cash item (see the
section Remuneration below);
• Recapitalization fees & costs of €(1.1) million in relation
with the Recapitalization of the Group (see the section
Recapitalization – Main steps above);
• Other on-off costs of €(17.2) million, mainly in relation
with the Organization efficiency program and Condat’s
line 8 conversion to produce Specialties;

During the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, the
cash flows from operating activities were €124.9 million,
€157.0 million more than €(32.1) million of cash flows used
in operating activities during the twelve months ended 31
December 2020. The principal sources and uses of cash in
operating activities were from:
• EBITDA of €+57.4 million;
• Decrease in Working capital of €84.1 million due to
increases in inventories (impact of €(38.2) million),
in trade receivables (impact of € (15.2) million), in
prepayments (impact €(0.2)million), and in trade payables
(impact € 137.8 million);
• Increase in Provisions (impact of €+28.8 million);
• CO2 gas emission rights of €(27.6) million, consisting in
anticipated purchases of CO2 emission rights, reported in
“Other intangible assets”;
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• Income tax paid of €(1.0) million.

During the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, the
cash flows used in investing activities were €(89.4) million,
€(35.0) million more than €(54.3) million of cash flows used
in investing activities during the twelve months ended 31
December 2020. The principal uses and sources of cash in
investing activities were from:
• Purchase of property, plant and equipment of €(85.5)
million;
• Disposal of subsidiary net of cash sold of €(0.5) million
due to the disposal of Plot Services SrL, and the
liquidation of Sub Lecta SA;
• Purchase of other assets of €(3.5) million in relation
with the assets purchased from Avery Dennison (see
the section Assets Purchase Agreement with Avery
Dennison below).
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During the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, the
cash flows used in financing activities were €67.4 million,
€(243.5) million more than €176.1 million of cash flows
from financing activities during the twelve months ended
31 December 2020. The principal uses and sources of
cash in financing activities were from:
• Dividends paid to non-controlling interest of €(1.3) million;
• Share capital increase of €0.2 million, due to the
conversion of warrants;
• Interest paid of €(41.5) million;
• Issue costs of borrowings of €(1.8) million in relation with
the extension of the maturity of the €115 million SSFA
line;
• Repayment of borrowings net of Proceeds from
borrowings of €(18.7) million, benefitting from an
increase of €28.1 million in assignment of trade
receivables;
• Payments of finance lease liabilities of €(4.2) million.
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Projects and Plans

Capital Expenditures and Investments
In the three months ended 31 December 2021, capital
expenditure amounted to €15.0 million, i.e. €5.7 million
for cost reduction and productivity improvement, €2.6
million for maintenance, €1.2 million for information
technology, €0.7 million for environment and safety, and
an decrease of €4.8 million in capital payables.
In the twelve months ended 31 December 2021, capital
expenditure amounted to €85.9 million, i.e. €54.5 million
for cost reduction and productivity improvement, €17.2
million for maintenance, €3.0 million for information
technology, €3.4 million for environment and safety, and
an decrease of €7.8 million in capital payables.

Assets Purchase Agreement with Avery
Dennison
On 13 October 2020, Lecta announced that it had
reached an agreement for the acquisition of Avery
Dennison Offset Sheets business in the Europe - Middle
East - North Africa (EMENA) region. The German Federal
Cartel Office approved the transaction. Lecta took over
the manufacture and sale of Avery Dennison’s portfolio
of FASSON® and JAC® branded self-adhesive papers
and films in EMENA. Lecta started manufacturing

these under a special limited licensing agreement
with Avery Dennison in the 1st Quarter 2021, keeping
the FASSON® and JAC® brands available through the
existing network of distributors. Lecta brings to current
Avery Dennison’s customers in the EMENA markets its
extensive knowledge in the manufacture of self-adhesive
materials with a strong specialization in sheets and
facestock materials, as well as its extensive experience in
commercial management and service to Distributors.
This acquisition is fully aligned with the Company’s
transformation process and its reorientation towards
the specialty markets. Lecta’s self-adhesive materials
production plant has received large investments in
recent years that place it in the state of the art in both
production technology and process automation, which
guarantees high quality standards for our customers.
Avery Dennison and Lecta are working together for a
very efficient transition process and a profitable business
development for all the groups involved.

Organization Efficiency Program
Refer to the section Cost-Savings Measures and
Efficiency of Operations above.

Coated Paper
Condat I Creator I
Garda
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes Lecta’s contractual
obligations and principal payments as of 31 December
2021 under debt instruments, capital and operating
leases and other agreements. The information presented

in the table below reflects the estimates of the
contractual maturities of obligations. These maturities
may differ significantly from the actual maturity of these
obligations.

Total
(in millions of euro)
RCF - Term Loan
Notes
Other debt
Debt on assigned receivables
Lease obligations
Bank overdrafts
Interest rate hedging
Other IFRS adjustments
Total debt

75.4
256.9
89.2
4.8
13.6
13.5
0.0
(6.9)
446.5

Less than More than
1 year
1 year
0.4
75.0
1.4
255.6
14.9
74.3
4.8
0.0
3.1
10.5
13.5
0.0
0.0
0.0
(2.0)
(4.9)
36.0
410.5

Total debt included in the above table include accrued interest or outstanding purchase obligations.
The outstanding purchase obligations are entered into in the normal course of business.

Employee Benefits
Lecta currently operates defined contribution pension
plans and defined benefit pension plans for its
employees.
The employee benefit provisions primarily comprise
obligations under the pension plans, death and disability
plans, staff leaving indemnities and long-term service
awards. The employee benefit provisions amounted to
€20.1 million as at 31 December 2021 vs €22.4 million as
at 31 December 2020.

Contingent Liabilities
Lecta is involved from time to time in legal proceedings
and other claims that arise in the normal course of
business. In the judgment of management, no losses,
in excess of provisions made or covered by insurance
programs, which would be material in relation to Lecta’s
financial position are likely to arise in respect of these
matters, although their occurrence may have a significant
effect on periodic results.

Challenge of 2010-2015 Green certificates
by GSE

14 July 2017 that the publicly owned company GSE
SpA (Gestore dei Servizi Energetici) was challenging
part of the Green certificates granted to it for the period
2010-2015. On 30 October 2017, GSE SpA claimed the
reimbursement of €5.2 million.
In December 2017, Alto Garda Power SrL presented a claim
against GSE petition in administrative Court of Rome.
GSE SpA agreed with Alto Garda Power SrL to postpone
the claimed reimbursement waiting for the decision of
the Court, and not to pay during this period a part of the
green certificates granted for the years 2016-2017 and
recognized in “Other receivables”.
In the meantime, Italian legislation aimed at the
green economy and renewable source has introduced
some changes to the sanctioning powers of the GSE,
allowing it to enter into settlement agreements in
wider circumstances than in the prior legislation (size
of possible reimbursements to be assessed according
to the extent of the breach detected). An implementing
legislation was expected to be adopted which should
clarify this simplification measure, but no new regulation
was implemented in 2021.
Alto Garda Power SrL is confident on the rightness of
its position and reserves its rights to defend its own
interests.

Alto Garda Power SrL, the Italian cogeneration plant of
Lecta, was informed in a preliminary statement dated
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Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements

Events after the Statement
of Financial Position Date

Lecta avails itself of certain off-balance sheet
arrangements like derecognition of receivables and
supply-chain finance. Most of these arrangements have
been in place for a long time, and Lecta has no reason to
believe that they will cease to be available in the future.

Changes in Lecta Ltd Board
Georges Gravanis was appointed non-executive director
of Lecta Ltd on 1 January 2022.
His background and broad experience in the pressure
sensitive businesses will be a valuable contribution to the
development of the Company.
His last position was President of Labels & Graphics
at Avery Dennison corporation, where he held several
management positions during his 17-year tenure.
Georges Gravanis has a doctorate degree in polymer
chemistry from Scientific University of Grenoble.
Eduardo Querol resigned from his position of executive
director on 23 February 2022, and became Vice Chairman
of the Group and Special Advisor to the Chairman.

Recycled
Recytal Matt
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EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

Gilles J. Van Nieuwenhuyzen was appointed CEO of Lecta
Group and executive director of Lecta Ltd on 1 March
2022, succeeding Eduardo Querol.
Gilles has a vast and diversified experience in different
industries such as chemicals (DSM), packaging (Rexam
and Stora Enso), food ingredients (Danisco and CSM),
and paper & board (Stora Enso). He has also served
several positions as independent advisor and top interim
executive.
He has proven all along his career a successful focus
on the same pillars which form the basis of Lecta’s
transformation today. He will drive with energy and
passion our path to profitable growth through innovation,
value selling and focused investment while developing
further our operational excellence initiatives.
His last position was Executive Vice President and
Head of the Packaging Solutions Division at Stora Enso,
responsible for containerboards and corrugated &
consumer packaging.
Gilles graduated from Delft University of Technology
(MSc) and Insead (MBA) and is a Dutch national.
Following these changes, the Board of Lecta Ltd is now
composed of seven Directors:
– Dermot F. Smurfit, Chairman and non-executive director
– Javier Abad, non-executive director
– Dominique Binet, non-executive director
– Marco Casiraghi, non-executive director
– Alain Gaudré, CFO and executive director
– Georges Gravanis, non-executive director
– Gilles J. Van Nieuwenhuyzen, CEO and executive director

Cancellation of Naturgy contract
On 7 January 2022, Torraspapel and its Spanish
subsidiaries received the termination notices of the
agreements from their common methane gas supplier
Naturgy.
These termination notices triggered the payment of a
compensation of €39 million cashed on 14 March 2022.
Lecta has implemented new supply agreements to allow
the operations of the mills.
The new conditions are unfavorable to Lecta due to the
current turmoil on the energy market. Lecta is proactively seeking selling price increases to compensate for
the increase in costs.

Military operations initiated by Russia
against the Ukraine
In February 2022, a number of countries (including the
US, UK and EU) imposed sanctions against certain
entities and individuals in Russia as a result of the
official recognition of the Donetsk People Republic and
Lugansk People Republic by the Russian Federation.
Announcements of potential additional sanctions have
been made following military operations initiated by
Russia against the Ukraine on 24 February 2022.
Due to the growing geopolitical tensions, since February
2022, there has been a significant increase in volatility on
the securities, currency, and energy markets, as well as
a significant depreciation of the Russian ruble against the
US dollar and the euro. It is expected that these events
may affect the activities of Russian enterprises in various
sectors of the economy.
The Company regards these events as non-adjusting
events after the reporting period.
Although neither the company’s performance and going
concern nor operations, at the date of this report, have
been significantly impacted by the above, Management
continue to monitor the evolving situation and its impact
on the financial position and results of the Company.
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Sensitivity Analysis

Lecta’s profitability is affected by
a number of variables. The table
below illustrates how a change in
selected factors (on the assumption
that other factors are neutral) related
to the business may affect Lecta’s
financial performance on an annual
basis.

Percentage
Change
Paper prices
Volumes
Currency:
USD against EUR (1)
GBP against EUR
Pulp prices
Energy costs

+/-1%
+/-1%
+/-1%
+/-1%
+/-1%
+/-1%

Estimated effect
on EBITDA
(in millions of euro)
+/-12.0
+/-2.8
-/+1.3
+/-0.6
-/+2.6
-/+0.6

(1) A one percent weakening of the US dollar against the euro, with all other
things being equal, would result in a €1.3 million increase in EBITDA. However,
the weakening of the US dollar against the euro tends to exert downward
pressure on euro paper prices and upward pressure on US dollar pulp prices that
may have an adverse effect on Lecta’s results of operations.

Wide Format
Creator Urban
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Financial Risk
Management

Customer Credit Risk
Lecta Group monitors strictly the customers’ credit
risks. Lecta’s ten largest customers of paper account for
circa 14% of sales of paper. Credit insurance covers a
large part of the trade receivables. Lecta’s customers of
energy are large multinational corporations.

(in EUR K)
Gross amount of Trade receivables
Impairment
Trade receivables as per Balance sheet
of which not past due
of which past due:
Amount covered by a credit insurance
Amount of recoverable VAT
Amount eligible to credit risk,
past due since less than one month
past due since more than one month but no later than three months
past due since more than three months but no later than one year
past due since more than one year but no later than five years
past due since more than five years

The line “Impairment” includes a bad debt provision of
€9.0 million as at 31 December 2021 (€9.0 million as
at 31 December 2020) already booked at the time of
Polyedra’s acquisition in 2012 (see Note 2.2 to the Annual
Report). Its progressive reduction follows the conversion
of the provision into a real bad debt charge, tax deductible
or not.

Liquidity risk
Since the Recapitalization of the Group (see the section
Recapitalization – Main steps above), the liquidity risk is
considered as remote.

31 Dec
2021
173,992
(13,985)
160,006
153,792
6,214
2,114
42
4,058
3,463
364
182
49
0

31 Dec
2020
158,947
(14,251)
144,696
139,750
4,947
1,729
38
3,180
2,826
139
150
65
0

Market risk
Lecta Group’s profit is affected by cyclical changes in the
overall economic activity and exposed to variations in the
price of paper, raw materials and energy. To reduce the
impact of these variables:
• Lecta Group customer base is highly diversified in
terms of geography and channels of sales;
• Lecta Group produces part of its needs of pulp (circa
33%) and base paper (circa 80%), the main raw
materials used in the production of Coated Woodfree
and Specialties. It also produces part of its energy
requirement;
• Lecta Group signed multi-year contracts for raw
materials supply; and
• Lecta Group signed multi-year contracts for energy
supply.
Lecta does not currently hedge against the fluctuations of
raw materials prices.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest Rate Risk
Lecta Group’s profit before tax is exposed to the
fluctuations of interest rate, as a vast proportion of its
borrowings is indexed to 3-month Euribor.
The unfavorable impact on profit before tax of an
increase of 1% (100 basis points) of 3-month Euribor,
from -0.572% (as at 31 December 2021) to 0.428%, all
other things being equal, based on actual figures as at 31
December 2021, is:

Interest rate
3-month Euribor

Estimated effect on
Lecta Group EBT
-2.3 MEUR

Lecta does not currently hedge against the fluctuations of
interest rates.
Lecta Group’s counterparts are leading financial
institutions that had credit ratings equal to or better than
A-2 short-term or BBB long-term ratings (or equivalent)
when the hedging instruments were traded.

The impact of these contracts has been accounted for
as fair value hedging, hence recognized in the Income
statement.
At 31 December 2021, there were no options on future
sales in foreign currencies and on future purchases in
foreign currencies. Therefore, nothing had to be fair
valued through Income statement.
At 31 December 2021, there were no mid or long-term
currency forward contracts for the purpose of hedging
the fluctuation of exchange rate of USD against EUR of
mid or long-term agreements. If any, the impact of such
contracts would be accounted for as cash flow hedge.
The intrinsic value, considered as effective, would be
recognized directly in Equity while the time value would
be considered as ineffective, and thus recognized in the
Income statement.

Business risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Lecta negotiates insurance policies for major risks, such
as property damage & business interruption, and general
liability. Lecta also invests in the prevention and the
protection of its assets following the recommendations
by leading insurance companies.

Lecta Group’s EBITDA is exposed to the fluctuations of
non-euro currencies on future sales and purchases.

CO2 emission rights

Favorable (unfavorable) impacts on EBITDA of a decrease
of 0.01 of exchange rate [e.g. for USD/EUR from 1.19
(average in 2021) to 1.18, or for GBP/EUR from 0.86
(average in 2021) to 0.85], all other things being equal,
based on actual figures of 2020, are:

Lecta Group emits more CO2 than the CO2 emission
rights (“ER”) granted for free. This deficit is covered with
the stock of ER available at the end of the prior period,
and the purchases of ER from third parties. The purchase
price of ER is exposed to market fluctuations.
Lecta Group did not acquire any derivative to cover the
purchase price fluctuation of ER.

At 31 December 2021, ordinary sales and purchases
were specifically hedged through:
• Forward agreements on realized sales in foreign
currencies: €2.1 million; and
• Forward agreements on realized purchases in foreign
currencies: €1.2 million.
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Future Prospects

The table below shows the 2021 statistics of the
associations of European producers (Euro-Graph, FINAT,
and ETPA), and the recent projections from the experts of
the industry:
2020

2021

CWF

-25%

+12%

-2 to -3% per year for 2022-2025

UWF

-13%

+11%

-1% per year for 2022-2025

Self-adhesive

+4%

+7%

+2.4% for 2022-2023

-7%

+12%

+2% for 2022-2024

Thermal

Projections

In 2022, Lecta plans to continue implementing its
strategy, aligning its CWF production capacity to market
demand, developing its Specialty paper business, and
pursuing its organization efficiency program.

Self-Adhesive
Adestor Thermal
Top FD BP Free
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Management and
Corporate Governance
of Lecta Ltd
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors was appointed by Shareholders’
resolutions. The Board is currently composed of seven
Directors:
– Dermot F. Smurfit, Chairman and non-executive director;
– Javier Abad, non-executive director;
– Dominique Binet, non-executive director;
– Marco Casiraghi, non-executive director;
– Alain Gaudré, CFO and executive director;
– Georges Gravanis, non-executive director; and
– Gilles J. Van Nieuwenhuyzen, CEO and executive director.

General
Lecta Ltd is a public limited liability company governed by
the laws of UK, its articles of incorporation and by-laws,
and the Shareholders’ Agreement.

Control over Lecta Ltd

Ownership Interests in Lecta SA and Share
capital
Lecta Ltd has issued one class of shares.
As at 31 December 2020, the share capital of Lecta Ltd
was composed of 2,775,000,000 ordinary shares with a
par value of €0.01 representing €27,750,000, all shares
being fully paid. There were warrants entitling the holders
to subscribe for up to 225,000,000 new ordinary shares
at a subscription price of €0.01 per new ordinary share.
In October 2021, some warrantholders paid €168,229.12
in cash to convert 4,153,806 warrants into 16,822,912
new ordinary shares with a par value of €0.01.
As at 31 December 2021, the share capital of Lecta Ltd
was composed of 2,791,822,912 ordinary shares with a
par value of €0.01 representing €27,918,229.12, all shares
being fully paid. There were warrants entitling the holders
to subscribe for up to 208,177,088 new ordinary shares at
a subscription price of €0.01 per new ordinary share.

The Board of Directors of Lecta Ltd has general
responsibility for the management of the company.
The Board of Directors of Lecta Ltd establishes the
principles of Group strategy, and it appoints the Group
CEO and Group CFO. The Board of Directors of Lecta Ltd
meets every month and the members are appointed by
resolutions of the shareholders.

Remuneration
During the year ended 31 December 2021, Lecta Ltd
participated in a share-based payment arrangement. On
26 May 2021, the directors and certain employees were
awarded options over ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company (see Note 37.2 to the Consolidated financial
statements).
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the former
and current members of the Board of Directors of Lecta
Ltd, including executive officers, received remuneration.
This remuneration, including the above share-based
payment arrangement of €1.4 million, was charged at an
aggregate cost of €3.7 million.
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Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have chosen to prepare the Company financial
statements in accordance with International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of
Companies Act 2006. Under company law the Directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of
the Company for that period. In preparing these financial
statements, the Directors are required to:
• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;
• Present information, including accounting policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;
• Make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

• Provide additional disclosures when compliance with
the specific requirements in International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other
events and conditions on the Group’s financial position
and financial performance; and
• Make an assessment of the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are also responsible for preparing the
Directors’ report in accordance with the Companies Act
2006 and the applicable regulations.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge the financial statements,
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted IFRSs, give a true and fair view of
the financial position and financial performance of the Company.
The Board of Directors

Signed on behalf of Directors on 27 April 2022
Alain Gaudré
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LECTA LIMITED
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Lecta Limited (‘the parent company’) and its subsidiaries
(the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement,
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated and Parent Statement of Financial
Position, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, Consolidated and Parent Statement of Changes in Equity,
General Information on page 58, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements 1 to 40 and the
notes to the parent company financial statements 1 to 16, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial
statements is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2021 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

•

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted
international accounting standards;

•

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 12 months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Lecta Ltd FY2021 Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements

54

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

2

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1 to 49,
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for
the other information contained within the annual report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives
rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required
to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the
strategic report or directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act
2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 49, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for the prevention
and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.
Our approach was as follows:
•

•

•
•

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
company and determined that the most significant are those that relate to the reporting framework
(UK Adopted International Accounting Standards) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in
the jurisdiction in which Lecta Limited operates. In addition, the group has to comply with laws and
regulations on environmental regulations, including quotas for greenhouse gas emissions, and
societal and environmental obligations.
We understood how Lecta Limited is complying with those frameworks by making enquiries of
management to understand how the group maintains and communicates its policies and
procedures in these areas and corroborated this by reviewing supporting documentation. We also
corroborated our enquiries through our review of Board minutes and correspondence with relevant
authorities, as well as consideration of the results of our audit procedures across the group to either
corroborate or provide contrary evidence.
We assessed the susceptibility of the Company’s financial statements to material misstatement,
including how fraud might occur by considering the risk of management override and by assuming
revenue to be a fraud risk.
Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with
such laws and regulations. At a group level our procedures involved enquiries of group
management and those charged with governance, and journal entry testing, with a focus on
consolidation journals and journals indicating large or unusual transactions based on our
understanding of the business. At a component level, our procedures involved discussions with
management and legal counsel, testing journals identified by specific risk criteria, and testing of
revenue transactions. We incorporated data analytics into our testing of manual journals and into
our testing of revenue recognition. We tested specific transactions back to source documentation
or independent confirmation, ensuring appropriate authorisation of the transactions.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Stephney Dallmann (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
London
29 April 2022
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General information

Lecta Group is engaged in the production and sale of
Specialty papers and Coated Woodfree paper (“CWF”).
Lecta Group has production sites in France, Italy and
Spain and sells all around the world. It employed circa
2,986 FTE people in the year ended 31 December 2021.

The consolidated financial statements of Lecta Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorized
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of
Directors on 30 March 2022.

The parent company of the Lecta Group is Lecta Ltd, a
limited company incorporated and domiciled in United
Kingdom. The address of its registered office is:
Lecta Ltd
8 Sackville Street,
London W1S 3DG
United Kingdom

All the amounts in the present report are in
thousands of euros (EUR K or k€) unless otherwise
stated.

Million €
in revenue

Million €
EBITDA

FTE
Employee

1,340

57

2,986
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated
income
statement
Consolidated income
statement
Lecta
Group
Lecta Group
(in
EUR
K)
(in EUR K)

Notes

Revenue
Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work in process
Raw materials and consumables used
Labor costs
Other operating costs except one-off costs
EBITDA

Jan to Dec 2021

Jan to Dec 2020

(8)

1,339,866

%
100

(36.1)

16,436
(656,200)
(178,562)
(464,101)
57,439

1
(49)
(13)
(35)
4

(25,113)
(474,344)
(162,759)
(300,634)
20,287

(3)
(48)
(17)
(31)
2

(1.06)

983,138

%
100

Depreciation
Amortization
Goodwill impairment
Recapitalization fees & costs
Other one-off costs
Profit (loss) from operations

(9)
(10)
(11)
(11)
(11)

(52,377)
(126)
0
(1,048)
(9,985)
(6,097)

(4)
(0)
0
(0)
(1)
(0)

(54,695)
(169)
(118,252)
(42,308)
(10,445)
(205,582)

(6)
(0)
(12)
(4)
(1)
(21)

Finance income
Finance expense
Profit (loss) before tax

(12)
(12)

1,709
(46,779)
(51,167)

0
(3)
(4)

424,450
(48,916)
169,952

43
(5)
17

Income tax
Profit (loss) after tax from continuing operations

(13)

(4,834)
(56,001)

(0)
(4)

(4,023)
165,929

(0)
17

0
(56,001)

0
(4)

0
165,929

0
17

(58,246)
2,245

(4)
0

163,995
1,935

17
0

Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations
Profit (loss) after tax
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated
statement
of comprehensive
income
Consolidated statement
of comprehensive
income
Lecta
Group
Lecta Group
(in
EUR
K)
(in EUR K)

Notes

Jan to Dec 2021

Profit (loss) for the period
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Jan to Dec 2020

(56,001)

165,929

407

214

Net (loss)/gain on cash flow hedges
Income tax effect

(24) & (34)

0
0
0

0
0
0

Net (loss)/gain on unlisted securities
Income tax effect

(19)

0
0
0

0
0
0

407

214

382
(23)
1,415
(96)
1,677

655
(321)
0
(1)
333

1,677

333

2,085

548

Total comprehensive income, net of tax

(53,916)

166,477

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(56,161)
2,245

164,542
1,935

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods
Remeasurement gain (loss) on defined benefits plans
(31) & (36.2)
Remeasurement gain (loss) on 3rd party agents benefits
(31)
Labor share based payment
(37.2)
Income tax effect
Net other comprehensive income not being reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods
Other comprehensive income, net of tax

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on [day to be agreed with the
auditors] April 2022 and were signed on its behalf by Alain Gaudré.
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Consolidated
statement
of financial
position
Consolidated statement
of financial
position
Lecta
Group
Lecta Group
(in
(in EUR
EUR K)K)

31 Dec
2021

31 Dec
2020

31 Dec
2019

(16.1)
(16.2)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)
(32)
(24)

507,458
1,363
0
30,056
77
291
40,938
6,944
587,128

483,645
1,363
0
929
77
289
37,599
6,896
530,798

487,262
1,363
118,252
8,088
77
287
48,430
6,876
670,635

(32)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)

1,515
201,744
160,006
1,504
2,163
138,650
505,582

2,667
163,345
144,696
1,273
2,585
177,020
491,586

6,382
193,070
196,500
623
1,898
85,850
484,322

1,092,710

1,022,384

1,154,957

Notes

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Unlisted securities
Biological assets
Deferred income tax assets
Other non-current receivables
Non-current assets
Income tax receivable
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Other current receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY & LIABILITIES
Paid-in capital
Share premium

(27.1)
(27.1)

27,918
32,175

27,750
32,175

1,446
136,669

Other reserves
Foreign currency translation
Accumulated net profits (losses)

(27.2)
(27.3)
(27.4)

(7,392)
(351)

(9,069)
(1,091)

(9,403)
(1,305)

154,765
207,116

213,551
263,316

(85,723)
41,684

7,019
214,135

6,095
269,410

5,358
47,042

Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY

(27)

Interest-bearing borrowings
Non-current grants
Non-current provisions
Deferred income tax liabilities
Non-current liabilities

(28)
(30)
(31)
(32)

410,454
6,965
23,155
6,252
446,826

398,938
7,046
25,362
753
432,099

622,771
6,843
26,694
10,229
666,537

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdrafts
Current grants
Current provisions
Income tax payable
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

(28)
(29)
(30)
(31)
(32)
(33)
(34)

22,575
13,461
1,713
32,233
1,728
351,607
8,432
431,749
878,575

56,553
20,477
1,586
5,547
1,261
213,752
21,698
320,875
752,974

92,957
18,808
1,896
14,107
1,030
301,631
10,950
441,378
1,107,915

1,092,710

1,022,384

1,154,957

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.
The
consolidated financial
statements
were
for issue by financial
the Boardstatements.
of Directors on 27 April 2022
The accompanying
Notes are
an integral
partauthorized
of these Consolidated
and were signed on its behalf by Alain Gaudré.
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Consolidated
cash
statement
Consolidated cash
flow flow
statement
Lecta
Group
Lecta Group
(in
(in EUR
EUR K)K)

Jan to Dec
2021

Jan to Dec
2020

(51,167)
46,779
(1,709)
0
1,048
9,985
52,503
57,439

169,952
48,916
(424,450)
118,252
42,308
10,445
54,864
20,287

(21)
(22)
(23)
(33)

(38,181)
(15,215)
(229)
137,769
84,144

30,276
52,164
(654)
(87,759)
(5,972)

(31)
(18)
(37.2)
(34)
(34)
(32)

28,794
(27,650)
1,415
(1,065)
(17,200)
(984)
124,894

2,314
(275)
0
(46,335)
(3,394)
1,277
(32,098)

(16)
(16)
(30)
(3.1)
(2.2) & (3.1)
(3.6)
(24)

224
(85,854)
39
0
(453)
(3,549)
80
(89,513)

13
(47,483)
(307)
(2,983)
(747)
(2,823)
0
(54,330)

(34)
(27)
(12)
(28)
(28)
(28)
(28)

(1,320)
168
(41,528)
(1,835)
57,146
(75,452)
(4,202)
(67,023)

(1,200)
59,925
(32,826)
(5,563)
550,153
(390,108)
(4,325)
176,055

(31,641)
286
156,544
125,189
138,650
(13,461)

89,627
(126)
67,043
156,544
177,020
(20,477)

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) before tax
Finance expense
Finance income
Goodwill impairment
Recapitalization fees & costs
Other one-off costs
Depreciation & Amortization
EBITDA
Inventories decrease (increase)
Trade receivable decrease (increase)
Prepayments decrease (increase)
Trade payables increase (decrease)
Working Capital decrease (increase)
Provisions increase (decrease)
Other intangible assets - CO2 emission rights decrease (increase)
Labor share based payment
Recapitalization fees & costs
Other one-off costs
Income tax paid
Net cash flow (used in) / from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of Property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Receipt of Grants
Purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash sold
Purchase of other assets
Proceeds from disposal of other assets
Net cash flow (used in) / from investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid to non controlling interest
Share capital increase (redemption)
Interest paid
Issue costs of Borrowings
Proceeds from Borrowings
Repayment of Borrowings
Payment of finance lease liabilities
Net cash flow (used in) / from financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in Cash & cash equivalents net
of Bank overdrafts
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash & cash equivalents net of Bank overdrafts at 1 January
Cash & cash equivalents net of Bank overdrafts at 31 December
Of which Cash & cash equivalents
Of which Bank overdrafts

(25)
(27)

(29)

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.
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32,175

27,750
27,750

AT 1 JANUARY 2021

0
0
32,175

0
168
27,918

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.

Variation of percentages of consolidation
Share capital increase (redemption) in Lecta Ltd
Dividends to non-controlling interests
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

0

(201)

0

0
0
0

(8,079)

0
286
286

(345)

0
(23)
(23)

(321)

(321)

(272)

0
(49)
(49)

0

0

1,415

0
1,415
1,415

0

0

0
0
0

0

0

(183)

0

(183)

(183)

0

(183)

(183)

0

0

0

0

(1,091)

(1,091)

0

0

0
214
214

(1,305)

(1,305)

(351)

0
407
407

0
0
0

(8,364)

(8,364)

272

0
383
383

(9,019)

(9,019)

154,765

(207)

(58,246)

(58,246)

(333)

213,551

213,551

0

(3,026)
138,305

135,279

163,995

163,995

(85,723)

(85,723)

Foreign
Accumulated
currency
net profits
translation
(losses)

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income of the period

0

0

0

0
0
0

0

0

FTA
IFRS 16

333

(201)

(201)

0

0
0
0

(201)

(201)

FTA
IFRS 9

Reclassification of opening balance due to Lecta Mexico

0

(136,669)
32,175
0

(1,446)
24,750
0

32,175

(136,669)
(136,669)

0

1,554
(1,446)
3,000

0

136,669

Changes in shareholding (See Notes 2.2 and 3.1)
Exit of Lecta SA
Entry of Lecta Ltd
Entries in the perimeter
Variation of percentages of consolidation
Share capital increase (redemption) in Lecta Ltd
Reclassification
Dividends to non-controlling interests
AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income of the period

1,446

Effect of adopting IFRS 16
AT 1 JANUARY 2020

136,669

Share
premium

207,116

(207)
168

(58,246)
2,085
(56,161)

0

263,316

263,316

165
(138,115)
3,000
(3,026)
191
56,925
0

163,995
548
164,542

41,684

41,684
0

Total Equity
holders of
the parent

(1,320)
7,019

(0)

2,245
0
2,245

0

6,095

0
(1,200)
6,095

0
(0)

(0)

1,935
0
1,935

-0
5,358

5,358

Noncontrolling
Interest

(in EUR K)
Lecta Group

1,446

Paid-in
capital

Actuarial gains Actuarial gains
Unlisted Cash flow
(losses) on
(losses) on
securities hedging defined benefits
3rd party
Labor share
reserve
reserve
plans reserve agents benefits based payment

(207)
168
(1,320)
214,135

(56,001)
2,085
(53,916)

0

269,410

(3,026)
191
56,925
0
(1,200)
269,410

165

165,929
548
166,477

-0
47,042

47,042

TOTAL
EQUITY

Consolidated
statement of
changes in equity

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

(in EUR K)
Lecta Group

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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Notes
1. Summary of significant
accounting policies
1.01. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Lecta Group
have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted
IFRSs.
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on an historical cost basis, except for the
measurement at fair value of Unlisted securities,
Biological assets and Derivative financial instruments.
The carrying values of recognized assets and liabilities
that are hedged, are adjusted to record changes in the fair
values attributable to the hedged risks.
In the process of applying Lecta Group’s accounting
policies, Management made the following judgments:
• Each consolidated company has the ability to continue
as a going concern. In assessing Lecta Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, Management
has considered the Group’s cash flows, liquidity
and business activities. The assessment has taken
into account the ongoing uncertainty surrounding
the COVID-19 pandemic, in particular its impact on
sales and operations. Cash flow forecasts assume
a slow recovery in the first half of 2021. The Group
prudently manages its liquidity risk, and the extensive
recapitalization undertaken by the Group in 2020 has
allowed it to overcome the challenges presented by the
COVID-19 pandemic, and also to emerge with a solid
liquidity position and healthy balance sheet.

As a result of the Group’s current financial position and
cash flow forecasts and projections, Management is
confident the Group will be able to maintain liquidity and
continue as a going concern for a period of 12 months
ending on 30 April 2023. Accordingly, the going concern
basis of accounting has been adopted in preparing the
financial statements.
• Recognition of risks through provisions (see Note 31).
• Choice of an accounting treatment when alternative
methods are allowed by existing standards (see Notes
1.16 and 1.17).
• Choice of an accounting treatment when insufficient
guidance is provided by an existing standard (see Notes
1.16 and 1.17).
Management of Lecta Group has also made assumptions
for the years to come. Where needed Management used
assumptions (inflation, interest rates, exchange rates,
prices, volumes) to develop strategies and prepare plans.
The assumptions and the resulting plans are used in
preparing the financial statements (e.g. computation of
impairment tests, recognition of deferred income tax
assets). Actual data may differ from these assumptions.

1.02. Changes in accounting policies - New
accounting standards
• The accounting policies adopted are consistent with
those of the previous financial year except for the
following new and amended IAS, IFRS and IFRIC
interpretations, published by the IASB:

Standards, amendments and interpretations

Effective date

New standards
Amendments to IFRS 4, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform –
Phase 2

1 January 2021

Interpretations
None

New amended IAS or interpretations effective as of 1 January 2021:
None of the above amendments had a material impact on Lecta Group’s financial statements.
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1.03. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the parent company Lecta Ltd and
its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year. Subsidiaries
are entities in which Lecta Group has the sole power to
exercise control over their operations. All the consolidated
subsidiaries are listed in Note 2.2.
Certain subsidiaries of Lecta Group are however not
consolidated on the basis of immateriality (see Note 2.3).
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to Lecta Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which Lecta loses control.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the
Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee;
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect
its returns.
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights result in control. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it
has power over an investee, including:
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized
gains and losses on transactions between Lecta Group
companies are eliminated on consolidation. Where
local accounting policies followed by subsidiaries differ
significantly from those adopted for the purpose of

the consolidated financial statements, appropriate
adjustments are made in order to achieve a consistent
basis of accounting.

1.04. Investment in associates
An Associate is an entity, including an unincorporated
entity such as a partnership, over which Lecta Group has
significant influence but which it does not control. It is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.
An associate is accounted for under the equity method
of consolidation. The investment in associate is initially
recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter for the postacquisition changes in Lecta Group’s share of net assets
of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.
The Income statement of Lecta Group includes Lecta
Group’s share of the profit or loss after tax of the
associate.
After application of the equity method, Lecta Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognize an
additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in
its associates. Lecta Group determines at each reporting
date whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the
case, Lecta Group calculates the amount of impairment
as the difference between the recoverable amount of
the associate and its carrying value, and recognizes the
amount in the line “Share of results in associates” of the
Income statement.
Lecta Group does not consolidate any associate.

1.05. Interests in joint ventures
A Joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby
Lecta Group and one or more third parties undertake an
economic activity that is subject to joint control.
A jointly controlled entity is accounted for under the
equity method. Refer to Note 1.04 for a description on the
equity method.
Lecta Group does not have any joint venture, which
requires consolidation.
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1.06. Glossary of non-GAAP measures
EBITDA: Earnings before depreciation, amortization,
one-off costs, finance costs, net income from associates
and income tax. It includes non-cash (expenses) incomes,
consisting of variations of inventories and operating
provisions. This aggregate is a key performance indicator
for Lecta Group and the paper industry.
One-off costs: Profits, losses or costs isolated for a
better understanding of the business performance. This
heading comprises essentially:
• The profit and losses on disposals or impairments of
Investment in associates (see Note 1.04), Unlisted
securities (see Note 1.18), and certain long-lived assets
including Goodwill (see Note 1.21),
• The costs of restructuring and material reorganization,
• The acquisition costs in relation with business
combinations, and the profit following the immediate
recognition of negative goodwill (see Note 1.14),
• The costs caused by unusual and infrequent events, like
the ones attributable to the coronavirus pandemic.

1.07. Foreign currency transactions
The presentation currency of Lecta Group is the euro
(EUR).
For each entity of Lecta Group, transactions in foreign
currencies are recorded in their functional currency at
the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing
at the year-end closing date. Exchange differences
are taken to the Income statement: Foreign exchange
differences for operating business items are recorded in
the line “Other operating costs except one-off costs”, and
financial items are recorded in the lines “Finance income”
and “Finance expense”. An exception to the above would
be the case of a foreign currency borrowing that would
provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign
entity. Lecta Group does not have such borrowing.

1.08. Foreign currency translations subsidiaries
The Income statements of the non-euro consolidated
subsidiaries are translated into euro at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. Their assets and
liabilities are translated into euro at the exchange rate
prevailing at the year-end closing date. The exchange
differences are taken directly to Equity. On disposal of the
entity, the exchange differences accumulated are included
in the line “Other one-off costs” in the Income statement
as a component of the gain or loss on disposal.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are stated in the currency of
the acquired entity at the date of the acquisition.
Lecta Group doesn’t have any entity within the group
which operates in a hyper-inflationary economy.

1.09. Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to Lecta Group and
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following
specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue
is recognized:
• Sales of goods: Revenue is recognized when goods
leave the warehouses of the Group or those of the
consignees, or when, the goods being ready on the
contractual date, their delivery is postponed following
the customer’s request. This method enables a reliable
measurement of revenue. It acknowledges that the
control of the goods has been transferred either to the
buyer or to the transporter.
• Sales of energy: Revenue is recognized when the
energy is effectively supplied to the buyer.
• Sales of services: Revenue is recognized over time in
proportion of the services rendered to the buyer. It
acknowledges that the buyer receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

Lecta Ltd FY2021 Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements

66

NOTES

1.09bis. Interest and Dividend recognition
• Interest: Revenue is recognized as interest accrues.
• Dividends: Revenue is recognized when the
shareholders’ right to receive the payment is
established.

1.10. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment purchased by the
Lecta Group’s companies are stated at historical cost,
increased where appropriate by terminal environmental
reinstatement costs (none in Lecta Group).
When acquired through a business combination, the
assets are stated at their fair value at the date of
acquisition.

The Property, plant and equipment present in Lecta
Group at First Time Adoption of IFRS as at 1 January
2004, were subject to specific rules: those of Cartiere del
Garda SpA were fair valued and these fair values were
used as deemed cost at that date, while the values of
property, plant & equipment of all other companies used
under the previous GAAP were maintained.
At closing date, Property, plant and equipment are stated
at the above-mentioned gross value less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
following estimated useful lives unless the term of the
lease is shorter:

Land & Building
Land

No depreciation

Road, railways and car parks
Buildings
Plant & machinery
Machinery

20 to 40 years
30 to 40 years

Quality control systems
Motor vehicles
Forklifts
Other motor vehicles
Fixtures & fittings
Hardware and office equipment
R&D equipment
Furniture, fixtures and fittings

5 to 10 years
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1.11. Maintenance
Maintenance costs relating to an existing tangible asset
are capitalized, if and only if it has a useful life of more
than one year and if it replaces an identifiable component
of the existing tangible asset. The cost represents
a new component which will be depreciated individually.
The depreciation will not exceed the remaining useful
life of the existing tangible asset except when it extends
its useful life. This capitalization also translates into
derecognizing the replaced component.
For any given plant, the maintenance of existing Safety
and Environment installations may be necessary to
continue to obtain the future economic benefits from the
other assets of this plant dedicated to production. Under
such circumstances, they may qualify for recognition as
Property, plant and equipment. Should they not meet the
above criteria, these costs are expensed.
Recurring maintenance or day-to-day servicing costs
(outside contractors, felt & wires) are always expensed.

to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the
assessment made under IAS 17 of which transaction are
leases.
Under IFRS 16, the Group recognizes right-of-use assets
under Property Plant and equipment caption and lease
liabilities for most leases under captions non-current
financial liabilities and other current financial liabilities.
Depreciation of right of use assets are calculated on a
straight-line basis over the contract duration:
– Buildings: 1-10 years,
– Fixtures and fittings: 1-8 years,
– Motor vehicles: 1-5 years.
Right of use assets are subject to impairment test.
The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases (less
than 12 months renewal period included) and assets of
low value. The Group recognizes the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straightline basis over the lease term.

The overhauls of gas turbines of cogeneration plants
are capitalized as Property, plant and equipment and
depreciated over 3 to 6 years.

1.13. Investment properties

1.12. Leases

Investment properties consist of land or buildings, held to
earn rentals or capital appreciation.

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 standard starting 1
January 2019. As a result, the Group has changed its
accounting policy for lease contracts as detailed below.
For the contracts in which Lecta Group is entered or
changed from 1 January 2019, the Group assessed at
inception whether a contract is a lease or contains a
lease. A contract contains a lease if it conveys the right
to control the use of an asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. The right to control the use of
an asset exists if:

Investment properties purchased by Lecta Group’s
companies are stated at historical cost, increased where
appropriate by terminal environmental reinstatement
costs (none in Lecta Group). When acquired by Lecta
Group through a business combination, they are stated at
their fair value at the date of acquisition.
At closing date, investment properties are stated at
the above-mentioned gross value less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment.

(i) The contract involves the use of an identified asset,

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
following estimated useful lives:

(ii) The Group has the right to obtain substantially all the
economic benefits from use of the asset and

Land
Buildings

(iii) The Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.
For the contracts in which Lecta Group is entered or
changed before 1 January 2019, the Group has elected

No depreciation
30 to 40 years

Investment properties in Lecta Group consisted of plots
of land in Amorebieta/Carmen mill closed in 2009, and in
Sarrià del Ter mill closed in 2014 (see Note 16.2).
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1.14. Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations from 1 January 2009
Business combinations are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value
and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs
incurred are expensed in the line “Other one-off costs”
(see Notes 1.06 and 11).
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability,
are recognized in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is
not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference (formerly
known as negative goodwill) is recognized in profit or
loss in the line “Other one-off costs” of the Income
statement. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

1.15. Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets acquired separately are recognized
at cost. Intangible assets acquired as part of a business
combination are recognized separately from Goodwill if the

fair value can be measured reliably on initial recognition,
subject to the constraint that, unless the asset has a
readily ascertainable market value. The carrying values
of intangible assets with definite useful lives are tested
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The carrying values of intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment on a yearly basis.
Research and Development costs are expensed when
incurred, except for certain development costs that
are recognized when it is probable that the project will
generate future economic benefits, and the costs can be
measured reliably.
Other internally generated intangible assets are not
capitalized, but expensed against profit in the year the
costs were incurred.
Other intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line
basis, over the shortest period between their own legal
duration and the useful life of the assets to which they
benefit.
In Lecta Group, this heading comprises essentially:
Patents
Customer portfolio
Trademarks
Non-competition clause
Development costs
Rights to connect to the electricity network
CO2 emission rights (see Note 1.16)
Green & White certificates (see Note 1.17)

3 to 5 years
7 years
3 to 5 years
2 years
2 to 5 years
10 years
No amortization
No amortization

1.16. CO2 emission rights
In order to comply with the Kyoto protocol, the European
Union has set up the CO2 (or Greenhouse Gas) emission
rights scheme. Lecta Group elected to use the implicit
rule of IAS 20 “Accounting for government grants and
disclosure of government assistance” to account for the
CO2 emission rights. This rule is sometimes referred to
as “net liability method”:
• According to the “net liability method”, the rights that
have been granted free of charge by each National
Authority are not recognized. A provision at fair value is
recognized for the tonnes of CO2 emitted in excess of
the rights granted by each National Authority.
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• Purchased rights are initially recognized at cost in the
line “Other intangible assets” of the Statement of
financial position.
• After initial recognition, the purchased rights that are
not in excess of the above-mentioned provisioned
tonnes are measured at fair value.
• The rights in excess are kept at their historical cost,
unless the market price drops below this cost. In such
a case, these rights are impaired.
• All the movements in the Income statement are
reported in the line “Other operating costs except oneoff costs”.
These rules are implemented separately for each
Subsidiary, because National Authorities grant the rights
to single companies.

1.17. Green & White certificates
On top of selling steam and electricity to Garda mill,
excess electricity to the national grid, Alto Garda Power
SrL sells hot water to the local urban heating network.
This gives Alto Garda Power SrL title to the grant of
Green certificates for a period of eight years starting in
January 2010. No obligation is attached to these Green
certificates.
Lecta Group elected to use the implicit rule of IAS 20
“Accounting for government grants and disclosure
of government assistance” to account for the Green
certificates. They are recognized as an intangible asset,
initially at nominal value, until they are sold to a third
party. Following a change in Italian regulation dated 6
July 2012, the Green certificates are recognized as a
non-monetary government grant, which corresponds to
GSE (Gestore dei Servizi Energetici) guaranteed price.
An additional profit can be recognized in the line “Other
operating costs except one-off costs” of the Income
statement upon the sale of Green certificate if the actual
sales price is higher than the guaranteed one.
Thanks to its savings in the consumption of natural
gas, Alto Garda Power SrL is entitled to a grant of
White certificates for a period of ten years starting in
January 2012. No obligation is attached to these White
certificates.

Lecta Group elected to use the implicit rule of IAS 20
“Accounting for government grants and disclosure
of government assistance” to account for the White
certificates. They are recognized as a non-monetary
government grant, which corresponds to GSE (Gestore
dei Servizi Energetici) guaranteed price. An additional
profit can be recognized in the line “Other operating costs
except one-off costs” of the Income statement upon the
sale of Green certificate if the actual sales price is higher
than the guaranteed one.

1.18. Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured, by considering the four
categories defined by IFRS 9 Financial instruments:
A) Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
B) Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt
instruments),
C) Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI
(equity instruments),
D) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the timeframe generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way
trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e. the date the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
A) Financial assets at amortized cost (debt
instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The
Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both
of the following conditions are met:
– The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and
– The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest (EIR) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognized in the Income statement when the asset is
derecognized, modified or impaired.
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In Lecta Group, this category includes:
• The Trade receivables (see Note 1.23);
• The financial investments originated by the group
reported in the line “Other non-current assets” in
the Non-current assets of the Statement of financial
position (see Notes 1.25 and 1.34):
– Deposits,
– Guarantees,
– Loans to non-consolidated companies or third parties.

B) Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt
instruments)
The Group measures debt instruments at fair value
through OCI if both of the following conditions are met:
– The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling; and
– The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest
income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognized in the Income
statement and computed in the same manner as
for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognized in OCI.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognized in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.
Lecta Group does not hold such investments.

C) Financial assets designated at fair value through
OCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI when they
meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-byinstrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognized as
other income in the income statement when the right of
payment has been established, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of
the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at
fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment
assessment.
Lecta Group elected to classify irrevocably one of its
investments under this category: its participation in
Promotora del Ulla SA (see Notes 2.3 and 19).

D) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI,
as described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the Statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognized in the Income
statement.
In Lecta Group, this category includes:
• Money market funds used to safely invest temporary
excess cash reported in the line “Cash and cash
equivalents”, in the Current assets of the Statement of
financial position;
• Non-listed equity investments reported in the line
“Unlisted securities”, in the Non-current assets of the
Statement of financial position.

Lecta Ltd FY2021 Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements

71

NOTES

Impairment
See Note 1.23.
Derecognition
See Note 1.37.

1.19. Biological assets
In Lecta Group, biological assets are limited to standing
timber. The latter is exclusively dedicated to internal
consumption for the production of pulp. They are reported
in the line “Biological assets”, under Non-current assets of
the Statement of financial position. They are measured at
fair value.

1.20. Non-current assets held for sale
A non-current asset is held for sale if its carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the
case, the asset must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such assets and its sale must be
highly probable.
The non-current assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their
fair value less costs to sell. They are not depreciated
any more. They are presented separately from the other
assets in the Statement of financial position.

1.21. Impairment of certain long-lived assets
Property, plant and equipment, Investment properties
and Other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable. This review is
done each year for the Goodwill and other indefinite life
intangible assets. Where the carrying values exceed
the estimated recoverable amount, the asset or the
associated cash-generating unit is written down to its
recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money

and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that
does not generate largely independent cash inflows,
the recoverable amount is determined for the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.
Impairment losses are recognized in the line “Other oneoff costs” in the Income statement.

1.22. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost includes materials, direct labor and
an attributable proportion of manufacturing overheads
based on normal levels of activity. Cost is computed
according to the weighted average cost method. Net
realizable value is based on estimated selling price, less
further costs expected to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
Given the lack of meaningful market references, the
inventoried spare parts are impaired in accordance with
slow moving rules reflecting their obsolescence.

1.23. Trade receivables
Specific allowance
Trade receivables are recognized and carried at original
invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectable
amounts.
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection
of part or all of a receivable is no longer probable. Bad
debts are written off when identified.
General allowance
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
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for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.

1.26. Cash and cash equivalents
This heading comprises:
• Cash in hand;
• Cash in banks’ current accounts;
• Short-term deposits and certificates of deposit with an
original maturity of three months or less; and
• Marketable securities (Government bonds, Treasury bills
and similar short-term securities).

Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forwardlooking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Any gains and losses on Cash and cash equivalents are
recognized in the Income statement, under the lines
“Financial income” and “Financial expense”.

1.24. Prepayments

1.27. Financial liabilities

This heading comprises payments to trade or other
payables for future benefits such as insurance premiums,
maintenance expenses and rents. Prepayments are
stated at their nominal value.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, Loans and borrowings, Payables, or Derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge.

1.25. Other receivables

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value
and, in the case of Loans and borrowings and Payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

This heading comprises:
• Loans;
• Deposits and guarantees;
• Grants receivables;
• Capital receivables on the sale of long-lived assets;
• Shareholders receivables (e.g. on capital increase);
• Dividends receivables;
• Favorable options on non-consolidated companies;
• Favorable currency hedging;
• Favorable interest rate hedging;
• Favorable energy price hedging; and
• Miscellaneous other receivables (e.g. expected
reimbursement through an insurance contract).

Note: In the Cash flow statement, the analysis is focused
on variation of Cash and cash equivalents net of Bank
overdrafts.

A) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include (a) financial liabilities held for trading and (b)
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the
near term. This category also includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognized in the lines “Finance income” and “Finance
expense” of the Income statement.
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In Lecta Group, no financial liabilities were designated as
at fair value through profit or loss.
B) Loans and borrowings
This is the category most relevant to the Group. After
initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well
as through the EIR amortization process.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is
included as finance costs in the Income statement.
In Lecta Group, this category applies to Interest-bearing
borrowings, and Bank overdrafts.
Derecognition
See Note 1.37

1.28. Grants
Grants constitute deferred income related to Property,
plant and equipment, or Borrowings with off-market
interest rates. Grants are recognized at their fair value.
They are released on a straight-line basis in the line
“Depreciation” of the Income statement, over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset.

1.29. Provisions
Provisions are recognized when:
• Lecta Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event; and
• It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; and
• A reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made.
Where Lecta Group expects the impact of a provision to
be neutralized, for example under an insurance contract, a
separate asset is recognized when it is virtually certain.

If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and,
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Where discounting is used, the change of the provision
due to the time value of money is recognized in the lines
“Finance income” or “Finance expense” in the Income
statement.

1.30. Employee benefits
Lecta Group’s employees take advantage of various
benefits schemes:
• Short-term employee benefits:
These include wages, salaries, paid holidays, social
contributions, sick leave, compensated absences,
bonuses, profit sharing and non-monetary benefits, all
paid within 12 months after service is rendered.
• Defined contribution post-employment plans:
The cost to the employer is fixed and predictable.
The charge for the period is the contribution due
in respect of the service rendered during the
period. Payments in advance are reported in the line
“Prepayments” of the Statement of financial position.
Payments in arrears are reported in the line “Trade
payables” of the Statement of financial position. Any
accrual that does not fall due within 12 months beyond
Statement of financial position date is discounted and
recognized at its present value.
• Defined benefit post-employment plans:
The employer retains a risk of additional contributions to
be paid.
The plan is valued in the Statement of financial position
at the present value of the obligation less the fair value
of any plan assets legally separate from the employer.
Any unrecognized past service costs, is immediately
recognized.
All actuarial gains or losses are immediately recognized.
For any curtailment, plan amendment or settlement, the
resulting change is immediately recognized.
• Other long-term benefits:
These include long-service or jubilee benefits.
All actuarial gains or losses and any past service costs
are immediately recognized.
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• Termination benefits:
These include early retirement schemes or redundancy
programs.
They are recognized as a liability and an expense
when and only when a company of Lecta Group is
demonstrably committed to terminate the employment
of a group of employees before the normal retirement
date or provide termination benefits as a result of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Some Lecta Group employees benefit from Equity
compensation benefits plan or share based payments
plan.
The employee benefits may be funded, resulting in a
debt obligation with financial institutions, or unfunded,
resulting in the booking of a provision. Independent
qualified actuaries review any material long-term
obligation of Lecta Group.
The costs are accounted for as follows:
• The actuarial gains and losses of Defined benefit postemployment plans are directly recognized in the lines
“Other reserves” and “Deferred tax” of the Statement
of financial position.
• All the other costs are recognized in the Income
statement, in the following lines:
– Costs related to active employees: “Labor costs”;
– Costs related to retired people: “Other operating costs
except one-off costs”; and
– Costs due to the time value of money: “Finance
expense”.

1.31. Income tax payable
Income tax payable includes withholding tax.

1.32. Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the Statement of financial
position date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable
temporary differences (e.g. accelerated tax depreciation,
deductible legal revaluation), except (i) where the deferred
tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill
or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss, or (ii) in respect of taxable temporary differences
that will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible
temporary differences (e.g. employee benefits paid
to financial institutions for which the deductibility is
deferred), carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available to use these assets. The
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realized or the liability settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the Statement of financial position date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside the
Income statement is also recognized outside the Income
statement, i.e. in the Statement of comprehensive income
or directly in Equity in the Statement of financial position.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.
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1.33. Trade payables

1.36. Derivative hedging instruments

This heading comprises:

Lecta Group uses derivative instruments to hedge foreign
currency, interest rate and energy price fluctuations.
Such derivative instruments are stated at their fair values
as communicated by the financial institutions and the
energy companies that are the counterparties to these
transactions.

• Trade payables;
• Employees and social charges;
• VAT and other taxes except Income tax and withholding
tax; and
• Any accruals on the above.

1.34. Other liabilities
This heading comprises:
• Capital payables following the purchase of long-lived
assets;
• Shareholders payables (e.g. on capital redemption);
• Dividends payables;
• Options on Minorities of consolidated companies (see
Note 1.35);
• Unfavorable options on non-consolidated companies;
• Unfavorable currency hedging;
• Unfavorable interest rate hedging;
• Unfavorable energy price hedging; and
• Miscellaneous other payables (one-off costs).

1.35. Options on Minorities of consolidated
companies
Options on Minorities of consolidated companies
currently held by Lecta are Equity derivatives.
A premium paid or received on equity derivatives at
inception is recorded in Equity in a specific line “Equity
derivatives”. Up to now, Lecta Group did not pay such
premiums.
The discounted value of the exercise price of a sold
option or a firm commitment, at inception and at each
year-end, is recorded in the line “Other payables” against
the line “Non-controlling interests”.

For accounting purposes, derivative instruments are
classified in the three following categories:
• Fair value hedges: to cover the exposure to changes in
the fair value of a recognized asset or liability.
In Lecta Group, these are forward agreements on
realized day-to-day sales and purchases in non-euro
currencies. Any gain or loss from re-measuring the
hedging instrument at fair value is recognized in the
line “Other operating costs except one-off costs” of
the Income statement against “Trade receivables” or
“Trade payables”.
• Cash flow hedges: to cover the exposure to variability
in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk
associated with a forecast transaction.
In Lecta Group, these could be the interest rate,
exchange rate and energy price swaps, caps, floors,
collars, options. The portion of the gain or loss on
the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognized directly in the line “Net
incomes (expenses) recognized directly through Equity”
of the Statement of financial position against “Other
receivables” or “Other payables”. It is removed from
Equity when the hedged item affects the Income
statement. The ineffective portion of gain or loss is
immediately recognized in the line “one-off costs” of
the Income statement.
• Hedges of net investments in foreign entities
denominated in a non-euro currency:
In Lecta Group, there is no such instrument.
The accounting treatment is the same as for Cash flow
hedges.

Since 1 January 2009 and in accordance with IAS27
(revised), when a sold option or a firm commitment on
minorities is exercised, the amount in Other payables
is reversed against Cash, and the remaining balances
of non-controlling interests and Equity derivatives are
reversed against Equity.
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1.37. Derecognition of financial assets and
liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is
derecognized when:
– The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
– The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; and
either (i) has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (ii) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognizes an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.

1.38. Future changes in accounting policies
These standards, amendments and interpretations are
published by the IASB but are not yet mandatory for the
period beginning at 1 January 2021:

Standards, amendments and interpretations

Effective date

Standards
Amendments to IFRS17

Not adopted

1 January 2023

Amendment to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as current or Non-current

Not adopted

1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS16 – Proceeds before intended Use

Not adopted

1 January 2022

Amendment to IFRS10, IAS28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Not adopted

Deferred Indefinitely

Amendment to IAS37 – Onerous Contracts Cost of fulfilling a Contract

Not adopted

1 January 2022
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2. Lecta Group
at 31 December 2021

2.1. Organization Chart
LECTA Ltd
(previously Paper Industries TopCo Ltd)
Holding incorporated in UK on 15/01/2020
UK - London
(EY)
100% since 20/01/2020

PAPER INDUSTRIES FINANCING Sàrl
Holding incorporated in Luxembourg on 09/12/2019
Luxembourg
(EY)
100% since 09/12/2019

PAPER INDUSTRIES INTERMEDIATE FINANCING Sàrl
Holding incorporated in Luxembourg on 09/12/2019
Luxembourg
(EY)
100% since 09/12/2019

PAPER INDUSTRIES HOLDING Sàrl
Holding incorporated in Luxembourg on 09/12/2019
Luxembourg
(EY)
100% since 24/11/2021

TORRASPAPEL SA
mergers of Torraspapel SA and Sarriopapel y Celulosa SA on 01/12/2014,
and Lecta HQ SA (previously Nueva Organización SA, then Torraspapel
Holding SA) on 29/09/2015
Production of pulp and paper
Spain - Almazán / Barcelona / Leitza / Madrid / Motril / Sant Joan / Zaragoza
(EY)

100% since 08/06/2012

CARTIERE DEL GARDA SpA (100% acquired on 02/10/1997)
merger of Cartiere del Garda SpA and Torraspapel Italia SrL on 01/01/2012
Production of paper
Italy - Riva del Garda / Milano
(EY)
POLYEDRA SpA
merger of Polyedra SpA and
Carthago SrL on 01/01/2013
Distribution of paper
Italy - Milano
(EY)

100% since

80%

02/07/2012
(acquisition)

LECTA PAPER UK Ltd

LECTA NORTH AMERICA Inc

(previously Torras Paper UK Ltd)
Distribution of paper
UK - Milton Keynes
(EY)

(previously Torraspapel USA Inc)
Commercial agent
USA - Purchase (NY)
(-)

LECTA MAROC Sàrl
(previously Torraspapel Maroc Sàrl)
Commercial agent
Morocco - Casablanca
(-)

ALTO GARDA POWER SrL
Cogeneration
incorporated on 11/09/2006
Italy - Riva del Garda
(EY)

TORRASPAPEL DISTRIBUCIÓN SA
(previously Dispap SA)
Distribution of paper
Spain - Madrid
(EY)

100% since 27/07/2016

100%

100%

100%
100%

TORRASPAPEL PORTUGAL UNIPESSOAL Lda
(merger of Sarriopapel Distribuçao (Portugal) Lda and
Torras Papel Lda)
Distribution of paper
Portugal - Lisboa
(EY)

100%

100%

LECTA BENELUX SA
(previously Condat Benelux SA)
Commercial agent
Belgium - Brussels

CONDAT SAS

(-)

mergers of Condat Holding SAS and Condat SAS on 31/12/2018,
renamed Condat SAS on 31/12/2018;
Secmar SAS was merged into Condat Holding SAS on 08/12/2008,
and Lecta Europe Sàrl was merged into Condat Holding SAS on 01/01/2015.
Production of paper and Administration & Finance services to Group
France - Le Lardin St Lazare / Le Plessis Robinson
(EY)

COGENERACIÓN MOTRIL SA
Cogeneration
Spain - Motril
(EY)
COGENERACIÓN SANT JOAN SL
(previously IDAE Sant Joan AIE)
Cogeneration
Spain - Barcelona
(EY)

100%

TORRASPAPEL MALMENAYDE SAS
mergers of Torraspapel France Sàrl and Malmenayde SAS on 01/12/2011,
and Nord Papier SA on 30/06/2015
Distribution of paper
France - Le Plessis Robinson
(EY)

100%

100%

100%

100%

LECTA DEUTSCHLAND GmbH
(previously Torraspapier GmbH)
merger of Torras Papier GmbH and
Lecta Deutschland GmbH on 10/06/2016
Commercial agent
Germany - München
(-)

CONDAT ENERGIE BIOMASSE SAS
Installation of a CSR boiler
France - Le Lardin-Saint-Lazare
(EY)

100%

LECTA FRANCE SAS
partial assets transfer from Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS on 01/01/2021
Direct sale of Specialty papers
France - Le Plessis Robinson
(EY)

Consolidated subsidiaries (fully, on a proportional basis or through equity method).
Address of registered offices in bold characters.
(Statutory auditors).
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2.2. Consolidated subsidiaries

Subsidiaries

Activity

Country of
incorporation

Interest

Control

Consol.
Method

Alto Garda Power SrL
Cartiere del Garda SpA
(absorbed Torraspapel Italia SrL)
Cogeneración Motril SA
Cogeneración Sant Joan SL
(previously IDAE Sant Joan AIE, then Cogeneración Sant
Joan AIE)
Condat Energie Biomasse SAS
Condat SAS
(previously Condat Holding SAS; absorbed Secmar SAS,
Lecta Europe Sàrl, and Condat SAS)
Lecta Benelux SA
(previously Condat Benelux SA)
Lecta Deutschland GmbH
(previously Torras Papier GmbH)
Lecta France SAS
Lecta Maroc Sàrl
(previously Torraspapel Maroc Sàrl)
Lecta North America Inc
(previously Torraspapel USA Inc)
Lecta Paper UK Ltd
(previously Torras Paper UK Ltd)
Paper Industries Financing Sàrl
Paper Industries Holding Sàrl
Paper Industries Intermediate Financing Sàrl
Polyedra SpA
(absorbed Carthago SrL)
Torraspapel Distribución SA
(previously Dispap SA; spin-off of the distribution
activity from Torraspapel SA)
Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS
(merger of Torraspapel France Sàrl and Malmenayde
SAS, absorbed Nord Papier SA)
Torraspapel Portugal Unipessoal Lda
(merger of Sarriopapel Distribuiçao (Portugal) Lda and
Torras Papel Lda)
Torraspapel SA
(absorbed Sarriopapel y Celulosa SA and Lecta HQ SA;
spin-off of the distribution activity to Torraspapel
Distribución SA)

Cogeneration
Production of woodfree coated paper

Italy
Italy

80%
100%

80%
100%

Full
Full

Cogeneration
Cogeneration

Spain
Spain

100%
100%

100%
100%

Full
Full

Installation of a CSR boiler
Production of woodfree coated paper,
Administration & Finance services to
Group
Commercial agent

France
France

100%
100%

100%
100%

Full
Full

Belgium

100%

100%

Full

Commercial agent

Germany

100%

100%

Full

Sale of Specialty papers
Commercial agent

France
Morocco

100%
100%

100%
100%

Full
Full

Commercial agent

USA

100%

100%

Full

Distribution of paper

UK

100%

100%

Full

Holding
Holding
Holding
Distribution of paper

Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Italy

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%

Full
Full
Full
Full

Distribution of paper

Spain

100%

100%

Full

Distribution of paper

France

100%

100%

Full

Distribution of paper

Portugal

100%

100%

Full

Production of pulp and paper

Spain

100%

100%

Full
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1997

1998

Sub Lecta 1 SA

Condat Holding SAS

Lecta Europe Sàrl

Sub Lecta 1 SA was incorporated
in Luxembourg on 11 August 1997.
On 2 October 1997, Sub Lecta 1
SA acquired Cartiere del Garda
SpA, an Italian producer of
coated woodfree paper, from
Bertelsmann Group.

Condat Holding SAS was set
up by Cartiere del Garda SpA
and incorporated in France on 4
November 1998.
On 13 November 1998, Condat
Holding SAS acquired Condat
SAS, a French producer of coated
woodfree paper, from Jefferson
Smurfit Group.

Lecta Europe Sàrl, in charge of
administration and finance for
the Group was set up by Condat
Holding SAS and incorporated in
France on 30 November 1998.

Sub Lecta 2 SA

Lecta HQ SA

Lecta HQ SA

Sub Lecta 2 SA was incorporated
in Luxembourg on 14 October
1999.

Lecta HQ SA (previously called
Torraspapel Holding SA),
incorporated in Spain on 24
September 1999, became a
subsidiary of Sub Lecta 2 SA on
28 October 1999.

On 14 December 1999, Lecta HQ
SA acquired 95.05% of Torraspapel
SA, a Spanish paper merchant and
producer of pulp and paper, from
Grupo Torras SA and Paltor ApS,
two companies under the control
of Kuwait Investment Authority.

2002

2004

Lecta SA

Torraspapel SA

Torraspapel Servicios México
S. de R.L. de C.V.

The parent company Lecta SA was
incorporated in Luxembourg on 14
October 1999. On 13 December
1999, the shares of Sub Lecta
1 SA and Sub Lecta 2 SA were
contributed to Lecta SA.
Consequently, the above
subsidiaries have been
consolidated since 1 December
1999.

On 13 December 2002,
Torraspapel SA acquired 25.59%
of Sub Lecta 1 SA. Due to the
presence of non-controlling
interests in Torraspapel SA, this
acquisition resulted in noncontrolling interests in Sub Lecta 1
SA and its subsidiaries.

Torraspapel Servicios México S. de
R.L. de C.V. was set up by Dispap
SA and incorporated in Mexico on
6 October 2004. It is a provider
of administration services to
Lecta México S. de R.L. de C.V..
It started its activities in 2005. It
is consolidated since 01 January
2005.

1999
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2006

2007

Sarriopapel Distribuiçao
(Portugal) Lda

Alto Garda Power SrL

Cogeneración del Ter SL

On 1 July 2006, Sarriopapel
Distribuiçao (Portugal) Lda
absorbed Torras Papel Lda and
was renamed Torraspapel Portugal
Lda. Both companies were
consolidated before the merger.

On 11 September 2006, Alto
Garda Power SrL was incorporated
in Italy. It is 80% owned by
Cartiere del Garda SpA and 20%
by Alto Garda Servizi SpA, a local
utility controlled by the City of
Riva del Garda. This company’s
purpose is to own and operate a
cogeneration plant and provide
steam and electricity to its
shareholders and the market.

Cogeneración del Ter SL is a
cogeneration plant located in
Sarrià de Ter (Spain). It was 70%
owned by Torraspapel SA and 30%
by La Energía SA, a subsidiary
of energy services Gas Natural
Group when it was consolidated
from 1 July 2007.

2008
IDAE Sant Joan AIE

Lecta North America Inc.

Dispap SA

On 11 December 2007, IDAE
Sant Joan AIE was incorporated
in Spain. It is 51% owned by
Torraspapel SA and 49% by
Instituto para la Diversificación
y Ahorro de la Energía (IDAE)
the Spanish Institute for Energy
Diversification and Saving. This
company’s purpose is to own and
operate a cogeneration plant and
provide steam and electricity to
Torraspapel SA and the market.

On 1 January 2008, Lecta North
America Inc, the 100% owned
commercial agent in North
America for Lecta Group, was
included in the consolidation
perimeter.

On 1 January 2008, Dispap SA, a
paper distributor in Spain having
no more operating activity, was
excluded from the consolidation
perimeter.

Torraspapel SA

Torraspapel SA

Lecta HQ SA

On 6 May 2008, Torraspapel
SA acquired 100% of Secmar
SAS. Secmar SAS was a French
company holding 100% of
Malmenayde SAS and 66% of
Nord Papier SA, two French paper
merchants

On 3 November 2008, Torraspapel
SA contributed Secmar SAS to
Condat Holding SAS and received
in return a 23.17% interest in that
company

On 26 November 2008, Lecta
HQ SA acquired 4.95% noncontrolling interests in Torraspapel
SA following the exercise of a put
option, negotiated in December
1999 at the time of the acquisition
of Torraspapel SA. It now holds
100% in Torraspapel SA
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2009

2010

Secmar SAS

Torraspapel SA

Lecta Deutschland GmbH

On 8 December 2008, Secmar
SAS was merged into Condat
Holding SAS. Malmenayde SAS
and Nord Papier SA became direct
subsidiaries of Condat Holding
SAS.

On 18 December 2009,
Torraspapel SA acquired an
additional 5% in Cogeneración
del Ter SL. It now holds 75% in
Cogeneración del Ter SL.

On 1 January 2010, Lecta
Deutschland GmbH, the 100%
owned commercial agent
in Germany for Lecta Group
products, was included in the
consolidation perimeter.

2011
Lecta Benelux SA

Torraspapel SA

Malmenayde SAS

On 1 January 2010, Lecta Benelux
SA, the 100% owned commercial
agent in Benelux for Condat
products, was included in the
consolidation perimeter.

On 26 July 2011, Torraspapel SA
acquired 24% additional equity
in Cogeneración Motril SA to
increase its participation to 75%.

On 1 December 2011,
Malmenayde SAS was merged
into Torraspapel France Sàrl, and
the resulting entity was named
Torraspapel Malmenayde Sàrl.

2012
Torraspapel SA

Torraspapel Italia SrL

Sub Lecta 3 SA

On 5 December 2011, Torraspapel
SA acquired 6% additional equity
in Cogeneración Motril SA. It now
holds 81% in Cogeneración Motril
SA.

On 31 December 2011, Torraspapel
Italia SrL, the commercial agent in
Italy for Torraspapel products was
excluded from the consolidation
perimeter. On 1 January 2012,
Torraspapel Italia SrL was merged
into Cartiere del Garda SpA.

On 26 April 2012, Sub Lecta 3 SA
was incorporated in Luxembourg.
It is 100% owned by Sub Lecta 1
SA. Its purpose is to be a holding
company.

2013
Cartiere del Garda SpA

Condat Holding SAS

Carthago SrL

On 2 July 2012, Cartiere del Garda
SpA acquired 100% of Polyedra
SpA. Polyedra SpA is an Italian
paper merchant who in turn holds
100% of Carthago SrL, another
Italian paper merchant.

On 25 September 2012, Condat
Holding SAS acquired 34% noncontrolling interests in Nord Papier
SA. It now holds 100% in Nord
Papier SA.

On 1 January 2013, Carthago SrL
was merged into Polyedra SpA.
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2014
Sub Lecta 4 SA

Torraspapel SA

Cogeneración del Ter SL

On 29 November 2013, Sub
Lecta 4 SA was incorporated in
Luxembourg. It is 100% owned
by Sub Lecta 3 SA. Its purpose is
to be a holding company.

On 10 December 2013, Torraspapel
SA and Sarriopapel y Celulosa SA
sold 100% of their participation in
the Argentinean paper distributor
Torraspapel Argentina SA.

On 23 October 2014, following the
permanent closure of the paper
mill located in Sarrià de Ter, the
liquidation of Cogeneración del Ter
SL was initiated.

2015
Sarriopapel y Celulosa SA

Lecta Europe Sàrl

Nord Papier SA

On 1 December 2014, Sarriopapel
y Celulosa SA was merged into
Torraspapel SA. Following this
merger, Torraspapel SA directly
holds 100% in Torraspapel Portugal
Lda and Torras Papier GmbH.

On 1 January 2015, Lecta Europe
Sàrl was merged into Condat
Holding SAS.

On 30 June 2015, Nord Papier
SA was merged into Torraspapel
Malmenayde SAS.

Cogeneración Motril SA

Sub Lecta 4 SA, Sub Lecta 3
SA and Sub Lecta 1 SA

Lecta HQ SA

On 6 July 2015, the shareholders
meeting of Cogeneración Motril
SA, decided a share capital
decrease to 0€ against losses,
immediately followed by a capital
increase of 2.6M€. The majority
shareholder of 81% (Torraspapel
SA) subscribed to the capital
increase for an amount of 2.1M€,
while the minority shareholders
of 19% did not take part to the
capital increase. This operation
was delivered to the Registry of
the Commercial Court (“Registro
Mercantil”) in October 2015.

On 3 August 2015, Sub Lecta 4
SA, Sub Lecta 3 SA and Sub Lecta
1 SA were merged into Sub Lecta
2 SA and the resulting entity was
renamed Sub Lecta SA on 17
August 2015.

On 29 September 2015, Lecta HQ
SA was merged into Torraspapel
SA (reverse merger).
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2016
Torraspapel SA

Dispap SA

Lecta Deutschland GmbH

On 16 November 2015, Torraspapel
SA acquired 25% additional equity
in Cogeneración del Ter SA, en
liquidación (liquidation initiated
on 23 October 2014), against
1€ cash payment to increase its
participation to 100%.

On 1 January 2016, Dispap SA
a holding company having no
operating activity was included in
the consolidation perimeter (See
Note 2.2).

On 10 June 2016, Lecta
Deutschland GmbH was merged
into Torras Papier GmbH and the
resulting entity was renamed
Lecta Deutschland GmbH.

2017
Cogeneración del Ter SA

Plot Service SrL

Torraspapel Distribución SA

On 13 June 2016, Cogeneración
del Ter SA was liquidated.

On 9 May 2017, Polyedra SpA
acquired 100% of Plot Service
SrL. Plot Service SrL is specialized
in technical assistance for
professional large format graphic
peripherals.

On 15 December 2017, the
distribution activity in Spain was
spin-off from Torraspapel SA
to Dispap SA. Torraspapel SA
also assigned its participation in
Torraspapel Portugal Unipessoal
Lda to Dispap SA. The latter
was renamed Torraspapel
Distribución SA.

Lecta México S. de R.L.
de C.V. and Torraspapel
Servicios México S. de R.L.
de C.V.

Cogeneración Sant Joan AIE

Condat SAS

On 30 November 2018, the two
Mexican subsidiaries, Lecta
México S. de R.L. de C.V. and
Torraspapel Servicios México
S. de R.L. de C.V. were put into
liquidation (see Note 3.4).

On 21 December 2018 Torraspapel
SA acquired the 49% noncontrolling interests in IDAE
Sant Joan AIE, and the company
was renamed Cogeneración Sant
Joan AIE.

On 31 December 2018,
Condat SAS was merged into
Condat Holding SAS and the
resulting company was renamed
Condat SAS.

2018
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2019

2020

Cogeneración Sant Joan SL

Lecta México S. de R.L.
de C.V. and Torraspapel
Servicios México S. de R.L.
de C.V.

Lecta Ltd (1st Step of
Recapitalization)

In June 2019 transformation from
an economic Grouping (AIE) into a
limited liability company (SL).

In September 2019, the two
Mexican subsidiaries, Lecta
México S. de R.L. de C.V. and
Torraspapel Servicios México S. de
R.L. de C.V. were liquidated.

On 4 February 2020 the Group
was recapitalized (see Note 3.1).
Lecta SA sold Sub Lecta SA to
Paper Industries Holding Sàrl, and
left the Group. Lecta Ltd with a
share capital of 3,000k€ became
the new parent company of the
Group, and three new sub-holdings
were added to the consolidation
perimeter: Paper Industries
Financing Sàrl, Paper Industries
Intermediate Financing Sàrl, and
Paper Industries Holding Sàrl.

Condat Energie Biomasse
SAS

Lecta Ltd (2nd Step of
Recapitalization)

Lecta France SAS

On 1 January 2020, Condat
Energie Biomasse SAS, a company
with no operating activity, was
added to the consolidation
perimeter to match with the
launch of a CSR boiler project.

On 16 July 2020, Lecta Ltd share
capital was increased (see Note
3.1).

On 18 December 2020, Lecta
France SAS was incorporated
with no operating activity. On 31
March 2021, the activity of direct
sales of Specialties in France
was spin-off from Torraspapel
Malmenayde SAS to Lecta France
SAS.

2021

Sub Lecta SA
On 24 November 2021, Sub
Lecta SA distributed its 100%
participation in Torraspapel SA
to Paper Financing Holding Sàrl,
before being liquidated on 22
December 2021.
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2.3. Interests in non-consolidated companies

Companies
Catalana d'Iniciatives CR SA - in liquidation
Consorzio Nazionale Imballaggi Scarl
Gas Intensive Scarl
Promotora del Ulla SA
SREP SA
SVL Pilote SAS
SVS SAS
SVT SAS

Country of
incorporation Interest

Activity
In liquidation
Recovery
& Recycling
Purchase of methane by
Italian industries
No operating activity
Recycling of packaging
and paper in France
Logistics
Forwarding agent
Packing

In italic: Non-strategic companies.
Other companies are considered as strategic, even if they
are not consolidated because of the following reasons:
(a) Lecta Group has no control and no significant
influence in these companies.
(b) Immaterial to the Group due to no operating activity.

Control

Comments

Spain
Italy

0.39%
0.0075%

0.39%
0.0075%

(a)
(a)

Italy

0.52%

0.52%

(a)

Spain
France

45.20%
0.41%

45.20%
0.41%

(b)
(a)

France
France
France

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

(a)
(a)
(a)

On 18 December 2020, Lecta France SAS was
incorporated with no operating activity. It was not
consolidated as at 31 December 2020. On 31 March
2021, the activity of direct sales of Specialties in France
was spin-off from Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS to
Lecta France SAS (see Note 2.2). Lecta France SAS is
consolidated as at 31 December 2021.

2.4. Lecta Paper UK Ltd audit exemption
The consolidated subsidiary Lecta Paper UK Ltd is
exempt from the requirements of the Act relating to the
audit of the individual accounts under section 479A of the
Companies Act 2006.
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3. S
 ignificant events
of 2021

3.1. Organization efficiency program
The integration process covers Lecta industrial operations
in Italy, France and Spain, as well as the paper distribution
ones in the same countries and, additionally, Portugal.
Within the Organization efficiency program, Lecta
planned several cost reduction projects. No provision for
restructuring was recognized.

The details of assets and liabilities of Plot Services SrL at
transaction date were as follows (in EUR K):
Transaction
Transaction
Date
Date

ASSETS ASSETS
Property,Property,
plant andplant
equipment
and equipment

2
2
4

2
2
4

Inventories
Inventories
Trade receivables
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Prepayments
Cash & cash
Cashequivalents
& cash equivalents
Current assets
Current assets

3
85
103
9
117
319

3
85
103
9
117
319

TOTAL ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

323

323

10
202
(131)
80
80

10
202
(131)
80
80

81
81
162
162
243

81
81
162
162
243

323

323

For the twelve-month period ended 31 December 2021
Other non-current
Other non-current
receivables
receivables
the restructuring cash cost associated to Lecta efficiency
Non-current
Non-current
assets assets
programs was EUR (6.2) M, reported as “Other one-off
costs” in the Income statement (see Note 11).
Income tax
Income
receivable
tax receivable
Through Organization Efficiency Program, Lecta aims
at maintaining the labor costs stable in spite of salary
inflation and new job positions in relation with the
investments in Specialties.

3.2. Disposal of Plot Services SrL in March
EQUITYEQUITY
& LIABILITIES
& LIABILITIES
2021
The services provided by Plot Services SrL with a
headcount of 8 FTE were no longer in line with the
activity of Polyedra SpA in Italy.

Paid-in capital
Paid-in capital
Share premium
Share premium
Accumulated
Accumulated
net profits
net
(losses)
profits (losses)
Equity holders
Equityofholders
the parent
of the parent
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL EQUITY

On 1 March 2021, Polyedra SpA sold its 100%
Non-current
Non-current
provisions
provisions
participation in Plot Service SrL to a third party against aNon-current
Non-current
liabilitiesliabilities
cash payment of EUR 10 K. As the net assets transferred Trade payables
Trade payables
amounted to EUR 80 K, Lecta reported a capital loss of Current liabilities
Current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
EUR (70) K (see Note 11).
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTALAND
EQUITY
LIABILITIES
AND LIABILITIES

3.3. Transfer of assets to Lecta France SAS in
March 2021

3.4. Anti-dumping duties imposed on
Thermal Paper imports into the US

On 31 March 2021, Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS
transferred the net assets of its Specialty papers direct
sale activity to Lecta France SAS, with accounting and tax
retroactive effects as at 1 January 2021.

Once the investigation reported in last year’s report
had been concluded, US authorities have imposed in
November 2021 anti-dumping duties on the imports of
thermal paper into the US from Germany, Japan, South
Korea and Spain. Despite Lecta’s collaboration with
the authorities, the DOC (Department of Commerce)
determined that a margin of 41.45% existed for
Torraspapel imports. This meant that possible imports as
of the date of imposition would be subject to the importer
depositing the duties with the US customs authorities.
Lecta has therefore sought alternative markets to its
thermal paper sales since such date.

On 16 April 2021, Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS made
a distribution in kind of all Lecta France SAS shares to
Condat SAS. Since that date, Lecta France SAS was a
100% participation of Condat SAS.
The transfer and the distribution in kind had no impact on
the consolidated financial statements of Lecta Group.
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4. L
 ecta capital structure
and Significant events
of 2020
4.1. Recapitalization
4.1.1. Main steps
On 1 November 2019, Lecta SA announced that a
majority of the holders of its Notes issued in 2016
(“Noteholders” and “2016 Notes”), holders of the
majority of the debt under its RCF, and the Group
had executed a Lock-Up Agreement (“LUA”). Those
parties agreed to support the implementation
of a comprehensive recapitalization transaction
(“Recapitalization”) aiming to materially deleverage the
Group’s balance sheet and enhance its liquidity position
to allow it to continue its transformation into a specialty
paper company, to be controlled by the Noteholders
following the completion of the Recapitalization.
On 27 November 2019, Lecta SA announced that it
had received consents to the LUA from (i) 83% of the
aggregate outstanding principal amount under the 2016
Notes and (ii) 69% of the outstanding principal amount
under the RCF. These consents exceeded the thresholds
required under the LUA. Accordingly, Lecta SA had
to seek to effect the Recapitalization via an English
scheme of arrangement relating to the 2016 Notes (the
“Scheme”) once certain other conditions to launch the
Scheme had been achieved.
On 5 December 2019, Lecta SA announced that it had
received over 92% consent to the Recapitalization
from the Noteholders. In addition, it announced that
conditions to launch the Scheme via the issuance of a
Practice Statement Letter (“PSL”) were satisfied. The
PSL - a copy was available at www.lucid-is.com/lecta,
and via Euroclear Bank SA/NV and/or Clearstream Bank
SA, and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange - enabled the
Noteholders to consider the issues to be put before a UK
Court at a convening hearing.
By an order dated 19 December 2019, the UK Court had
directed that a meeting of the company and the Scheme
Creditors had to be convened on or about 23 January
2020 for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit,
approving the Scheme proposed.
On 23 January 2020, the meeting was held, and the
required majority of the Scheme Creditors approved the
Scheme.

On 28 January 2020, the UK Court sanctioned the
proposed Scheme, and an order was delivered to the
registrar of companies on 30 January 2020.
On 4 February 2020, the Recapitalization was
implemented via the transfer of Sub Lecta SA to be
indirectly held by Lecta Ltd - a newly incorporated UK
company and new parent company of the Group - and
the exchange of 2016 Notes to new longer dated debt
instruments and equity. The Recapitalization resulted in
an improved capital structure for the Lecta Ltd Group.
In addition, Lecta Ltd Group announced that it had
entered into an agreement with NatWest Markets Plc to
provide EUR 115 M super senior facilities (“New SSF”)
– consisting of a super senior EUR 60 M term loan and
a super senior EUR 55 M RCF – to refinance and replace
the existing EUR 65 M super senior RCF.
Following the Recapitalization, Lecta Ltd Group benefitted
from:
• A delevered capital structure reflecting the conversion
of EUR 600 M of 2016 Notes into new debt and equity
instruments and the payment of a consent fee to
eligible holders of the 2016 Notes in connection with
the Recapitalization, consisting of:
–E
 UR 200 M* senior secured notes due 2025, bearing
an interest rate of 3-month Euribor (with a floor at
0%) + 6.000%;
–E
 UR 100 M junior notes due 2028, bearing an interest
rate of 3-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%) + 0.25%
cash + 7.000% PIK (annual capitalization); and
–1
 00% of the equity in Lecta Ltd.
•M
 aterially lower annual cash interest burden (reduction
in excess of EUR 20 M);
•L
 onger-dated maturities which provided the Lecta
Group with increased runway to complete its ongoing
transformation effort;
•S
 ignificant incremental liquidity through (i) new /
upsized receivables financing arrangements and (ii)
incremental borrowing capacity under the SSF; and
• A new shareholder base featuring institutions with
extensive experience investing in the sector.
In addition, different measures of support of the Group’s
operations in France from the French authorities were
confirmed shortly after the implementation of the
Recapitalization.
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As at 31 December 2019 and until the Recapitalization
implemented on 4 February 2020, Lecta SA was the
parent company of the Group. Since the Recapitalization,
Lecta Ltd is the new parent company of the Group,
and Lecta SA is no longer part of the Group and was
liquidated.
While this Recapitalization resulted in a significant
deleveraging and the simultaneous provision of new
liquidity, the Group was impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic and tighter working capital terms. In this
context, the Group applied extensive operational actions
to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 and preserve liquidity.
In parallel, Lecta Ltd was in discussions with its existing
security holders and relationship banks.
On 16 July 2020, Lecta Ltd and its subsidiaries completed
the second portion of the Recapitalization of the Group’s
balance sheet, which included:
• A cash capital increase of EUR 50 M;
• The issuance of EUR 55.5 M* new Senior Secured
Notes due 2025 with an OID of 10%;
Note: 55,555,555 warrants were granted for free to the
new senior note holders, giving them the right to subscribe
up to 225,000,000 new Lecta Ltd shares at a subscription
price of 0.01€ per new share for the period commencing
on 16 July 2021 and ending on 16 July 2025;

• The implementation of EUR 50.4 M ICO loans
guaranteed by the Spanish State;
• The cancellation in full of EUR 100 M Junior Notes
issued in February 2020.
In addition, the Group obtained from its banks the
replacement of short term uncommitted confirming
lines with EUR 40 M long dated committed ones,
which provide additional stability to working capital
management, and the removal of the EUR 115 M SSFA
covenants during the first 24 months.
Following this second portion of the Recapitalization,
more than 75% of Lecta Ltd share capital is held by funds
managed and advised by Apollo Global Management,
Cheyne Capital, and Tikehau Capital.
The Recapitalization allows the Group to not only
overcome the challenges presented by the COVID-19
pandemic, but also to continue its transformation and
emerge with a solid liquidity position and healthy balance
sheet. The following chart outlines the corporate and
financing structure of the Lecta Ltd Group after giving
effect to the Recapitalization:

Lecta Ltd
(UK)

Paper Industries Financing Sàrl
(Luxembourg)
€255.5m New
Senior Secured
Notes

Paper Industries Intermediate
Financing Sàrl
(Luxembourg)
Paper Industries Holding Sàrl
(Luxembourg)

€75m New Super
Senior Term Loan
€40m New Super
Senior RCF

Sub Lecta SA
(Luxembourg)

Torraspapel SA
(Spain)

Condat SA
(France)

Cartiere del Garda
SpA
(Italy)
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4.1.2. Accounting treatment
IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations
Before 23 January 2020, with the positive vote of
the Scheme Creditors, and before the sanction of the
Scheme by the UK Court on 28 January 2020, it was not
highly probable that the Recapitalization project would
become effective.
Moreover, because of the pledge on Sub Lecta SA
shares granted by Lecta SA to the 2016 Noteholders
and RCF lenders, effective on 31 December 2019, Lecta
SA was not able to sell its participation in Sub Lecta
SA. This pledge was released only on 4 February 2020.
Consequently, before 4 February 2020, the assets (or
disposal group) were not available for immediate sale
because of the pledge.
As a conclusion, IFRS 5 criteria were not met at 2019
year-end: at that date, the disposal was not highly
probable and the assets were not available for immediate
sale due to the pledge on Sub Lecta SA shares.
IFRS 9 Financial instruments / fees & costs in relation
with the Recapitalization
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments
The transaction was viewed as an exchange of old debt
against two different instruments, a new debt and new
equity instruments.
After analysis, it was concluded that on or around the
Recapitalization date:
– The old debt was quoted on an active market for around
50% of its principal amount (EUR 600 M x 50% = EUR
300 M);
– The new debt was quoted on an active market* for
around 100% of its principal amount (EUR 300 M);
hence, the new debt had to be recognized for its
principal amount (EUR 300 M);
– The new equity instruments, not quoted, had to be
recognized by difference to reflect the fair value of the
financial liability extinguished [EUR 300 M - EUR 300 M
= EUR 0 M);

– The difference between the carrying amount of the
old debt (EUR 600 M principal + EUR 20 M accrued
interests = EUR 620 M) on one hand, the new debt and
the new equity instruments (EUR 300 M + EUR 0 M =
EUR 300 M) on the other hand, i.e. a gain of EUR 320
M, was reported as “Finance income” in the Income
statement (see Note 12);
– The fees & costs incurred in the Recapitalization had
to be expensed and were reported as “Recapitalization
fees & costs” in the Income statement (see Note 6);
– The remaining fees & costs included in the former
financial debt, amounting to EUR 6.2 M, also had to be
expensed and were reported as “Finance expense” in
the Income statement on 4 February 2020 (see Note 12).

* the notes issued in 2016 and 2020 were and are listed on the
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and traded on
the Euro MTF market

4.2. Goodwill impairment
The COVID-19 pandemic led the Group to revise its
2020-2023 cash flow projections for the closing of its 1st
Quarter 2020 accounts. The main impacts of the revision
consisted in reductions in volume of sales and margin on
variable costs.
In consideration of the integrated organization of Lecta
focused on production and sale of paper only, the volume
of intragroup transactions, the interchangeability of
products between mills, Lecta considered one cashgenerating unit. Consequently, goodwill was tested
for impairment at Group level only. This was consistent
with the Note 5 prepared in accordance with IFRS 8
“Operating Segments”.
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit was
determined based on value-in-use calculation (see Note
1.21). This was based upon revised and approved 2020 to
2023 cash-flow projections part of Lecta financial plan.
As mentioned in Note 1.01, Lecta Group Management
made assumptions for the years to come. Conservative
assumptions on the annual growth rate were applied
to the revised cash flow projections beyond 2023. The
WACC rate applied to cash flow projections was 9.5%
(like in 2019 and 2018).
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As at 31 March 2020, the test led to the total impairment
of the goodwill, i.e. a charge of EUR (118) M reported as
“Goodwill impairment” in the Income statement (see
Notes 11 and 17).

4.3. Derecognition of some Deferred Tax
Asset
The COVID-19 pandemic led the Group to revise its 20202023 cash flow projections. The main impacts of the
revision consisted in reductions in volume of sales and
margin on variable costs.
As at 31 March 2020, this revision led to the
derecognition of EUR (13) M of deferred tax asset on
tax losses reported as “Income tax” in the Income
statement (see Note 32.3).

4.4. Adjustments in Energy
In June and July 2020, the Spanish Authorities published
a new Royal Decree (23/2020) and some information
about the computation of Ro (“Retribución a la
operación”) used to determine the remuneration for the
sale of electricity to the grid since the 4th Quarter 2018.
This translated in the booking of two adjustments in
energy reported as “Other operating costs except oneoff costs” in the Income statement, an income of EUR
3.8 M in the 2nd Quarter and a charge of EUR (4.9) M in
the 3rd Quarter of 2020. There was no impact in the 4th
Quarter of 2020.

4.5. Assets Purchase Agreement with Avery
Dennison
On 13 October 2020, Lecta announced that it has
reached an agreement for the acquisition of Avery
Dennison Offset Sheets business in the Europe - Middle
East - North Africa (EMENA) region. The German Federal
Cartel Office approved the transaction. Lecta took over
the manufacture and sale of Avery Dennison’s portfolio
of FASSON® and JAC® branded self-adhesive papers
and films in EMENA. Lecta started manufacturing
these under a special limited licensing agreement
with Avery Dennison in the 1st Quarter 2021, keeping
the FASSON® and JAC® brands available through the
existing network of distributors. Lecta brings to current
Avery Dennison’s customers in the EMENA markets its

extensive knowledge in the manufacture of self-adhesive
materials with a strong specialization in sheets and
facestock materials, as well as its extensive experience in
commercial management and service to Distributors.
This acquisition is fully aligned with the Company’s
transformation process and its reorientation towards
the specialty markets. Lecta’s self-adhesive materials
production plant has received large investments in
recent years that place it in the state of the art in both
production technology and process automation, which
guarantees high quality standards for our customers.
Avery Dennison and Lecta are working together for a
very efficient transition process and a profitable business
development for all the groups involved.

4.6. Appointment of a new CFO
Lecta Group has appointed Alain Gaudré as Lecta Group
CFO. Starting on 26 October 2020, he is reporting to
Lecta Group CEO. Alain Gaudré was also appointed as an
additional member to the Board of Directors of Lecta Ltd
on 21 January 2021 (see Note 40.1).
Alain Gaudré has been working as CFO across different
industries, including the automotive and packaging
industries. He is experienced in the international and
industrial environments.

4.7. Coronavirus pandemic
To mitigate the risks associated to the COVID-19
pandemic, the authorities of the countries where Lecta
is operating imposed lockdowns, curfews, or limited the
circulation of people.
During this challenging time, Lecta’s focus was on
supporting its employees and customers, and protecting
its assets and cash.
Lecta successfully worked to avoid disruptions caused by
COVID-19, while at the same time acting responsibly to
do what it could do to prevent further spread of the virus.
COVID-19 affected the demand in paper, and
consequently Lecta’s deliveries, revenue and EBITDA.
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5. Information by
Operating Segment

Lecta Group applied IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” as of
1 January 2009. The Chief Operating Decision Makers
analyze the group activity through three lines of products
and services, within a unique operating segment,
“production and sale of paper” (see Note 17).

Following items are not included: “Goodwill”, “Investment
in associates”, “Unlisted” securities, “Deferred income
tax assets”, “Non-current income tax receivable”, “Other
non-current receivables” and “Non-current assets held
for sale”.
The intra-segment and inter-segment sales are made at
market price.

The definition of products and services is:
• Coated Woodfree consists in the sale of fine paper
manufactured by Lecta. The Coated Woodfree is nearly
exclusively sold to third parties;
• Specialties consist in the sale of specialty papers
manufactured by Lecta. The Specialties are nearly
exclusively sold to third parties;
• Purchased Products consist in the sale of products
purchased from third parties.

For products and services reporting, definitions are as
follows:
• Net sales of Paper consist of “Revenue” reported in the
Income statement less “Sales of energy” (see Note 8).
• EBITDA is the EBITDA reported in the Income
statement. There is no significant non-cash expense
within the EBITDA.

The reporting of “Operating Segment” has been modified
to replace “Revenue” (Net Sales of Paper and Sales
of Energy; see Note 8) with “Net Sales of Paper”. The
rationale is that the activity of Lecta is to produce and sell
paper. In this context, Lecta operates cogeneration plants
that burn gas and produce electricity and steam. The
production of steam is internally consumed, while the
production of electricity can be internally consumed or
sold to the grid. For “Operating Segment” reporting, the
sale of electricity to the grid is not considered as revenue
but as reduction in energy cost to produce paper.

(in EUR M)
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products
Net Sales of Paper
Sales of Energy
Lecta Group

2021
541
505
151
1,197
144
1,340

2020
412
395
127
934
48
983

• Non-current assets is the sum of “Property, plant and
equipment”, “Investment properties”, “Other intangible
assets” and “Biological assets” reported in the
Statement of Financial Position.
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5.1. Information about profit
or loss
The following table compares
sales and profit information of the
products and services for the year
ended 31 December 2021, with the
prior year. It considers the above
definitions:

Net Sales of Paper
Products & Services
(in EUR M)
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products
Total

Jan to Dec Jan to Dec
2021
2020
541
412
505
395
151
127
1,197
935

Products & Services
(in EUR M)
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products
Total

Jan to Dec Jan to Dec
2021
2020
11
5
37
11
9
5
57
20

Products & Services
(in EUR M)
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products
Total

Jan to Dec Jan to Dec
2021
2020
2.1%
1.1%
2.7%
7.3%
6.0%
4.0%
4.8%
2.2%

Change
absolute
%
+128
+31%
+110
+28%
+24
+19%
+262
+28%

EBITDA
Change
absolute
+7
+26
+4
+37

%
+149%
+248%
+78%
+183%

EBITDA Margin
Change
Percentage points
+1.0
+4.6
+2.0
+2.6

Breakdown of Net Sales of Paper and EBITDA by Product and Service:
Coated Woodfree
Specialties
Purchased products

2021 EBITDA

2021 EBITDA
PP
16%
Spec.

CWF
20%

Net Sales of Paper
Dec 2021 YTD Dec 2020 YTD
45%
44%
42%
42%
13%
14%
100%
100%

Change
+1pp
-0pp
-1pp

Dec 2021 YTD
20%
64%
16%
100%

EBITDA
Dec 2020 YTD
22%
52%
25%
100%

Change
-3pp
+12pp
-9pp

2020 EBITDA

2020 EBITDA

PP
25%

CWF
22%

CWF

SPEC
64%

SPEC
52%
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5.2. Information about geographical areas
The following tables present Net Sales of Paper to third
parties and Non-current assets of the Group’s products and
services for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Geographical
location of customers
(in EUR M)
Europe
Americas
Rest of world
Total

Net sales of paper
Jan to Dec Jan to Dec
2021
2020
1,001
763
111
103
84
69
1,196
935

Geographical
location of assets
(in EUR M)
UK
Italy
France
Spain
Other
Total
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Non-current assets
31 Dec
31 Dec
2021
2020
0
0
81
68
113
60
345
358
0
0
539
486
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6. Personnel

The Group employed circa 2,986 FTE people in the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Companies
Alto Garda Power SrL
Cartiere del Garda SpA
Cogeneración Motril SA
Cogeneración Sant Joan SL
Condat SAS
Lecta Benelux SA
Lecta Deutschland GmbH
Lecta France
Lecta Ltd
Lecta Maroc Sàrl
Lecta North America Inc
Lecta Paper UK Ltd
Lecta SA
Paper Industries Financing Sàrl
Paper Industries Holding Sàrl
Paper Industries Intermediate Financing Sàrl
Plot Service SrL
Polyedra SpA
Sub Lecta SA
Torraspapel Distribución SA
Torraspapel Malmenayde Sàrl
Torraspapel Portugal Unipessoal Lda
Torraspapel SA
Total

The following schedule presents the number of
employees at year-end, computed on a full-time
equivalent basis. It includes permanent and temporary
employees.

DEC
2021

0
469
0
0
418
7
14
10
0
2
10
14
0
0
0
0
0
163
0
97
79
22
1,680
2,986

DEC
2020
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0
0
418
7
14
0
0
2
12
13
0
0
0
0
8
166
0
114
93
21
1,608
2,952
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7. Research and
Development costs

(in EUR K)
Costs

2021
5,088

2020
3,978

All these costs were expensed as incurred, in compliance
with the accounting policy (see Note 1.15).

8. Revenue
(in EUR K)
Net Sales of Paper
Sales of energy
Revenue

January to December
2021
2020
1,196,254
934,828
143,612
48,309
1,339,866
983,138

(in metric tonnes)
Volume sold of paper

2021
1,184,266

2020
937,794

(in MWh)
Volume sold of energy

2021
1,122,621

2020
928,388

9. Depreciation
(in EUR K)
Depreciation of Property, plant and equipment
Depreciation costs of the Right-of-Use
Amortization of Grants
Income / (Expense)

Notes
(16)
(16)
(30)

2021
(49,431)
(4,587)
1,642
(52,377)

2020
(52,230)
(4,815)
2,350
(54,695)

10. Amortization
(in EUR K) (in EUR K)
Note
Amortization
Amortization
of Other intangible
of Otherassets
intangible assets (18)
Income / (Expense)
Income / (Expense)

2021
Note
(18)
(126)
(126)

2021
2020
(126)
(169)
(126)
(169)
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The income (expense) only consisted
2020
in(169)
the rights to connect to the
electricity network of the Spanish
(169)

cogeneration plants that were
amortized straight line over a period of
10 years, with an impact of EUR (126)
K in 2021 and EUR (169) K in 2020.
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11. One-off costs

January to December
2021
2020
0
(118,252)
(1,048)
(42,308)
(290)
2
(70)
0
(6,167)
(8,428)
(3,458)
(2,019)
(9,985)
(10,445)
(11,033)
(171,005)

(in EUR K)
Goodwill impairment
Recapitalization fees & costs
Property, plant and equipment
Unlisted securities
Organization efficiency program
Other items
Other one-off costs
Income / (Expense)

Goodwill impairment
This line was the consequence of the impairment of goodwill (see Notes 4.3 and 17).

Recapitalization fees & costs
The fees and costs associated to the Recapitalization of the Group are reported in this line. They amounted to EUR (1)
M in 2021 and (42.3) M in 2020 (see Note 3.1).

Property, plant and equipment
2021

2020

The charge of EUR (290) K was mainly due to a capital
loss on the disposal of a steam turbine in Alto Garda
Power SrL (see Note 16).

The profit of EUR 2 K was mainly due to the sale of
some obsolete equipment by Torraspapel SA
(see Note 16).

Unlisted securities
2021
The charge of EUR (70) K in 2021 was due to a capital
loss on the disposal of Plot Service SrL (see Note 3.2.

2020
Nothing to be reported.

Organization efficiency program
It is a body of several plans, aimed at improving the group’s competitiveness (see Note 3.2):

2021

2020

EUR (6,167) K cost included EUR (4,887) K of
indemnities to redundant employees, and the balance
of EUR (1,280) K consisted of projects aiming at
improving the efficiency of the Group and simplifying its
organization.

EUR (8,428) K cost included EUR (4,036) K of
indemnities to redundant employees, and the balance
of EUR (4,392) K consisted of projects aiming at
improving the efficiency of the Group and simplifying its
organization.

Other items
2021
This line included a charge of EUR (3,076) K in Condat
SAS for the Line 8 conversion to produce Specialties.

2020
This line included tax charges of EUR (1,118) K in
Cartiere del Garda SpA and EUR (395) K in Alto Garda
Power SrL following the revaluation of some of their
tangible assets.
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12. Finance income
(expense)

(in EUR K)
Interest on Senior and Junior Notes
Amortization of issue costs on Senior Notes
S/T Senior and Junior Notes (issued in 2020)

2021
(16,110)
(1,200)
(17,309)

2020
(16,175)
(556)
(16,730)

Interest on Floating and Fixed Rate Notes
Amortization of issue costs on Floating and Fixed Rate Notes
S/T Floating and Fixed Rate Notes (issued in 2016)

0
0
0

(3,697)
(6,182)
(9,878)

Financial income in relation with the Recapitalization

0

423,150

(610)

(788)

(8,750)
(8,750)

(6,835)
(6,835)

(12,579)
(3,319)
1,368
(52)
(1,835)
341
(2,325)
1,709
(46,779)

(9,470)
(2,753)
642
(81)
(7)
658
(2,373)
424,451
(48,916)

Lease obligations
Interest on other long-term borrowings
S/T Other long-term borrowings
Trade receivables: early payment discounts
Trade receivables: non-recourse assignment cost
Trade payables: discounts on anticipated payments
Finance cost in the provision on employees benefits
Issue costs expensed as incurred
Other financial incomes
Other financial expenses
Finance income
Finance expense

The following lines of the table are also commented in
Note 4.1:
– “Interest on Senior and Junior Notes” of EUR (16,110)
K consisted in the interest expense on the new Notes
issued on 4 February 2020 and 16 July 2020;
– “Amortization of issue costs on Senior Notes” of EUR
(1,200) K consisted in the amortization of the 10% OID
included in the new Notes issued on 16 July 2020;
– “Issue costs expensed as incurred” of EUR (1,835) K
were in relation with a borrowing in Torraspapel SA (EUR
(100) K) and the one-year extension fee for the EUR 115
M SSFA (EUR (1,725) K).
All fees & costs in relation with the Recapitalization were
reported in the “One-off costs” in the income statement
(see Notes 4.1 and 11).
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13. Income tax in the
Income statement

13.1. Overview

(in EUR K)
Current tax
Deferred tax
Income / (Expense)

January to December
2021
2020
(2,770)
(2,669)
(2,063)
(1,354)
(4,834)
(4,023)

Deferred tax
2021

2020

The deferred tax charge of EUR (2,063) K was the result
of:

The deferred tax charge of EUR (1,354) K was the result
of:

• EUR (2,063) K of deferred tax charge on temporary
differences.

• EUR (1,001) K of net deferred tax charge on tax losses
derecognized or used against 2020 taxable profits;
• EUR (353) K of deferred tax charge on temporary
differences.

Lecta Ltd FY2021 Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements

99

NOTES

13.2. Effective income tax rate
(in EUR K)
Profit (loss) before tax
Nominal tax rate in UK

2021
(51,167)
19.00%

Tax at nominal tax rate

9,722

(32,291)

Impact of local tax rates (1):

3,059

(10,613)

In the current year

3,059

(10,613)

0

0

In the forthcoming years
Adjustments on usable tax losses (2):

(14,290)

Recognition (derecognition) of tax losses

2020
169,952
19.00%

(34,509)

(14,290)

(34,551)

0

42

Other adjustments
Permanent differences on tax bases (3)

(2,714)

69,757

Other adjustments (4)
P&L income tax
Effective tax rate

(610)
(4,834)
(9.4)%

3,633
(4,023)
2.4 %

2021

2020

(1) Impact of local tax rates:
• The local tax rates in the current year were generally
higher than the UK actual nominal tax rate of 19%.
Applied to the sum of locally computed profit (loss)
before tax, negative in 2021, the difference in tax rates
generated an impact of EUR 3,059 K;

(1) Impact of local tax rates:
•T
 he local tax rates in the current year were generally
higher than the UK actual nominal tax rate of 19%.
Applied to the sum of locally computed profit (loss)
before tax, positive in 2020, the difference in tax rates
generated an impact of EUR (10,613) K;

(2) Adjustments on usable tax losses:
• Some deferred tax assets on tax losses were
derecognized or not recognized for a total of EUR
(14,290) K;

(2) Adjustments on usable tax losses:
•S
 ome deferred tax assets on tax losses were
derecognized or not recognized for a total of EUR
(34,551) K;

(3) Permanent differences on tax bases:
• Non-deductible depreciation generated an impact of
EUR (369) K;
• Thin capitalization rules on Finance expense generated
an impact of EUR (4,327) K;
• Other definitively non-taxable profits (recapitalization,
intercompany dividends) or non-deductible expenses
(goodwill impairment) resulted in an impact of EUR
(2,714) K;

(3) Permanent differences on tax bases:
•N
 on-deductible depreciation generated an impact of
EUR 101 K;
•T
 hin capitalization rules on Finance expense generated
an impact of EUR (3,701) K;
•O
 ther definitively non-taxable profits (recapitalization,
intercompany dividends) or non-deductible expenses
(goodwill impairment) resulted in an impact of EUR
69,757 K;

(4) Other adjustments included:
• The IRAP (“Imposta Regionale sulle Attivita
Produttive”), the CVAE (“Cotisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée
des Entreprises”), and other similar taxes that were
computed on a different base than the taxable earnings;
• Temporary differences.

(4) Other adjustments included:
•T
 he IRAP (“Imposta Regionale sulle Attivita
Produttive”), the CVAE (“Cotisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée
des Entreprises”), and other similar taxes that were
computed on a different base than the taxable earnings;
•T
 emporary differences.
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14. Earnings per share

(in EUR K)
Profit (loss) after tax attributable to the
equity holders of the parent (in EUR K)
Income statement
Pro-forma interest on warrants
Total diluted
Weighted number of shares
Basic shares
Effect of dilution from Warrants
Total
Earnings per share (in EUR)
Basic
Diluted

January to December
2021
2020

(58,246)
0
(58,246)

163,995
0
163,995

2,791,822,912 2,775,000,000
208,177,088
225,000,000
3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

“Basic earnings per share” were computed on the basis
of the weighted average number of shares issued after
deduction of the weighted average number of shares
owned by Lecta Group consolidated companies (none for
these two years).

-0.02
-0.02

0.06
0.05

“Diluted earnings per share” took into account share
equivalents having a dilutive effect after deduction of the
weighted average number of share equivalents owned
by Lecta Group consolidated companies –none for these
two years). The dilutive effect of warrants was calculated
using the notional investment method for which the Net
earnings were adjusted to include a notional after tax
interest income on proceeds coming from the sale of
warrants.

Nota
IAS 33 paragraph 43 requires that the diluted earnings per share does not assume
conversion, exercise or other issue of potential ordinary shares that would have an antidilutive effect on earnings per share.

15. Dividends paid and
proposed
Lecta Ltd did not pay dividend in 2020 and 2021.
Dividends of EUR 1,320K and EUR 1,200K were paid to
Non-controlling interests in 2020 and 2021 respectively.
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16. Property, plant and
equipment and
Investment properties
16.1. Property, plant and equipment

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Reclassification in / (out)
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2020
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Reclassification in / (out)
Acquisition of assets
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2021
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount

Fixtures
& fittings

Work in
progress

Land &
Building

Leased
Motor
vehicles

Fixtures
& fittings

7,719
(7,538)
181

103,123
(66,895)
36,229

24,301
0
24,301

25,702
(4,915)
20,787

2,367
(1,819)
548

272
(267)
5

1,805,652
(1,318,390)
487,262

11,379
(39,008)
0
1,436
0

6
(137)
0
0
0

11,178
(7,453)
(2)
860
(0)

30,067
0
0
(2,297)
0

0
(4,342)
0
0
1

211
(468)
(9)
0
(1)

0
(5)
0
0
0

53,441
(57,045)
(11)
0
(0)

255,452
(139,904)
115,548

1,395,856
(1,137,418)
258,438

7,362
(7,312)
50

114,985
(74,172)
40,812

52,071
0
52,071

25,702
(9,256)
16,446

2,255
(1,975)
280

266
(266)
(0)

1,853,949
(1,370,304)
483,645

0
(5,550)
(224)
982
0
0

6,201
(34,433)
(284)
18,487
0
(0)

0
(129)
0
15
0
0

223
(9,320)
(6)
5,278
(2)
1

71,219
0
0
(24,761)
314
0

0
(4,389)
0
0
0
6

384
(198)
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
(0)

78,027
(54,018)
(514)
(0)
311
7

256,177
(145,421)
110,756

1,415,221
(1,166,812)
248,409

7,108
(7,172)
(64)

119,439
(82,454)
36,985

98,843
0
98,843

24,747
(12,684)
12,064

2,042
(1,576)
466

264
(264)
(0)

1,923,842
(1,416,383)
507,458

Land &
Building

Plant &
machinery

254,852
(134,272)
120,580

1,387,316
(1,102,685)
284,631

600
(5,632)
0
0
0

Purchased
Motor
vehicles

The variation of Opening balance when applying the yearend exchange rate is isolated in “Exchange adjustments”.

TOTAL

The balance of EUR 53.4 M in 2020 can be compared with
the “Additions” of EUR 78.0 M in 2021. They are both
broken down in the following table.

Additions
(in EUR K)
Major paper machine rebuilds
Cost reduction and productivity improvement
Maintenance
Information technology
Environment and safety
Total Capex = Additions
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2021
1,624
52,833
17,185
2,968
3,418
78,027

2020
4
32,917
13,907
4,475
2,138
53,441
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2021

2020

Cost reduction and productivity improvement Capex
were allocated as follows:

Cost reduction and productivity improvement Capex
were allocated as follows:

• EUR 3.3 M in Spain, of which EUR 2 M for the Almazán
Self-adhesive hot-melt phase 1;
• EUR 49.4 M in France, essentially in relation with
the conversion of Line 8 from CWF to Specialties
production.
• EUR 0.1 M in Italy.

• EUR 5.1 M in Spain, of which EUR 2.8 M for the
Almazán Self-adhesive hot-melt phase 1;
• EUR 27.8 M in France, essentially in relation with
the conversion of Line 8 from CWF to Specialties
production.

Maintenance Capex were allocated as follows:

Maintenance Capex were allocated as follows:

• EUR 7.1 M in Italy, of which EUR 5.7 M for the
revamping and overhaul of the cogeneration,
• EUR 3.2 M in France;
• EUR 6.8 M in Spain, of which EUR 2.7 M for the
overhaul of the cogeneration plants;

• EUR 5.0 M in Italy, of which EUR 3.8 M for the
revamping and overhaul of the cogeneration,
• EUR 1.1 M in France;
• EUR 7.8 M in Spain, of which EUR 3.0 M for the
overhaul of the cogeneration plants;

Information Technology Capex amounted to EUR 3.0 M.
consisting in the renovation of ERP and personal tools;

Information Technology Capex amounted to EUR 4.5 M.
They included actions in relation with the implementation
of an ERP and the renovation of other software and
hardware;

Environment and safety Capex were allocated as follows:
• EUR 0.4 M in Italy;
• EUR 0.7 M in France;
• EUR 2.3 M in Spain, including the treatment of waste
water and the reduction of NOX emissions.

Environment and safety Capex were allocated as follows:
• EUR 0.4 M in Italy;
• EUR 0.1 M in France;
• EUR 1.7 M in Spain, including the treatment of waste
water and the reduction of NOX emissions.
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16.2. Investment properties

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount

Purchased
Investment
properties

Disposals
Reclassification in / (out)
At 31 December 2020
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount
Disposals
Reclassification in / (out)
At 31 December 2021
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount

Leased
Investment
properties

TOTAL

1,363
0
1,363

0
0
0

1,363
0
1,363

0
0

0
0

0
0

1,363
0
1,363

0
0
0

1,363
0
1,363

0
0

0
0

0
0

1,363
0
1,363

0
0
0

1,363
0
1,363

As at 31 December 2021, the detail of Purchased Investment properties was as follows:

(in EUR K)
Plot of land in Amorebieta/Carmen
Plot of land in Sarrià del Ter
Total

At 31 December 2021
Depreciation
Net carrying
Cost
& Impairment
amount
540
0
540
823
0
823
1,363
0
1,363
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value
1,254
823
2,077
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17. Goodwill

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Gross amount
Impairment
Amortization
Net carrying amount

Impairment test of Goodwill:

190,141
(65,179)
(6,710)
118,252

Goodwill impairment
At 31 December 2020
Gross amount
Impairment
Amortization
Net carrying amount

(118,252)

Goodwill impairment

0

At 31 December 2021
Gross amount
Impairment
Amortization
Net carrying amount

190,141
(183,431)
(6,710)
0

190,141
(183,431)
(6,710)
0

The COVID-19 pandemic led the Group to revise its
2020-2023 cash flow projections for the closing of its 1st
Quarter 2020 accounts. The main impacts of the revision
consisted in reductions in volume of sales and margin on
variable costs.
In consideration of the integrated organization of Lecta
focused on production and sale of paper only, the
volume of intragroup transactions, the interchangeability
of products between mills, Lecta considers one cashgenerating unit. Consequently, goodwill was tested
for impairment at Group level only. This was consistent
with the Note 5 prepared in accordance with IFRS 8
“Operating Segments”.
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit was
determined based on value-in-use calculation (see Note
1.21). This was based upon revised and approved 2020 to
2023 cash-flow projections part of Lecta financial plan.
As mentioned in Note 1.01, Lecta Group Management
made assumptions for the years to come. Conservative
assumptions on the annual growth rate were applied
to the revised cash flow projections beyond 2023. The
WACC rate applied to cash flow projections was 9.5%
(like in 2019 and 2018).
As at 31 March 2020, the test led to the total impairment
of the goodwill, i.e. a charge of EUR (118,252) K reported
as “Goodwill impairment” in the Income statement (see
Note 11).
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18. Other intangible assets

CO 2
emission
rights

Other
intangible
assets

TOTAL

7,793
0
7,793

8,590
(8,295)
295

16,383
(8,295)
8,088

(1,247)
0
1,522
(7,266)

0
(169)
0
0

(1,247)
(169)
1,522
(7,266)

802
0
802

8,590
(8,464)
126

9,393
(8,464)
929

Additions
Amortization charge
Change in fair value through Income statement
Reclassification in / (out)

27,655
0
(5)
(3,476)

5,079
(126)
0
0

32,734
(126)
(5)
(3,476)

At 31 December 2021
Gross amount
Amortization & Impairment
Net carrying amount

24,976
0
24,976

13,669
(8,590)
5,079

38,646
(8,590)
30,056

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Gross amount
Amortization & Impairment
Net carrying amount
Additions
Amortization charge
Change in fair value through Income statement
Reclassification in / (out)
At 31 December 2020
Gross amount
Amortization & Impairment
Net carrying amount

The CO2 emission rights (“ER”)
reported in “Other intangible
assets” only consist in purchased
CER (Certified Emission Reduction)
as the EUA (EU Allowance) are
granted for free (see Note 1.16).
The reclassification of EUR (3,476)
K in “CO2 emission rights” is the
counterpart of the reclassification
of “CO2 emission rights” reported
in “Provisions” (see Note 31).
It consisted in the surrender
of non-granted ER against the
extinguishment of the deficit of 2020.

In 2021, the variation of ER was as follows:

(in tonnes)
Emissions
in 2021
(757,081)

Grants
in 2021
299,151

Excess/(Deficit)
in 2021
(457,930)

Estimated Net
position as at
31 Dec 2020
(74,234)

Complementary
Excess/(Deficit)
in 2020
75,701

Purchases
in 2021
449,085

Net position as
at
31 Dec 2021
(7,378)

Purchases
in 2020

Estimated Net
position as at
31 Dec 2020

As at 31 December 2021, the Net carrying amount of EUR 24,976 K consisted
of 450,552 tonnes of EUA, 449,085 tonnes purchased in 2021 plus 1,467
tonnes excess coming from 2020.
In 2020, the variation of ER was as follows:

(in tonnes)
Estimated
Emissions
in 2020
(630,386)

Grants
in 2020
443,160

Estimated
Excess/(Deficit)
in 2020
(187,226)

Estimated Net
position as at
31 Dec 2019

Complementary
Excess/(Deficit)
in 2019

4,142

(3,586)

112,436

(74,234)

As at 31 December 2020, the Net carrying amount of EUR 802 K consisted of
112,992 tonnes of EUA, 112,436 tonnes purchased in 2020 plus 556 tonnes
excess coming from 2019.
The associated liability is reported in “Provision” (see Note 31)
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19. Unlisted securities

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Fair value
Additions
In(de)creases of fair value through Equity
Impairment profit (charge)
Disposals
Reclassification in / (out)
Merger

77
0
0
0
0
0
0

At 31 December 2020
Fair value

77

Additions
In(de)creases of fair value through Equity
Impairment profit (charge)
Disposals
Reclassification in / (out)

(0)
0
0
0
(0)

At 31 December 2021
Fair value

77

At 31 December 2021, the detail of the unlisted securities was as follows:

Companies Companies
Catalana d'Iniciatives
Catalana d'Iniciatives
CR SA (in liquidation)
CR SA (in liquidation)
Consorzio Nazionale
ConsorzioImballaggi
Nazionale Imballaggi
Scarl
Scarl
Gas Intensive
GasScarl
Intensive Scarl
Promotora Promotora
del Ulla SA del Ulla SA
CITEO groupCITEO
(prev.group
SREP (prev.
SA andSREP
Ecofolio
SA and
SAS)
Ecofolio
SREP SA
SAS) SREP SA
SVL Pilote SAS
SVL Pilote SAS
SVS SAS
SVS SAS
SVT SAS
SVT SAS

Fair
Control
Control
value
0.39%
0.39%
0
0%
0%
0
0.7%
0.7%
16
45%
45%
64
0.4%
0.4%
2
0.0%
0.0%
0
0.0%
0.0%
0
0.0%
0.0%
0

Fair
Profit (loss)Profit (loss)
value
Revenue Revenue
after tax after
Equity
tax
0 0
0 0
(13)
0
25,514
0
25,514
(441)
(441)
19,679
16
3,875
3,875
(411)
(411)
2,484
64 0
0(2)
(2)
142
910,055
2
910,055 0
483
0
5,800
0
5,80065
65
769
0640
640
104
104
234
0
1,033
(62)
1,033
(62)
(76)
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Closing date
Closing date
of latest of latest
BorrowingsBorrowings
available available
Equity
(Cash)
(Cash)
accounts accounts
(13)11
31/dic/2019
11
31/dic/2019
19,679
(29,023) (29,023)
31/dic/2020
31/dic/2020
2,484
(2,677)
(2,677)
31/dic/2020
31/dic/2020
142
(58)
31/dic/2020
(58)
31/dic/2020
(382,279)
483 (382,279)
31/dic/2020
31/dic/2020
769
1,502
31/dic/2020
1,502
31/dic/2020
234
(345)
31/dic/2020
(345)
31/dic/2020
(76)
(63)
31/dic/2020
(63)
31/dic/2020
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20. Biological assets

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Fair value
Changes of fair value
Decrease due to harvest
At 31 December 2020
Fair value
Changes of fair value
Decrease due to harvest
At 31 December 2021
Fair value

287
2
0

289
2
0

291

Biological assets only consisted of standing timber.
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21. Inventories

Wood /
Pulp /
Base Paper

Other
Raw
materials

Work
In
Process

Finished
goods

Purchased
products

29,347
0
29,347

12,147
0
12,147

21,072
0
21,072

88,507
(2,033)
86,475

22,404
(1,969)
20,434

30,734
(7,140)
23,594

204,212
(11,142)
193,070

(386)
(400)
0
172
0

(2,886)
0
0
0
0

(5,888)
0
0
0
0

(13,875)
(1,427)
(783)
378
0

(4,606)
(1,475)
783
0
2

690
(25)
0
0
0

(26,950)
(3,326)
0
550
2

At 31 December 2020
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount

29,133
(400)
28,733

9,261
0
9,261

15,184
0
15,184

74,228
(3,460)
70,768

18,583
(3,444)
15,139

31,424
(7,165)
24,259

177,813
(14,468)
163,345

Movements
Impairment
Reclassification in / (out)
Acquisition of assets
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments

17,477
0
0
442
0
0

544
0
0
0
0
0

12,981
0
0
0
0
0

6,082
1,522
527
(167)
0
0

(2,863)
1,839
(527)
0
(85)
29

457
142
0
0
0
0

34,678
3,503
0
274
(85)
29

At 31 December 2021
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount

47,052
(400)
46,652

9,805
0
9,805

28,166
0
28,166

80,669
(1,938)
78,731

15,140
(1,607)
13,533

31,881
(7,023)
24,857

212,713
(10,969)
201,744

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Movements
Impairment
Reclassification in / (out)
Acquisition of assets
Exchange adjustments

Other
inventories

TOTAL

Wood is used for the production of pulp, which in turn is
the main component in the production of paper. Base
paper is employed for the production of Specialties.

Finished goods consist of paper produced and ready
for sale, while Purchased products consist of paper
purchased from third parties and ready for trading.

Other Raw materials mainly consist of coatings and
chemicals used in the production process.

Other inventories include spare parts for the maintenance
of plant & machinery, felts and wires.

2021

2020

The “Impairment” profit of EUR 3,503 K mainly consisted
in the release of unused provision for finished goods and
purchased products.

The “Impairment” charge of EUR (3,326) K was in
relation with slow moving inventories of base paper,
finished goods and purchased products.
The “Acquisition of assets“ of EUR 550 K was in
relation with the assets purchase agreement with Avery
Dennison (see Note 3.6).
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22. Trade receivables

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

211,478
(14,979)
196,500
0
196,500

Movements
Impairment
Changes in shareholding
Exchange adjustments

(52,510)
728
(28)
7

At 31 December 2020
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

158,947
(14,251)
144,696
0
144,696

Movements
Impairment
Changes in shareholding
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2021
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

14,950
264
(103)
199

173,992
(13,985)
160,006
0
160,006

The Financial instruments on Trade receivables are
detailed in Note 38.

The variation of Opening balance when applying the yearend exchange rate is isolated in “Exchange adjustments”.

The “Impairment” of EUR 264 K in 2021 and EUR 728
K in 2020 consisted in the reversal of specific bad debt
provisions.
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23. Prepayments

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

623
0
623
0
623

Movements
Exchange adjustments

654
(5)

At 31 December 2020
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

1,273
0
1,273
0
1,273

Movements
Exchange adjustments

229
11

At 31 December 2021
Cost
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

1,504
0
1,504
0
1,504

This caption included prepayments of insurance
premiums, maintenance expenses and rents.

The variation of Opening balance when applying the yearend exchange rate is isolated in “Exchange adjustments”.
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24. Other receivables

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cost or fair value
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

Deposits
Options on
and
Grants
Capital non-consol.
guarantees receivables receivables companies

Movements
Change in fair value through Income statement
Decreases of fair value through Equity
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2020
Cost or fair value
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current
Movements
Change in fair value through Income statement
Decreases of fair value through Equity
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2021
Cost or fair value
Impairment
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

1,476
0
1,476
1,471
5

7,281
0
7,281
5,405
1,876

0
0
0
0
0

0

21
0
0
(1)

307
0
0
0

0

0
0

0

0

1,496
0
1,496
1,491
5

7,588
0
7,588
5,405
2,183

0
0
0
0
0

0

49
0
0
1

(39)
0
0
0

0

0
0

0

0

1,544
0
1,544
1,539
5

7,549
0
7,549
5,405
2,144

0
0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

Interest
rate
hedging

Misc. other
receivables

TOTAL

0
0
0
0
0

17
0
17
0
17

8,774
0
8,774
6,876
1,898

0
0
0
0

380

0

708
0
0
(1)

0
0
0
0
0

397
0
397
0
397

9,481
0
9,481
6,896
2,585

0
0
0
0

(382)

0

(372)
0
0
1

0
0
0
0
0

15
0
15
0
15

9,107
0
9,107
6,944
2,163

2021

2020

As at 31 December 2021, EUR 7,549 K of “Grants
receivables” consisted of:
– EUR 5,405 K of Green certificates granted for the years
2016 (EUR 687 K) and 2017 (EUR 4,718 K),
– EUR 2,160 K of White certificates granted for the year
2021,
both in Alto Garda Power SrL (see Note 1.17), and
– EUR (16) K in Condat.

As at 31 December 2020, EUR 7,588 K of “Grants
receivables” consisted of:
– EUR 5,405 K of Green certificates granted for the years
2016 (EUR 687 K) and 2017 (EUR 4,718 K),
– EUR 2,092 K of White certificates granted for the year
2020,
both in Alto Garda Power SrL (see Note 1.17), and
– EUR 91 K in Condat.

Options on non-consolidated companies are detailed in
Note 38.2. Their value was nil as at 31 December 2021.

Raw materials price hedging is detailed in Note 38.6.
There was none as at 31 December 2021.

Currency hedging is detailed in Note 38.4.

The variation of Opening balance when applying the yearend exchange rate is isolated in “Exchange adjustments”

Interest rate hedging is detailed in Note 38.5.
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25. Cash & cash
equivalents

26. Held for sale property

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cash in hand
Current accounts
Deposits
Certificates of deposits
Marketable securities

85,850
16
85,654
58
0
121

Movements
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments

91,971
41
(747)
(95)

At 31 December 2020
Cash in hand
Current accounts
Deposits
Certificates of deposits
Marketable securities

177,020
19
176,406
0
0
595

Movements
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments

(38,149)
(463)
242

At 31 December 2021
Cash in hand
Current accounts
Deposits
Certificates of deposits
Marketable securities

138,650
22
138,022
0
0
606

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount

0
0
0

Reclassification in / (out)
Disposals

0
0

At 31 December 2020
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount

0
0
0

Reclassification in / (out)
Disposals

0
0

At 31 December 2021
Cost
Depreciation & Impairment
Net carrying amount

0
0
0

Marketable securities are Government bonds, Treasury
bills and similar short-term securities highly liquid that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
The variation of Opening balance when applying the yearend exchange rate is isolated in “Exchange adjustments”
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27. Equity

27.1. Paid-in capital and Share premium

Class
-

Rights, preferences and restrictions
ordinary

2021
Paid-in capital
New shares authorized
Number
EUR
Number
EUR
2,791,822,912 27,918,229.12 208,177,088 2,081,770.88

All the ordinary shares have a par value of EUR 0.01.
Paper Industries TopCo Ltd was incorporated on 15
January 2020, with a share capital composed of 1
ordinary share with a par value of EUR 0.01 representing
EUR 0.01.
Following a shareholders resolution, the company was
renamed Lecta Ltd on 7 February 2020.
Lecta Ltd acquired all the shares in Paper Industries
Financing Sàrl on 20 January 2020. This company holds
100% of the shares in Paper Industries Intermediate
Financing Sàrl, which holds 100% of the shares in Paper
Industries Holding Sàrl (see the organization chart in Note 2).
On 4 February 2020, in accordance with the Scheme of
Arrangement and as part of the Recapitalization (see Note
3.1),
- Lecta SA (the prior parent company of the group)
transferred 100% of the shares in Sub Lecta SA to Paper
Industries Holding Sàrl in consideration for EUR 1; and
- Lecta Ltd issued 299,999,999 new ordinary shares with
a par value of EUR 0.01 representing EUR 2,999,999.00
to the holders of 2016 notes. No premium was attached
to each new share.
On 16 July 2020, Lecta Ltd increased its share capital by
the issuance of 2,475,000,000 new ordinary shares with
a par value of EUR 0.01 representing EUR 24,750,000.00.
The premium attached to these new ordinary shares
amounted to EUR 32,175,000.00. The total of EUR
56,925,000.00 was paid in cash for EUR 50,025,000.00
and in kind for EUR 6,900,000.00 against the
commitment to underwrite the second Recapitalization
and the provision of services.

On 16 July 2020, Lecta Ltd also granted warrants for free
to the new securityholders pro-rata to their participation
in the second Recapitalization. These warrants will
entitle the holders to subscribe for 7.5% (in aggregate)
of the fully diluted equity of Lecta Ltd, to be adjusted for
eventual customary events, between the 1st and the 5th
anniversary of completion of the second Recapitalization.
These warrants have no voting or other governance
rights, and no rights to participate in distributions.
As at 31 December 2020, the share capital of Lecta Ltd
was composed of 2,775,000,000 ordinary shares with a
par value of EUR 0.01 representing EUR 27,750,000, all
shares being fully paid. There were warrants entitling the
holders to subscribe for up to 225,000,000 new ordinary
shares at a subscription price of 0.01€ per new ordinary
share.
In October 2021, some warrantholders paid EUR
168,229.12 in cash to convert 4,153,806 warrants into
16,822,912 new ordinary shares with a par value of EUR
0.01.
As at 31 December 2021, the share capital of Lecta Ltd
was composed of 2,791,822,912 ordinary shares with a
par value of EUR 0.01 representing EUR 27,918,229.12, all
shares being fully paid. There were warrants entitling the
holders to subscribe for up to 208,177,088 new ordinary
shares at a subscription price of 0.01€ per new ordinary
share.
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27.2. Other reserves
The other reserves consist in the net income (expense)
recognized directly through equity.

The origin of this reserve was as follows:

(in EUR K)
Unlisted securities, adjustment at fair value
(see Note 19)
Labor share based payment
(see Note 37.2)
Cash flow hedging of currencies, effective part of fair value
(see Note 38.4)
Cash flow hedging of interest rates, effective part of fair value
(see Note 38.5)
Cash flow hedging of raw materials prices, effective part of fair value
(see Note 38.6)
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans
(see Notes 31 and 36.2)
Actuarial gains (losses) on 3rd party agents benefits
(see Notes 31)
Deferred tax on the above items
(see Note 32.3)
First time adoption of IFRS 9 (see Note 1.38)
Options on minorities
(see Note 38.1)
Total
Group
Non-Controlling interest

At 31
December
2019
(268)

At 31
December
2021
(268)

At 31
December
2020
(268)

1,415

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(11,034)

(11,416)

(12,071)

(345)

(321)

3,022

3,119

3,119

(183)
0

(183)
0

(183)
0

(7,392)
(7,392)
0

(9,069)
(9,069)
0

(9,403)
(9,403)
0

27.3. Foreign currency translation

27.4. Accumulated net profit (losses)

This unrealized loss of EUR (351) K as at 31 December
2021 was the consequence of the consolidation of
subsidiaries for which the transactions, assets and
liabilities are not recorded in euro (see Note 1.07):

The breakdown of this reserve was as follows:

• Lecta North America Inc (USD),
• Lecta Paper UK Ltd (GBP),
• Lecta Maroc Sàrl (MAD).

(in EUR K)
Legal reserve of Lecta SA
Other reserves from Lecta SA
Reserves Group generated by the consolidation process
Total

At 31
December
2021
(0)
0
154,765
154,765
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December
2020
0
0
213,551
213,551

At 31
December
2019
145
(16,199)
(69,669)
(85,723)
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28. Interest-bearing
borrowings

28.1. Overview
(in EUR K)
At
January
(in 1EUR
K) 2020
(in Non-current
EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
At Current
1 January 2020
Non-current
Non-current
Current
Current
Increase
of principal

Senior and
Junior
SeniorNotes
and
Senior and
0
Junior Notes
Junior Notes
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
355,5560

Capitalized
issue costs
Increase of principal
Increase
of principal
Repayment
of principal
Capitalized issue
costs
Capitalizedofissue
costs
Variation
interests
Repayment of
principal
Repayment
ofof
principal
Amortization
issue costs
Variation of interests
Variation
of
interests
Variation
of
percent
consolidation
Amortization of issueofcosts
Amortization
of issue costs
Exchange of
adjustments
Variation
percent of consolidation
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments
Exchange
adjustments
At
31 December
2020
Non-current
At 31 December 2020
At Current
31 December 2020
Non-current
Non-current
Current
Current

Floating and Fixed
Rate and
Notes
Floating
Fixed
Floating and
Fixed
610,071
Rate Notes
Rate Notes
595,838
610,071
610,071
14,233
595,838
595,838
14,233
14,233
0

(5,556)
355,556
355,5560
(5,556)
(5,556)
4,569
0
0
556
4,569
4,569
(103,201)
556
556
0
(103,201)
(103,201)
0
251,9240
251,755
251,924
251,924
168
251,755
251,755
168
168

Increase of principal
0
Capitalized
issue costs
0
Increase
of principal
Increase
of principal
0
Repayment
of principal
0
Capitalized issue
costs
0
Capitalizedofissue
costs
0
Variation
interests
0
Repayment of principal
0
Repayment
of
principal with low rate
0
Variation
of
borrowings
0
Variation of interests
0
Variation
of
interests
0
Amortization
of issue costs
1,200
Variation
of borrowings
with low rate
0
Variation of
of percent
borrowings
with low rate
0
Variation
of
consolidation
0
Amortization of issue costs
1,200
Amortization
of issue costs
1,200
Exchange
adjustments
0
Variation of percent of consolidation
0
Variation of percent of consolidation
0
Exchange adjustments
0
Exchange
adjustments
At 31 December 2021
253,1240
252,955
At Non-current
31 December 2021
253,124
At Current
31 December 2021
253,124
168
Non-current
252,955
Non-current
252,955
168
TheCurrent
borrowings were essentially denominated in Euro.
Current
168

Lease
obligations
Lease
Lease
21,491
obligations
obligations
17,390
21,491
21,491
4,101
17,390
17,390
4,101
4,101
0

Other
84,166
Other
Other
9,543
84,166
84,166
74,623
9,543
9,543
74,623
74,623
194,597

TOTAL
715,728
TOTAL
TOTAL
622,771
715,728
715,728
92,957
622,771
622,771
92,957
92,957
550,153

0
0
(300,000)
3,697
(300,000)
(300,000)
6,182
3,697
3,697
(319,949)
6,182
6,182
0
(319,949)
(319,949)
0
0
(0)
(0)
(0)
(0)
0
(0)
(0)
0
0

0
0
(4,114)
0
(4,114)
(4,114)
0
0
0
(1)
0
0
(1)
(1)
17,376
13,148
17,376
17,376
4,228
13,148
13,148
4,228
4,228

194,597
194,597
(91,148)
(1,423)
(91,148)
(91,148)
0
(1,423)
(1,423)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
186,1910
134,034
186,191
186,191
52,157
134,034
134,034
52,157
52,157

(5,556)
550,153
550,153
(395,263)
(5,556)
(5,556)
6,842
(395,263)
(395,263)
6,737
6,842
6,842
(423,150)
6,737
6,737
(1)
(423,150)
(423,150)
(1)
(1)
455,490
398,938
455,490
455,490
56,553
398,938
398,938
56,553
56,553

0

384

56,761

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(0)
(0)
(0)
(0)
0
(0)
(0)
0
0

384
384
(4,202)
0
(4,202)
(4,202)
0
0
0
0
0
0
7
0
0
7
13,5657
10,491
13,565
13,565
3,074
10,491
10,491
3,074
3,074

56,761
56,761
(75,452)
508
(75,452)
(75,452)
(1,687)
508
508
0
(1,687)
(1,687)
0
0
0
20
0
0
20
20
166,341
147,007
166,341
166,341
19,333
147,007
147,007
19,333
19,333

57,146
0
57,146
57,146
(79,654)
0
0
508
(79,654)
(79,654)
(1,687)
508
508
1,200
(1,687)
(1,687)
0
1,200
1,200
27
0
0
27
27
433,029
410,454
433,029
433,029
22,575
410,454
410,454
22,575
22,575

28.2. Senior and Junior Notes, Floating and
Fixed Rate Notes
As at 31 December 2021, there were:
– EUR 200 M Senior Secured Notes due 2025, bearing an
interest rate of 3-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%) +
6.000%
– EUR 55.5 M Senior Secured Notes due 2025 issued
with an Original Issue Discount (“OID”) of 10%, bearing
an interest rate of 3-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%)
+ 7.000%
These Notes are fully described in Note 4.1.
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28.3. Other borrowings
At 31 December 2020, “Other” of EUR 186,191 K
borrowings consisted of:

6,929

Borrowings in Torraspapel SA

2,536

TL - Multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility

7,029

Borrowings in Condat SAS

8,019

Borrowing in Cartiere del Garda SpA

85,616

Borrowing in Alto Garda Power SrL
Borrowings in Polyedra SpA
Borrowings with a low rate

75,317

Miscellaneous

Borrowings in Torraspapel SA

Term-Loan and Multicurrency Revolving Credit
Facility in Torraspapel SA

(a) Borrowings granted in 2012 and 2013 by public
institutions to encourage environmental friendly installations
and innovation. Their duration is 10 years. Interest rate is
between 3.95% and 4.925%.
(b) Borrowings granted in 2020 by the Spanish government
(ICO) to support access to credit by enterprises in the
COVID-19 emergency phase. The three new borrowings
have the following main features:
b1) Amount of EUR 10.4M, for a duration of 5 years, and
with an interest rate of 4.92%
(b2) Amount of EUR 20 M, for a duration of 5 years, and
with an interest rate of 3.5%
(b3) Amount of EUR 20 M, for a duration of 5 years,
And with an interest rate of 4.5%.
(c) Borrowings granted in 2021 by Toro Finance SLU of EUR
7 M, for a duration of 1 year, with an interest rate of 3%
paid at the beginning.

Committed TL and RCF lines of EUR 75 M and EUR 40 M
respectively bearing an interest rate of 3-month Euribor
(with a floor at 0%) + 5.25% due 2023 (see Note 4.1).

At 31 December 2021, the principal and accrued interests
were EUR 56,829 K.

At 31 December 2021, the principal and accrued
interests were EUR 75,317 K.
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Borrowings in Condat SAS

Borrowings in Polyedra SpA

Since March 2020, EUR 19.0 M interest-free loan granted by
Nouvelle Aquitaine Region, in relation with the conversion of
Line 8 in Condat’s mill:
– Drawing of EUR 10.0 M in 2020 and EUR 9.0 M in 2021,
with the balance planned in 2021;
– Repayment of a quarter of the principal at each
anniversary date of the loan from 2024 to 2027.

(a) Since June 2018, EUR 4.0 M borrowing with 1-month
Euribor +1.55% interest. Equal quarterly installments of
principal and interest to be paid until June 2022.

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amount was EUR
15,927 K.

At 31 December 2021, the principal and accrued
interests were EUR 1,544 K.

Borrowings in Cartiere del Garda SpA (“CdG”)

Borrowings in Alto Garda Power SrL (“AGP”)

(a) Since 29 June 2018, EUR 3.0 M borrowing with 3-month
Euribor + 2.35% interest. Equal quarterly installments of
principal and interest to be paid until 29 June 2023.
(c) Debt on assigned receivables bearing 3-month Euribor +
2.8% interest.
(d) On 23 December 2020, CdG obtained a new borrowing
having the following main features:
– Amount EUR 1.1 M€
– Duration 6 years
– Amortization in 48 installments, the first one in January
2023
– Interest 6-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%) + 0.90%
pre-amortization, and 6-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%)
+ 1.45% after
– No covenants
– 90% of the loan guaranteed by the free of charge direct
guarantee of collective loan-guarantee consortiums
(Confidi) with the 80% counter-guarantees of the Central
SMEs and mid-caps Guarantee Fund established by the
Ministry of Economic Development to support access to
credit by enterprises in the COVID-19 emergency phase.

(a) Since 30 April 2018, EUR 1.0 M loan granted by AGP’s
minority shareholder Alto Garda Servizi SpA, bearing
6-month Euribor + 4.95% interest rate.
(b) On 15 December 2020, AGP refinanced its existing debt
with:
(b1) a first borrowing having the following main features:
– Amount EUR 5.0 M
– Duration 6 years, until 15 December 2026
– Amortization in 12 installments, the first one on 15 June
2021
– Interest 6-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%) + 1.650%
– No covenants
– 80% of the loan guaranteed by the free of charge
direct guarantee of the Central SMEs and mid-caps
Guarantee Fund established by the Ministry of Economic
Development to support access to credit by enterprises in
the COVID-19 emergency phase.
(c2) a second borrowing of EUR 3.8 M having the following
main features:
– Duration 7 years, until 15 December 2027)
– grace period (interest-only period) of 1 year
– Amortization in 12 installments, the first one on 15 June
2022
– Interest 6-month Euribor (with a floor at 0%) + 2.25%
– Covenants: Net equity/Total Assets (included junior
shareholder loan) ≥ 50%
If at the end of each year the ratio Total Assets/Net: (i) [30%;
50%[ AGP has to pay EUR 5 K indemnity, (ii) [0%; 30%[
AGP has to pay EUR 5 K indemnity and the bank has the
right to terminate the loan agreement.

At 31 December 2021, the principal and accrued interests
were EUR 2,210 K and the debt on assigned receivables
was EUR 4,752 K, i.e. a total of EUR 6,962 K.

At 31 December 2020, the principal and accrued
interests were EUR 75,317 K.
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29. Bank overdrafts

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Movements

18,808
1,669

At 31 December 2020

20,477

Movements

-7,016

At 31 December 2021

13,461

2021

2020

The variation of bank overdrafts consisted in a decrease
of EUR (7,016) K in Polyedra SpA.

The variation of bank overdrafts consisted in an increase
of EUR 1,669 K in Polyedra SpA.
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30. Grants

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

8,740
6,843
1,896

Movements
Amortization (income)

2,243
(2,350)

At 31 December 2020
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

8,632
7,046
1,586

Movements
Amortization (income)

1,687
(1,642)

At 31 December 2021
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

8,678
6,965
1,713

2021

2020

The breakdown of EUR 8,678 K Grants net of
amortization as at 31 December 2021 was as follows:
– EUR 5,100 K in Torraspapel Group;
– EUR 3,578 K in Condat SAS.

The breakdown of EUR 8,632 K Grants net of
amortization as at 31 December 2020 was as follows:
– EUR 6,211 K in Torraspapel Group;
– EUR 2,421 K in Condat SAS.

Grants related to Property, plant and equipment or
Borrowings with off-market interest rates may be subject
to a unique subsequent condition: keep the granted
investments running for a minimum period of five years.
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31. Provisions

Other
social
commitments
24,058
21,933
2,125

Organization
efficiency
program
4,605
569
4,036

Other
12,137
4,191
7,946

TOTAL
40,801
26,694
14,107

Additional
Utilized
Unused reversed
In(de)creases of fair value through Equity
Reclassification in / (out)
Variation of percent of consolidation

112
(1,409)
0
(655)
0
0

0
(4,183)
0
0
0
(422)

9,142
(5,475)
(55)
321
(7,266)
0

9,254
(11,067)
(55)
(334)
(7,266)
(422)

At 31 December 2020
Non-current
Current

22,106
19,943
2,163

0
0
0

8,803
5,419
3,384

30,910
25,362
5,547

Additional
Utilized
Unused reversed
In(de)creases of fair value through Equity
Reclassification in / (out)
Variation of percent of consolidation

1,380
(1,677)
(1,250)
(382)
0
(81)

0
0
0
0
0
0

45,269
(9,324)
(6,004)
23
(3,476)
0

46,649
(11,001)
(7,254)
(359)
(3,476)
(81)

At 31 December 2021
Non-current
Current

20,096
17,498
2,598

0
0
0

35,292
5,658
29,635

55,388
23,155
32,233

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Non-current
Current

The reclassification of EUR (3,476) K in “Other” is the
counterpart of the reclassification of “CO2 emission
rights” reported in “Other intangible assets” (see Note
18). It consisted in the surrender of non-granted ER
against the extinguishment of the deficit of 2020.

Provision for “Other social commitments” was composed
of “Defined benefit post-employment plans” and “Other
long-term benefits” (see Notes 1.30, 36.5 and 36.6):

At 31 December At 31 December
2021
2020
3,805
4,160
1,380
1,425
0
79
12,762
14,220
166
0
1,338
1,599
4
5
642
617

(in EUR K)
Cartiere del Garda SpA
Polyedra SpA
Plot Service SrL
Condat SAS
Lecta France SAS
TPM SAS
Torraspapel SA
Lecta Deutschland GmbH
Total

20,096

22,106

Provision for “Organization efficiency program” is further explained in Note 3.2.
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Provision for “Other” consisted of:

At 31 December At 31 December
2021
2020

(in EUR K)
Deficit of CO 2 emission rights
Social security, redundancies, overtime
Litigations with suppliers, penalties
Tax control
3rd party agents benefits
Miscellaneous

29,568
4,401
363
561
345
54
35,292

Total

This “Deficit of CO2 emission rights” was largely offset
by an associated asset (see Note 18).

3,101
3,628
825
550
321
378
8,803

The provision for “3rd party agent benefits” was in relation
with the ISC (“Indennità Suppletiva di Clientela”). The
ISC is due to the 3rd party sales agents in Italy when
their contract is terminated with the company initiative
for reasons not attributable to the agent, or in case of
resignations for total and permanent invalidity, retirement
or death. This provision was subject to an actuarial
valuation that falls into the scope of IAS 37.
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32. Income tax in the
Statement of financial
position
32.1. Overview
(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Non-current
Current
Variations through income statement
Increases of fair value through Equity
Decreases of fair value through Equity
Payments
Reclassification in / (out)
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2020
Non-current
Current
Variations through income statement
Increases of fair value through Equity
Decreases of fair value through Equity
Payments
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2021
Non-current
Current

Income
tax
receivable
6,382
0
6,382

Income
tax
payable
1,030
0
1,030

Deferred
tax
assets
48,430
48,430

Deferred
tax
liablities
10,229
10,229

TOTAL
assets
(liabilities)
43,553
38,201
5,352

0

2,669

(10,830)
0
(1)

(9,476)
0
0

(3,715)
0
(0)

(2,437)
0
0

0
0

0
0

(4,023)
0
(1)
(1,277)
0
(0)

2,667
0
2,667

1,261
0
1,261

37,599
37,599

753
753

38,252
36,846
1,406

0

2,770

3,436
122
(219)

5,499
0
0

(1,149)
(3)
0

(2,133)
(171)
(0)

0
0

0
0

(4,834)
122
(219)
984
167
1

1,515
0
1,515

1,728
0
1,728

40,938
40,938

6,252
6,252

34,474
34,687
(213)

French Tax-pooling Group

Spanish Tax-pooling Group

Italian Tax-pooling Group

Luxembourg Tax-pooling Group

As at 31 December 2021, the
French tax-pooling group
consisted in Condat SAS
(formerly Condat Holding SAS),
Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS,
Condat Energie Biomasse SAS
and Lecta France SAS.
The French tax-pooling group
(minimum control of 95%) was
created by Condat Holding SAS
on 1 January 1999, with two
subsidiaries, Condat SAS and
Lecta Europe Sàrl.
Malmenayde SAS joined this
tax-pooling group as of 1
January 2008 and left it as at 1
January 2011. Torraspapel
Malmenayde Sàrl and Nord
Papier SA joined the tax-pooling
group as of 1 January 2013.
Condat Energie Biomasse
joined the tax pooling group as
of 1 January 2018. Lecta France
joined the tax pooling group as
of 1 January 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the
Spanish tax-pooling group
consisted in Torraspapel SA,
Torraspapel Distribución SA
(formerly Dispap SA),
Cogeneración Motril SA, and
Cogeneración Sant Joan SL.
On 1 January 2001, Lecta HQ
SA was the parent company of
the Spanish tax-pooling group
(under Spanish Law regulating
the taxation of consolidated
income of groups of companies,
minimum control of 75%).
Other members of the group
were Torraspapel SA,
Sarriopapel y Celulosa SA,
Torraspapel Distribución SA
(formerly Dispap SA),
Cogeneración del Ter SL (since
1 January 2010), Cogeneración
Motril SA (since 1 January
2012), and Cogeneración Sant
Joan SL (since 1 July 2019).

As at 31 December 2021, the
Italian tax-pooling group
consisted in Cartiere del Garda
SpA, Alto Garda Power SrL, and
Polyedra SpA.
The Italian tax-pooling group
(minimum control of 50.1%),
was created by Cartiere del
Garda SpA on 1 January 2007
with Alto Garda Power SrL.
Since 1 July 2012, there was a
second Italian tax-pooling group
consisting in Polyedra SpA and
Carthago SrL. On 1st January
2013 Carthago Srl was merged
by incorporation into Polyedra
SpA. Polyedra SpA joined the
Italian tax-pooling group led by
Cartiere del Garda SpA as of 1
January 2013.

As at 31 December 2021, the
Luxembourg tax-pooling group
consisted of Paper Industries
Financing Sàrl, Paper Industries
Intermediate Financing Sàrl, and
Paper Industries Holding Sàrl.
The Luxembourg tax-pooling
group (minimum control of
95%) was created retroactively
as of 1 January 2020 and for
the 5-year period 2020-2024.
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32.2. Income tax receivable and payable
EUR 1,515 K of income tax receivable included EUR 283
K in Torraspapel tax group, EUR 189 K in Cartiere del
Garda tax group, and EUR 1,043 K in Condat tax group.
EUR 1,728 k of income tax payable consisted in tax
credits or income tax advance payments. Condat SAS
can use CICE tax credits against income tax payment
or collect them after a cooling off period of three years.
Cartiere del Garda SpA can recover IRES advance
payments against future IRES payments, while each

(in EUR K)
Loss to be carried forward up to 5 years
Loss to be carried forward up to 15 years
Loss to be carried forward up to 18 years
Loss to be carried forward indefinitely
S/T Tax losses

31 Dec
2021

company of the Italian tax group can recover IRAP
advance payments against future IRAP or VAT payments.
The variation of Opening balance when applying the yearend exchange rate is isolated in “Exchange adjustments”

32.3. Deferred income tax
The following schedule details the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities by nature.
31 Dec
2020

Variations 2021 through
Income stat.
Equity
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
13,781
13,781

0
0
0
13,781
13,781

Provision for early retirement scheme
Charges for other social commitments
Non-deductible provisions
Net expenses recognized directly through Equity
Other deferred tax assets
S/T Temporary differences

43
3,453
2,166
3,022
18,473
27,157

0
3,748
2,490
3,119
14,461
23,818

43
(295)
(324)
0
4,012
3,436

0
0
0
(96)
0
(96)

(45)
(174)
(220)
0
2,756
2,317

0
0
0
(1)
0
(1)

Deferred tax assets

40,938

37,599

3,436

(96)

(10,830)

(1)

Accelerated tax depreciation
Tangible assets revaluation at acquisition
Deductible legal revaluation in Italy
Net incomes recognized directly through Equity
Other deferred tax liabilities
S/T Temporary differences

1,406
0
4,466
0
379
6,252

(7,414)
0
3,381
0
4,785
753

(8,820)
0
(1,085)
4,406
(5,499)

0
0
0
0
0
0

10,209
490
(722)
0
(501)
9,476

0
0
0
0
0
0

Deferred tax liabilities

6,252

753

(5,499)

0

9,476

0

34,687

36,846

(2,063)

(96)

(1,354)

(1)

Net value

0
0
0
0
0

Variations 2020 through
Income stat.
Equity
0
0
0
(13,147)
(13,147)

0
0
0
0
0

The variation of Deferred tax in the income statements is
a charge of EUR (2,063) K in 2021 (see Note 13.1)
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French Tax-pooling Group

Spanish Tax-pooling Group

Italian Tax-pooling Group

Luxembourg Tax-pooling Group

There is no time limit to use
the tax losses in France.

There is no time limit to use the
tax losses in Spain (it was
limited to 18 years until 2014).

There is no time limit to use
the tax losses in Italy (it was
limited to 5 years until 2010).

There is no time limit to use
the tax losses in Luxembourg.

The tax losses can be used to
neutralize up to 50% of
taxable income exceeding
EUR 1 M in France.

The tax losses can be used to
neutralize up to 25% of taxable
income exceeding EUR 1 M in
Spain.

The tax losses can be used to
neutralize up to 80% of
taxable income.

The tax losses can be used to
neutralize 100% of taxable
income in Luxembourg

Condat tax group reported
taxable losses in 2020 and
2021. As at 31 December
2021, the deferred tax asset
on losses to be carried
forward was EUR 4,021 K.
Management, in view of the
plan considered that these tax
losses will be used against
taxable profits within
foreseeable future.

Torraspapel tax group reported
taxable loss in 2020 and taxable
profit in 2021. As at 31
December 2021, the deferred
tax asset on losses to be carried
forward was EUR 9,759 K.
Management, in view of the
plan considered that these tax
losses will be used against
taxable profits within
foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2021,
there was no deferred tax
asset on losses to be carried
forward in the Italian tax
pooling group.

As at 31 December 2021,
there was no deferred tax
asset on losses to be carried
in the Luxembourg tax group.

In France, the 2010 finance
law set up the CVAE
(“Cotisation sur la Valeur
Ajoutée des Entreprises”) as
part of the new CET
(“Contribution Economique
Territoriale”). Lecta Group
decided to report it as Income
tax in line with the accounting
treatment followed for similar
taxes in other countries.

The Income tax rates used for deferred tax purposes were as follows:

Country
Belgium
France (a)
Germany
Italy (b)
Luxembourg
Mexico
Morocco
Portugal
Spain
UK
USA (1)

as at 31 Dec 2021
25%

as at 31 Dec 2020
25%

25% to 25.83%
32.98%

25% to 25.83%
32.98%

24%
24.94%
31%
21%
25%
19%
22%

24%
24.94%
30%
31%
21%
25%
19%
22%

(1) In the basis of the average earnings of Lecta North America Inc the tax
is calculated in the basis of scale that goes from 21% to 34%.
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Nota
(a) Corporate tax in France applies to Condat SAS (“Condat”), Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS (“TPM”), and Condat
Energie Biomasse SAS (“CEB”). It consists in IS and CVAE. IS rate varied from 25.83% to 28.41% in 2021, and from
25% to 25.83% as of 2022. CVAE rate is 1.5%. Only IS tax losses are recoverable.
As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax on losses to be carried forward were computed with IS rate of 25.83%.
As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax on temporary differences were computed with the rate of 27.33% (= 25.83%
IS + 1.5% CVAE) for Condat, and 26.5% (= 25% IS + 1.5% CVAE) for TPM and CEB.
(b) Corporate tax in Italy applies to Cartiere del Garda SpA (“CdG”), Alto Garda Power SrL (“AGP”) and Polyedra SpA. It
consists in IRES and IRAP. IRES rate was 24% in 2020. IRAP rates vary in function of the location and activity: for
CdG, AGP and Polyedra, 2020 IRAP rate was 3.9%. Only IRES tax losses are recoverable.
As at 31 December 2020, deferred tax on losses to be carried forward was computed with IRES rate of 24% (no
application in 2020).
As at 31 December 2020, deferred tax on temporary differences was computed with the rate of 27.9% (= 24% IRES
+ 3.9% IRAP) for CdG, AGP, and Polyedra.

32.4. Tax-deductible carry forward amounts
without deferred tax asset
Lecta Group did not record deferred tax assets on unused
tax losses and unused tax credits in accordance with its
best estimates. These unused tax losses and unused tax

credits not considered for capitalization were in Condat
Tax Group (EUR 154 M) and in Torraspapel Tax Group
(EUR 138 M). If capitalized, they could be used without
any time limitation and would lead to a total income tax
saving of up to EUR 66 M in view of the above-mentioned
income tax rates.
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33. Trade payables

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

301,631
0
301,631

Movements
Acquisition of assets
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments

(87,759)
(115)
(1)
(3)

At 31 December 2020
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

213,752
0
213,752

Movements
Acquisition of assets
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments

137,769
115
(130)
100

At 31 December 2021
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

351,607
0
351,607

The “Acquisition of assets“ of EUR 115 K consisted in
a VAT receivable in relation with the assets purchase
agreement with Avery Dennison (see Note 4.5).

The Financial instruments on Trade payables are detailed
in Note 38.
The variation of Opening balance when applying the yearend exchange rate is isolated in “Exchange adjustments”
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34. Other Liabilities

(in EUR K)
At 1 January 2020
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

Capital
payables

Options on
Options on non-consol. Currency
Minorities companies hedging

Interest
rate
hedging

Raw matls
price
Fees & costs
Misc. other
hedging recapitalization payables

TOTAL

7,663
0
7,663

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

2,700
0
2,700

586
0
586

10,950
0
10,950

2,947
0
0
0
665

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

(98)
0
0
0

7,234
0
0
0
0

10,084
0
0
0
665

At 31 December 2020
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

11,276
0
11,276

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

2,602
0
2,602

7,820
0
7,820

21,698
0
21,698

Movements
Acquisition of assets

(6,164)
473

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

(1,203)
0

(6,371)
0

(13,739)
473

At 31 December 2021
Net carrying amount
Non-current
Current

5,584
0
5,584

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

1,399
0
1,399

1,449
0
1,449

8,432
0
8,432

Movements
Var.of fair value through Income statement
Increases of fair value through Equity
Decreases of fair value through Equity
Acquisition of assets

The “Acquisition of assets“ of EUR 473 K is the payable
against EUR 274 K reported in “Inventory” (see Note 21),
EUR (115) K VAT receivable (see Note 33) and EUR 313 K
tangible assets (see Note 16), in relation with the assets
purchase agreement with Avery Dennison (see Note 4.5).

Interest rate hedging is detailed in Note 38.5. There was
none as at 31 December 2021.

Options on Minorities are detailed in Note 38.1. There
was none as at 31 December 2021.

Miscellaneous other payables consisted in deferral of tax
and social contributions in France, and some debt in Italy
following the revaluation of some of their tangible assets.

Raw materials price hedging is detailed in Note 38.6.
There was none as at 31 December 2021.

Options on non-consolidated companies are detailed in
Note 38.2. Their value was nil as at 31 December 2021.
Currency hedging is detailed in Note 38.4. Its value was
nil as at 31 December 2021.
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35. Commitments and
contingencies

35.1. Non-capitalized leases
The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases (less
than 12 months renewal period included) and assets of
low value. The Group recognizes the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straightline basis over the lease term in the line “Other operating
costs except one-off costs” of Income statement (see
Note 1.12).

35.2. Capital commitments
At 31 December 2021, Lecta Group had firm commitments
due to purchase orders of Property, plant and equipment
net of advances to suppliers of EUR 5.0 M.
The breakdown of these commitments was:
• EUR 0.5 M in Italy, of which EUR 0.4 M for Cartiere del
Garda and 0.1 for Alto Garda Power;
• EUR 1.2 M in France, of which EUR 0.4 M for Condat and
0.8 for Condat Energie Biomasse;
• EUR 3.3 M in Spain, of which EUR 0.1 M in Information
technology, mainly for the new ERP (SAP project), EUR
1.7 M for the mill of Zaragoza, EUR 0.6 M for the plant of
Almazán, EUR 0.7 M for the mill of Leitza, EUR 0.1 M for
the mill of Sant Joan and EUR 0.1 M for the mill of Motril.

35.3. Other contracts
35.3.1. Condat SAS contract with Périgord
Énergies SNC
In order to realize savings on energy costs, Condat SAS
entered into a contract to purchase steam from the
cogeneration plant of Périgord Énergies SNC (see Note
38.2.2). For a period of twelve years ending on 30 March
2013, Condat SAS was committed to buy and use a
minimum quantity of 224 GWh of steam throughout a
5-month Winter period (from November to March each
year).

purchased by Périgord Énergies SNC for the supply of
steam needed by Condat’s production of paper. To supply
the steam, Périgord Énergies SNC operates the standard
boilers of Condat SAS or its cogeneration. 80% of the
profit made by Périgord Énergies SNC on the sale to the
market of the electricity produced by the cogeneration
(one of the two cogeneration-lines as from the 1 May
2014) is transferred to Condat SAS. If the actual volume
of gas purchased is outside an agreed range, Condat SAS
is committed to pay the penalties due to the gas supplier.
Condat SAS is also committed to pay the fixed expenses
of Périgord Énergies SNC to operate and maintain the
standard boilers of Condat SAS, as well as the nondepreciated part of the capital expenditures agreed by the
two parties.
In 2021, Condat SAS paid a total of EUR 9.4 M to
Périgord Énergies SNC for the supply of steam, the
operating and maintenance expenses.

35.3.2. Alto Garda Power SrL contract with
Alto Garda Servizi Teleriscaldamento SpA
With effect from September 2008, Alto Garda Servizi
Teleriscaldamento SpA, 20% shareholder of Alto Garda
Power SrL, is committed to buy from the latter:
• A minimum quantity of 34,83 GWh of hot water per
year at an estimated price of 63.92 EUR/MWh; and
• A minimum quantity of 12 GWh of electricity per year at
an estimated price of 161.27 EUR/MWh
The estimated yearly revenue is EUR 5.7 M.

35.3.3. Lecta annual commitments
Lecta negotiates annual commitments to purchase
volumes of raw materials in order to benefit from
favorable conditions. When there is a “take or pay”
clause Lecta has the possibility to resell the nonconsumed volumes at market price less a fee to the
suppliers.

A new contract was signed on 17 January 2014. It took
effect retroactively from April 2013. Condat SAS has to
communicate on a yearly basis the volume of gas to be
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35.4. Guarantees issued
35.4.1. By Lecta Group
Lecta Ltd and certain of its subsidiaries guarantee the
payment of amounts due under certain commitments

The main guarantees are listed below::

Shares in the main subsidiaries of Lecta, Receivables,
Credit rights deriving from certain bank accounts, and
some intercompany loans have been pledged to secure
the payment of amounts due.

35.6. Challenge of 2010-2015 Green
certificates by GSE

35.5. Lawsuits
The Group is the subject of a number of lawsuits, which
have arisen, in the normal course of business. While any
litigation has an element of uncertainty, the management
of the Group believes that the outcome of such lawsuits
will not have a material adverse effect on its financial
condition or operations.

Alto Garda Power SrL, the Italian cogeneration plant of
Lecta, was informed in a preliminary statement dated
14 July 2017 that the publicly owned company GSE SpA
(Gestore dei Servizi Energetici) was challenging part of the
Green certificates granted to it for the period 2010-2015.
On 30 October 2017, GSE SpA claimed the reimbursement
of EUR (5.2) M.
In December 2017, Alto Garda Power SrL presented a claim
against GSE petition in the administrative Court of Rome.
GSE SpA agreed with Alto Garda Power SrL to postpone
the claimed reimbursement waiting for the decision of the
Court, and not to pay during this period a part of the green
certificates granted for the years 2016-2017 and recognized
in “Other receivables” (see Note 24).
In the meantime, Italian legislation aimed at the
green economy and renewable source has introduced
some changes to the sanctioning powers of the GSE,
allowing it to enter into settlement agreements in wider
circumstances than in the prior legislation (size of possible
reimbursements to be assessed according to the extent
of the breach detected). An implementing legislation
was expected to be adopted which should clarify this
simplification measure, but no new regulation was
implemented in 2021.
Alto Garda Power SrL is confident on the rightness of its
position and reserves its rights to defend its own interests.
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36. Employee benefits

36.1. Amounts recognized in Profit or Loss
(in EUR K)
Short-term employees benefits
Defined contributions post-employment
plans
Defined benefit post-employment plans
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Labor costs
Short-term employees benefits
Defined contributions post-employment
plans
Defined benefit post-employment plans
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Other operating costs except unusual items
Short-term employees benefits
Defined contributions post-employment
plans
Defined benefit post-employment plans
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Finance costs

2021
(170,545)

2020
(157,525)

(6,271)

(4,792)

(331)
0
0
(177,147)
0

(442)
0
0
(162,759)
0

(62)

(26)

2
0
0
(60)
0

33
0
0
7
0

0

0

(52)
0
0
(52)

(80)
(1)
0
(81)

36.2. Amounts recognized directly through Equity
(in EUR K)
Short-term employees benefits
Defined contributions post-employment
plans
Defined benefit post-employment plans
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Actuaries gains and losses

2021

36.3. Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include wages,
salaries, paid holidays, social contributions, sick
leave, compensated absences, bonuses and variable

2020
0

0

0

0

382
0
0
382

655
0
0
655

remuneration, profit sharing and non-monetary benefits
(medical care, housing, cars), all paid within 12 months
after service is rendered. Hereunder are the main local
specificities.

Belgium
• Social contributions and sick leave. The legal
requirements are paid to “Sécurité Sociale”.

• In case of hospitalization, a health insurance with the
company DKV covers part of the cost not refunded by
the personal obligatory mutual health insurance.
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France
• Paid holidays scheme may also include CET (“Compte
Épargne Temps”), a spare time credit scheme in
Condat mill.
• Social contributions and sick leave.
• The legal requirements are paid to “Sécurité Sociale”.
• Commitment for sick leave is in accordance with
the collective labor agreement in force or is agreed
at company level. The cost is shared between the
company and “Sécurité Sociale” up to 6 months.
Beyond 6 months, the risk is covered with a
“Prévoyance” policy signed with the insurers Malakoff
and AXA (see Note 36.4).
• “Ace Assistance” and “Axa Assistance” cover certain
frequent travelers.
• Profit sharing - legal requirement (“Participation”)
based on taxable earnings applies to companies with
50 employees or more.

• Profit sharing - company commitment
(“Intéressement”) of Condat SAS was closed on 31
December 2008. There is a new agreement to for the
years 2015 and 2016 and 2017. A new agreement was
signed from 2018 to 2020. Another new agreement
for 2021.
• Works Council - mandatory contribution applies to
companies with 50 employees or more: In Condat
up to 2.2% of gross salaries to Works Council (0.20%
of operating costs and 2% of social, medical care,
cultural contribution and meal tickets), In TPM up
to 0.3% of gross salaries to Works Council (0.2%
of operating costs and 0.1% of social and cultural
contribution).
• Medical care for the employees: maybe managed
outside the Works Council contribution for a company
commitment of up to 67% of the cost.
• Meal tickets: company is committed for a contribution
of up to 60% of the cost (Paris).

Italy
• Social contributions and sick leave.
The legal requirements are paid to INPS (“Istituto
Nazionale della Previdenza Sociale”) and to INAIL
(“Istituto Nazionale per l’Assicurazione contro gli
Infortuni sul Lavoro”).
Company commitment for sick leave is in accordance
with the collective labor agreement CCNL (“Contratti
Collettivi Nazionali di Lavoro”) in Cartiere del Garda
SpA. For blue collars the first 3 days are paid 100%
by the company, from the 4th to 20th day the cost is
paid 50% by the company and 50% by INPS, from
the 21st day the cost is paid 33.34% by the company
and 66.66% by INPS. For white collars and managers
100% of the cost is paid by the company. In Polyedra
SpA sick leave cost is paid 100% (for the first 3 days),
from the 4th to 20th day the cost is paid 50% by the
company and 50% by INPS, from the 21st day the cost
is paid 33.34% by the company and 66.66% by INPS
for blue collars and white collars, for the managers
100% is paid by the company according with the
“CCNL Dirigenti Commercio”.

•C
 anteen: companies are committed for a contribution
of 60% of the cost or EUR 5.81 for every day actually
worked for more than 6 hours. For Polyedra it applies
for days with more than 4 worked hours, and a cost of
5,29€ for every day.
•P
 rofit sharing - company commitment: a new Profit
sharing scheme was agreed on 15.10.2019 replacing
the old one dated 27 January 2016. It is based on
Cartiere del Garda and AGPower group EBITDA,
number of claims and days of sickness, accident safety evolution (frequency / severity rate). This new
agreement is from 2019 to 2021.
•M
 edical care for the managers and their families is
partially covered by insurance (FASI + UniSalute).

Lecta Ltd FY2021 Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements

132

NOTES

Germany

Morocco

• Benefits include medical care, sick leave,
unemployment and pensions for retirement.
The cost is shared 50% / 50% between Lecta
Deutschland GmbH and the employees. Each
employee elects the entity he wants to receive the
payment in a list of eight public entities and two
private companies.

• Social contributions and sick leave. The legal
requirements are paid to “Caisse Nationale de
Sécurité Sociale”.

Portugal

Spain

• Social contributions and sick leave. The legal
requirements are paid to “Instituto de Gestao
Financeira da Segurança Social”.

• Social contributions and sick leave.
The legal requirements are paid to “Tesorería
General de la Seguridad Social”. The company pays a
complement until 100% of the salary depending on
the type of disease and the level of absenteeism in
the workplace.

UK

USA

• Social contributions are directly paid to “HMRC” (Her
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs) and pensions for
retirement are paid into a pension scheme.

• Social contributions in relation with basic state
disability and social security.

• Medical care insurance for each employee with
SAHAM (CNIA).

• Medical care and hospitalization is covered
through medical insurance contracted with United
Healthcare. Sick leave defined as short term (std) or
long term (ltd) along with life insurance is supported
through auxiliary coverage with Guardian provider.
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36.4. Defined contribution post-employment
plans
Mandatory state (national) or multi-employers plans

Belgium

Italy

ONP (“Office Nationale des Pensions”).

BFA (“Bundesversicherungsanstalt für Angestellte”).

Staff leaving indemnity TFR (“Trattamento
Fine Rapporto”). It is an employees’ deferred
compensation. Employees receive a lump sum
payment on the date of leave regardless of the
reason for leaving. In 2007, the regulation changed
for companies with more than 49 employees. Based
on this new regulation the TFR is no longer a defined
benefit plan but has become a defined contribution
plan. While the TFR contribution amounts accrued until
31 December 2006 continues to be managed by the
Company (see Note 36.5), the TFR amounts accrued
from 1 January 2007 have to be paid monthly to an
external pension fund, as social security contributions
(no more subject to actuarial evaluation).

Morocco

UK

CNSS (“Caisse Nationale de Sécurité Sociale”).

NIC (“National Insurance Contribution”) paid directly to
HMRC.

Portugal

USA

IGFSS (“Instituto de Gestão Financeira da Segurança
Social”).

“Social Security”.

France
“Sécurité Sociale”, Humanis Retraite (Fusion Arrco +
Agirc).

Germany

Spain
“Seguridad Social”.
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Voluntary plans

Belgium

France

Lecta Benelux SA.
Death and retirement plan
The insurance company “Integrale” covers the risk of
death for managers (“cadres”) in Belgium. The benefit
is 200% of the annual salary, increased by 25% for
each minor child. If the risk doesn’t materialize, a
pension is paid to the beneficiaries when they retire.
The cost of the premium is shared between the
beneficiaries (1/3) and the company (2/3). For the
Netherland employees the insurance company is ASR
Levensverzekering.

Condat SAS
Death and disability plan
The insurance company “Malakoff” covers the risks
of death, permanent and temporary disability and
serious illness for all employees. Aon manages this
agreement of “Prévoyance”.
• Death and disability: the minimum benefit is 230%
of the annual salary (tranches A and B of “Sécurité
Sociale”). This benefit is increased by 25% of the
annual salary for each minor child.
• Pension for spouse and children.

France
Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS
Death plan
The insurance companies “AXA” or “OMNIREP” cover
all the employees. The benefit is between 110% and
500% of the annual salary (tranches A, B and C of
“Sécurité Sociale”) according to the family situation.
This benefit may be increased by 25% to 100% of the
annual salary for each minor child.
• If the death is due to an accident, the benefit is
doubled.
• An additional insurance company OCIRP covers the
managers (“cadres+ Art. 36”).

Temporary disability plan
The insurance companies “AXA” or “OMNIREP” cover
all the employees.
After 60 days or 90 days of consecutive absence, the
daily allowance is between 75% and 90% of the annual
salary (tranches A, B and C of “Sécurité Sociale”) under
deduction of Sécurité Sociale payments.

Germany

The risks of death, permanent and temporary disability
are covered with the insurance company AXA. Each
employee would receive up to EUR 77 K, EUR 307 K
and EUR 153 K respectively.

Lecta Deutschland GmbH
Death and disability plan

Permanent disability plan
The insurance company “AXA” covers all the employees.
The benefit is between 45% and 90% of the annual
salary (tranches A, B and C of “Sécurité Sociale”)
according to the level of permanent disability.
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Italy
Cartiere del Garda SpA
Pension plan “Fondo Integrativo Laborfonds” for
workers and salaried
The supplementary pension is in accordance with
the collective labor agreement CCNL (“Contratti
Collettivi Nazionali di Lavoro” - Paper). The employees
can voluntarily join the externalized pension fund
“Laborfonds” managed at Regional level (Trentino Alto
Adige) contributing 1% to 10% of their gross salary and
TFR (see Note 36.5). For such employees, the company
is obliged to contribute 1.2% of their gross salary (from
01.01.2012).

Retirement plan “Previndai”: the supplementary
pension for managers is in accordance with CCNL
Dirigenti Industria. The managers contribute part or
total of their TFR plus 3 to 4% of their gross salary up to
a cap. The company also contributes 4% of the gross
salary up to a cap.
Death and disability plan
The risks of death, permanent and temporary disability
and accident are covered for managers in accordance
with CCNL, for middle managers in accordance
with CCNL and company agreement. The insurance
companies are MetLife Europe Limited and Lloyd’s.
The insurance company MetLife Europe Limited and
Lloyd’s. covers the risks only of death for all remaining
employees. The company pays 50% of premiums and
the employees pay the other 50%.

Italy

Morocco

Polyedra SpA
Pension Plan “Fondo Integrativo Fonte”
For workers and salaried the supplementary pension
is in accordance with the collective labor agreement
CCNL (“Contratti Collettivi Nazionali di Lavoro” Commerce). The employees can voluntarily join the
pension fund “Fonte” contributing 0.55% max of
their gross salary and TFR. For such employees, the
company is obliged to contribute 1.55% of their gross
salary.

Lecta Maroc Sàrl.
Death and disability plan
The insurance company “Axa Maroc” covers all the
employees. The benefit is equivalent to the annual
salary of the employees.

Retirement plan “Negri”:
The supplementary pension for managers is in
accordance with CCNL Dirigenti Commercio. The
managers contribute part or total of their TFR max 1%
of their gross salary. The company also contributes
1.95% of the gross salary.

Pension Plan. Company contributes 4% of their gross
salary with WAFA ASSURANCE.

Portugal
Torraspapel Portugal Lda.
Death and disability plan
The insurance company Vitória covers all the
employees.
• Death and disability: the benefit is equivalent to the
annual salary of the employee.
In case of accident, the benefit is twice the annual
salary of the employee.
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Spain
Spanish companies of Torraspapel group
Retirement plan:
All the employees except those working in the mill of
Leitza have a defined contribution plan. The companies
and the employees respectively contribute 3.5% and
1% of a portion of the gross salary to VidaCaixa. On
20 May 2013 the company denounced the plan and
stopped its contribution. A court ruling has been given
in favor of the company. On 23 Oct 2016 the Supreme
Court confirmed the sentence of the court, confirming
the correct performance of the Company. BBVA covers
the liabilities prior to 2001.

• For the administrative and blue collars of the mill of
Leitza, the risk of death and disability is covered as
follows: from EUR 13 K to EUR 26 K, depending on
the kind of contingency. In this case, the premium
is shared between the company (55%) and the
employees (45%).
• For the other employees, this benefit is equivalent to
the annual salary. In case of accident, the benefit is
twice the annual salary.
• Vida Caixa covers on an individual basis (“Ad
personam”) the additional benefit for employees with
higher historical rights (i.e. employees working for
Torraspapel SA in 1995.

Death and disability plan
Vida Caixa covers:
• For employees under economic conditions of the
“Convenio Colectivo Estatal de Pastas, Papel, y
Cartón” this benefit is EUR 15 K, and EUR 30 K in
case of accident. The premium is shared between the
company (60%) and the employees (40%).

UK

USA

Lecta Paper UK Ltd.
Retirement plan, individual and voluntary
agreement
The liability of the company is paid to the insurance
companies Royal London, Aegon and Reassure.

Lecta North America Inc.
Retirement plan
On a voluntary basis, each employee may contribute
part of his/her salary to the insurance company “ADP”,
the company paying the same amount up to 3% of the
annual employee salary.

Death plan
The insurance company “UNUM” covers all the
employees, who have been with the company over
6 months. The benefit is equivalent to four times the
annual salary for TUPED employees, three times the
annual salary for the employees who started to work
in the company before December 1999 and two times
the annual salary for all other employees.

Death plan
The insurance company “GUARDIAN” covers the
employees up to USD 50 K or USD 100K in case of
accident death.
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36.5. Defined benefit post-employment plans
France
(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance

Condat SAS
2021

Retirement plan IFC (“Indemnités
de Fin de Carrière”)

2020

7,821

8,105

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Past service cost
Curtailments
Plan amendment
Settlements

292
9
155
(841)
0
0
0
0

306
32
(98)
(524)
0
0
0
0

Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet

7,436

7,821

7,436

7,821

0

0

0

0

Provision

7,436

7,821
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It is a one-time payment made by
the company when (and only when)
the employee leaves the company
for retirement. The obligation
is regulated by the “Convention
Collective Nationale des Industries
Chimiques” nº3108 (“cadres”),
and by the “Convention Collective
Nationale de la production des
papiers et cartons” (“non-cadres”).
The benefit goes from 0 to 6 months
(7.5 months for the managers only
following the amendment of the
“Convention Collective Nationale
des Industries Chimiques” in
November 2009) of gross salary
depending on the seniority of the
employee in the company.
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France
(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance

Condat SAS
2021

Retirement plan “Progil”

2020

7,417

7,903

Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Past service cost
Curtailments
Settlements

0
43
0
(575)
(396)
0
0
0

0
31
0
(120)
(397)
0
0
0

Pension scheme supplementing the
mandatory state (national) or multiemployers plans Sécurité Sociale,
Arrco and Agirc (see Note 36.4) with
an upper limit of 80% of the yearly
gross salary.
Since 1 July 2002, the plan is closed
to new employees of the company.
Part of this obligation is externalized
with Eparinter.

Closing balance
Funded
Unfunded
ASSETS "EPARINTER"
Opening balance

6,489
0
6,487

7,417
0
7,417

Since 30 September 2013, the plan
is closed to active employees and
remains open to retired people only.

2,287

2,252

14
0
0
44
0
0

9
0
0
26
0
0

2,345

2,287

6,489
(2,345)

7,417
(2,287)

0

0

0

0

4,144

5,130

Expected return on plan assets
Contributions by the employer
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
settlements
Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Assets
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet
Provision
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France
(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance

Condat SAS
2021

2020

477

477

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Past service cost
Curtailments
Settlements

(46)
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet

431

477

431

477

0

0

0

0

Provision

431

477

(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance

2021

In case of anticipated termination
of the agreement with the insurer,
the company would bear the
unfunded obligation related to social
commitments created prior to 1990.

Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS

2020

1,599

1,603

83
2
(99)
(82)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

88
6
(72)
(26)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet

1,504

1,599

1,504

1,599

0

0

0

0

Provision

1,504

1,599

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Past service cost
Curtailments
Settlements
Merger
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments

Death and disability plan
“Prévoyance” Malakoff
(see Note 36.4).)
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Retirement plan IFC (“Indemnités
de Fin de Carrière”)
It is a one-time payment made by
the company when (and only when)
the employee leaves the company
for retirement. The obligation
is regulated by the “Convention
Collective Distribution et Commerce
de Gros Papier et Carton” nº802
(“OETAM”) and 925 (“cadres”),
and by the “Accord National
Interprofessionnel des VRP” n°804.
In case of voluntary retirement, the
benefit goes from 0.2 to 6 monthly
salaries depending on the seniority
of the employee in the company.
If the company makes employees
take compulsory retirement, the
benefit is increased by 20% to
30%, or from 0.05 to 0.35 months
per year of seniority for the sales
representatives (“VRP”).
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Germany
(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Past service cost
Curtailments
Settlements
Closing balance
Funded
Unfunded
ASSETS "LVM" & "HM"
Opening balance
Expected return on plan assets
Contributions by the employer
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Settlements
Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Assets
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet
Provision

Lecta Deutschland GmbH
2021

Retirement plan

2020

1,881

1,720

141
0
0
0
23
0
0
0

137
0
0
0
24
0
0
0

2,045
0
2,045

1,881
0
1,881

1,259

1,121

0
0
0
0
141
0

0
0
0
0
137
0

1,400

1,259

2,045
(1,400)

1,881
(1,259)

0

0

0

0

645

622
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Pension scheme supplementing
the mandatory state plan (see Note
36.4). The plan benefits to 6 people
and is closed to new employees
since 1997. Part of this obligation
is externalized with two insurance
companies, “Landwirtschafliche
Versicherung Münster” and
“Hamburg Mannheimer”.
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Italy
(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance

Cartiere del Garda SpA
2021

2020

4,160

4,746

Interest cost
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid

11
95
(461)

18
(39)
(564)

Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet

3,805

4,160

3,805

4,160

0

0

0

0

Provision

3,805

4,160

(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance

2021

Staff leaving indemnity TFR
(“Trattamento Fine Rapporto”)
See Note 36.4.
Since a regulation introduced
in 2007, the TFR is no longer
a defined benefit plan but has
become a defined contribution plan.
Nevertheless, the TFR contribution
amounts accrued until 31 December
2006 continues to be managed by
the Company and thus the related
liability continues to be recorded
in the financial statements as a
long-term liability that has to be
accounted for at its present value
(subject to actuarial evaluation).
The present value of the employee
termination indemnity liability has
been computed by an independent
actuary considering the abovementioned change in law.

Polyedra SpA

2020

1,505

1,959

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Acquisition of subsidiaries

2
0
86
(132)
(81)

15
2
(299)
(171)
0

Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet

1,380

1,505

1,380

1,505

0

0

0

0

Provision

1,380

1,505

Lecta Ltd FY2021 Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements

Staff leaving indemnity TFR
(“Trattamento Fine Rapporto”).
The change in regulations described
for Cartiere del Garda SpA also
applies to Polyedra SpA.
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Spanish companies of Torraspapel group
The pensions for the retired people of Torraspapel SA
were externalized with BBVA and VidaCaixa in accordance
with the above-mentioned law. The debt carries a 5.85%
interest rate. Torraspapel SA continues to bear a limited
liability in case Spanish inflation falls under 2%, while it
benefits when inflation is over 2%. In addition, some
pending amounts remain to be paid.

Nota
Belgium, Morocco, Portugal, UK and USA: No such plan
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Total of defined benefit post-employment plans
(in EUR K)
PRESENT VALUE
Opening balance

2021
24,860

26,512

Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Past service cost
Curtailments
Plan amendment
Settlements
Merger
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments

472
66
0
(338)
(1,889)
0
0
0
0
0
(81)
0
0

547
89
0
(629)
(1,658)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Closing balance
Funded
Unfunded
ASSETS
Opening balance

23,090
0
23,090

24,860
0
24,860

3,545

3,373

14
0
0
44
141
0
0
0
0
0

9
0
0
26
137
0
0
0
0
0

3,744

3,545

23,090
(3,744)

24,860
(3,545)

0

0

0

0

19,346

21,315

Expected return on plan assets
Contributions by the employer
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
settlements
Merger
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Variation of percent of consolidation
Exchange adjustments
Closing balance
PROVISION
Present value of the plan
Assets
Net actuarial gains and losses not
recognized in the balance sheet
Past service cost not yet recognized in the
balance sheet
Provision

2020
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The principal assumptions used in determining the defined benefit post-employment
obligations are as follows:

Discount rate (varies with the duration of the commitment):
- IFC Condat SAS
- Progil Condat SAS
- IFC Torraspapel Malmenayde SAS
- IFC Lecta France SAS
- Retirement Lecta Deutschland GmbH
- TFR Cartiere del Garda SpA
- TFR Polyedra SpA

2021
0.29%
0.89%
0.29%
0.29%
1.87%
0.29%
0.11%

2020
0.13%
0.60%
0.13%
2.30%
0.13%
0.02%

Future salary increase:
- Condat SAS
- Torraspapel Malmendayde SAS
- Lecta France SAS
- Lecta Deutschland GmbH
- Cartiere del Garda SpA
- Polyedra SpA

2021
1.00%
1.00%
1.00%
NA (1)
NA (2)
NA (2)

2020
1.00%
1.00%
1.00%
NA (1)
NA (2)
NA (2)

(1) D
 idn’t apply because the pension was based on the salary of each beneficiary at the age of 42.
(2) D
 ue to the change in TFR regulation, applied as of 2007, the future salaries were subject to
monthly social security contributions only.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for the discount rate as
at 31 December 2021 is shown below:

(in EUR M)
Impact of net defined benefit post-employment
obligation

Discount rate
-0.50%
+0.50%
+0.8

-0.8

36.6. Other long-term benefits
France
(in EUR K)
Provision

Condat SAS
2021
748

2020
791

36.7. Termination benefits

Long service benefits “Médailles
du travail”
1 month of gross salary after 18
years of seniority in the company
or after 20, 30, 35 or 40 years as
salaried employee.

The termination benefits are part of the “Organization
efficiency program” (see Notes 3.3, 11 and 31).
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37. Related party
disclosures

37.1. Transactions with non-consolidated companies

(in EUR K)
SVL Pilote SAS
SVS SAS
SVT SAS

2020
2021
2020
2021
2020
2021

Sales
to
related parties
0
0
0
0
0
0

(Purchases)
from
related parties
(5,811)
(4,840)
(581)
(381)
(857)
(1,014)

Finance (costs)
from
related parties
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed by
related parties
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
related parties
1,193
618
106
0
228
251

These companies were non-consolidated because of absence of control or immateriality (see Note 2.3)
All the transactions with related parties were made on an arm’s length basis.

37.2. Key management personnel
compensation

Grant date

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Lecta Ltd
participated in a share-based payment arrangement.
On 26 May 2021, certain employees were awarded the
following options over ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company.

Aggregate total fair value of options 1

The compensation for services rendered by the employee
over the period from the grant date to an anticipated
exit event is based on a “waterfall of distributions”, in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association
and the rules of the Lecta Ltd Management Incentive
Plan 2021.
On an exit event, a proportion of equity value, over
and above an initial value hurdle, is attributed to the A
Options and B Options where the maximum aggregate
participation is no more than 2.5% and 5% respectively
for the A Options and B Options.
The fair value attributable to those A Options and B
Options is estimated to be a total share-based payment
charge of €6.9 million.
The fair value attributable to each instrument is estimated
using a Monte Carlo simulation model that takes into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The inputs that were used in the Monte
Carlo simulation model, in estimating the fair value of the
options under IFRS 2, are provided below.

26 May 2021

Expected enterprise value volatility
Expected dividend yield

€6.9 million
24.5%

2

0.0%

3

Expected life

3.2 years

Annual risk-free rate of interest

0.00%

The Company has estimated the fair value of the options that
are likely to vest and will expense the total fair value over the
relevant vesting period.

1

The expected volatility has been estimated by taking into
account historic share price volatilities of comparable listed
companies and adjusted for factors that may affect future
volatility.

2

The dividend yield assumption reflects the Company’s
expectations for dividend payments going forward.

3

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the former
and current members of the Board of Directors of Lecta
Ltd, including executive officers, received remuneration.
This remuneration, including the above share based
payment of EUR 1.4 M, was charged at an aggregate cost
of EUR 3.7 M.
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38. Financial instruments

38.1. Equity derivatives

38.2. Derivatives held for trading

Following the exercise of the Purchased call option on
the shares of IDAE Sant Joan AIE (see Note 2.2),there
was no more option on the minorities of a consolidated
company.

These are options on the shares or the assets of nonconsolidated companies.

38.2.1. Purchased call option agreement on the shares of SVL Pilote SAS
Current shareholder
Private owner: 100%
If the option was exercised, Condat SAS
would acquire up to 100% of the shares.
The call option will expire in September
2022.

At 31 December 2021, the minimum exercise price of the option was EUR 1.5
M. This price was considered as higher or equal to the fair value of the company.
Therefore, nothing was disclosed in the Statement of financial position.

38.2.2. Purchased call option agreement on the tangible assets of Périgord Énergies SNC
Current shareholder
• Engie Energy Services SA: 99.8%
• SETHELEC SNC: 0.2%.

There was a contract between Périgord Énergies SNC and Condat SAS for the
supply of steam (see Note 35.3.1). Three months before the end of this 12-year
contract, i.e. on 31 December 2012, Condat SAS had to take the option to purchase
100% of the tangible assets of Périgord Énergies SNC or not. By means of a letter
dated 21 December 2012, Condat SAS undertook to sign a new contract for the
supply of steam for an additional period up to 31 December 2016 but decided not
to purchase the tangible assets. The new contract was signed on 17 January 2014.
It grants Condat SAS an option to purchase 100% of the tangible assets for a total
price of EUR 5 M as at 31 December 2016, or for their Net Booked Value in case
of early termination. An addendum was signed on 28 October 2016 to renew the
contract for two years (until 31 December 2018) with the possibility for Condat SAS
to terminate the contract and purchase the tangible assets before its new term if
Condat SAS has an interest to purchase the cogeneration plant. A new addendum
was signed on 3 July 2018 to renew the contract until 31 December 2020 and to
act the replacement of one of the two turbines (turbine C1). A new addendum
was signed at the beginning of the year 2020 to adapt some terms of the contract
due to the stop of the L8. A new addendum was signed on 23 December 2020
to renew the contract until 31 December 2022. A new addendum was signed
in 2021 principally to extend the contract until end of March 2024 and to act the
replacement of one of the two turbines (turbine C2) and the allocation of costs
between the parties. At that day, the price of the tangible assets at the end of
March 2024 will be around EUR 1.5 M.
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38.3. Assignment of trade receivables

38.4. Derivatives on foreign currencies

From time to time, Lecta Group assigns trade receivables
to financial institutions through non-recourse agreements.

The Lecta Group operations are impacted by the
fluctuations of the non-euro currencies, mainly USD and
GBP.

Such operations are accounted for in conformity with the
accounting policy described in Note 1.37.
• Factoring and Securitization: The corresponding
advance is accounted for in the other borrowings and
disclosed in Note 28.3. There were EUR 4.8 M as at 31
December 2021.
• Non-recourse invoice discounting and factoring: The
residual commitment computed using the continuous
involvement methodology is accounted for in the
borrowings and disclosed in Note 28.3. The face value
of these discounted invoices was EUR 93.3 M as at 31
December 2021.
• Non-recourse assignment: In such case, there is no
residual commitment.

At 31 December 2021, ordinary sales and purchases
were specifically hedged through:
• Forward agreements on realized sales in foreign
currencies: EUR 2.1 M
• Forward agreements on realized purchases in foreign
currencies: EUR 1.2 M
The impact of these contracts has been accounted for
as fair value hedging, hence recognized in the Income
statement (see Note 1.36).
At 31 December 2021, there were no options on future
sales in foreign currencies and on future purchases in
foreign currencies. Therefore, nothing had to be fair
valued through Income statement.
At 31 December 2021, there were no mid or long-term
currency forward contracts for the purpose of hedging
the fluctuation of exchange rate of USD against EUR of
mid or long-term agreements. If any, the impact of such
contracts would be accounted for as cash flow hedge.
The intrinsic value, considered as effective, would be
recognized directly in Equity while the time value would
be considered as ineffective, and thus recognized in the
Income statement (see Note 1.36).

38.5. Hedging derivatives on interest rates
There was no hedging derivatives on interest rates.

38.6. Hedging derivatives on raw materials
prices
There was no hedging derivatives on raw materials
prices.
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38.7. Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value hierarchy
Lecta Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
The fair value of 2016 Notes was based
on ex-coupon quotations. It should be
considered with caution as the High
Yield Bonds market has low liquidity

Other techniques for which all inputs
that have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are observable,
either directly or indirectly.
• For the hedging instruments, the
inputs that have a significant effect on
their fair value were observable.
• For the other items, of which Trade
receivables and Trade payables,
no valuation techniques had to be
applied, as they were all short-term

Techniques that use inputs that have a
significant effect on the recorded fair
value that are not based on observable
market data.
It applies to unlisted securities (see
Note 19). The fair value consists in the
historical cost less eventual impairment

As at 31 December 2021, Lecta Group held the following financial instruments:
At 31 December 2021
Carrying
Fair
amount
value
(in EUR K)
Unlisted securities
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Loans
Capital receivables
Shareholders receivables
Dividends receivables
Options on non-consolidated companies
Grants Receivables - Green Certificates
Grants Receivables - White Certificates
Grants Receivables - Capital Investment
Currency hedging
Interest rate hedging
Energy price hedging
Miscellaneous other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Level 3
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 3
Level 2
Level 1
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 1

77
160,006
1,504
0
0
0
0
0
5,405
2,160
(16)
0
0
0
15
138,650

Senior Secured Notes of 200M€ issued on 4 Feb 2020
Senior Secured Notes of 55.5M€ issued on 16 July 2020
Interest-bearing borrowings except Notes
Bank overdrafts
Trade payables
Capital payables
Shareholders payables
Dividends payables
Options on Minorities
Options on non-consolidated companies
Currency hedging
Interest rate hedging
Energy price hedging
Miscellaneous other payables

Level 1
Level 1
Level 1
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 3
Level 3
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2

200,000
55,556
177,474
13,461
351,607
5,584
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,449
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At 31 December 2020
Carrying
Fair
amount
value

ASSETS
77
77
160,006
144,696
1,504
1,273
0
(0)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5,405
5,405
5,924
2,092
(16)
91
0
0
0
0
0
0
15
397
138,650
177,020
LIABILITIES
172,920
200,000
52,089
55,556
177,474
199,935
13,461
20,477
351,607
213,752
5,584
11,276
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,449
7,820

77
144,696
1,273
(0)
0
0
0
0
5,405
5,876
91
0
0
0
397
177,020
152,800
52,111
199,935
20,477
213,752
11,276
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
7,820
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39. Financial risk
management objectives
and policies
39.1. Customer credit risk
Lecta Group strictly monitors customer credit risk. In
2021, Lecta’s ten largest customers of paper account for

circa 14% of its sales of paper. Credit insurance covers a
large part of the Trade receivables. Lecta’s customers of
energy are large multinational corporations.

(in EUR K)
Gross amount of Trade receivables
Impairment
Trade receivables as per Balance sheet
of which not past due
of which past due:
Amount covered by a credit insurance
Amount of recoverable VAT
Amount eligible to credit risk,
past due since less than one month
past due since more than one month but no later than three months
past due since more than three months but no later than one year
past due since more than one year but no later than five years
past due since more than five years

The line “Impairment” includes a bad debt provision of
EUR 9,029 K as at 31 December 2021 (EUR 9,029 K
as at 31 December 2020) already booked at the time
of Polyedra’s acquisition in 2012 (see Note 2.2). Its
progressive reduction follows the conversion of the
provision into a real bad debt charge, tax deductible or not.

31 Dec
2021
173,992
(13,985)
160,006
153,792
6,214
2,114
42
4,058
3,463
364
182
49
0

31 Dec
2020
158,947
(14,251)
144,696
139,750
4,947
1,729
38
3,180
2,826
139
150
65
0

39.2. Liquidity risk
Since the Recapitalization implemented in 2020 (see Note
3.1), the liquidity risk can be considered as remote. See
Note 25 Cash & cash equivalents and Note 28 Interestbearing borrowings for additional information.

39.3. Future undiscounted contractual payments
(in EUR K)
Financial liabilities as per Balance sheet
Future interest, post Balance Sheet date
Reversal of non-cash liabilities (IFRS adjustments)
Adjusted financial liabilities
Due no later than one month
Due later than one month and no later than three months
Due later than three months and no later than one year
Due later than one year and no later than five years
Due later than five years
Undiscounted cash flows

31 Dec
2021
806,529
839
6,873
814,241

31 Dec
2020
1,043,830
1,473
6,182
1,051,485

227,615
53,680
118,116
410,081
4,750
814,241

347,426
73,997
7,202
622,859
0
1,051,485
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39.4. Market risk
Lecta Group profit is affected by cyclical changes in the
overall economic activity and exposed to variations in the
price of paper, raw materials and energy. To reduce their
impacts:
• Lecta Group customer base is highly diversified in
terms of geography and channels of sales.
• Lecta Group produces part of its needs of pulp (circa
35%) and base paper (circa 87%), the main raw
materials used in the production of Coated Woodfree
and Specialties. It also produces part of its energy
requirement.
• Lecta Group signed multi-year contracts for raw
materials supply.
• Lecta Group signed multi-year contracts for energy
supply (see also Note 40.2).

The table below illustrates how a change in selected
factors (on the assumption that other factors are neutral)
related to Lecta Group’s business may affect financial
performances. Based on actual figures of 2021:

Changes
+/- 10 EUR/T
+/- 10 EUR/T
+/- 10 KT

Paper prices
Pulp prices
Volume produced and sold

39.5. Interest rate risk
Lecta Group’s profit before tax is exposed to the
fluctuations of interest rate, as a vast proportion of its
Borrowings is indexed to 3-month Euribor.

Interest rate
3-month Euribor
There was no hedging derivatives on interest rates as at
31 December 2021 (see Note 38.5).

Estimated effect on
Lecta Group EBITDA
+/- 11.8M EUR
-/+ 3.7M EUR
+/- 2.6M EUR

Unfavorable impact on profit before tax of an increase of
1% (100 basis points) of 3-month Euribor, from -0.572%
(as at 31 December 2021) to 0.428%, all other things
being equal, based on actual figures as at 31 December
2021, is:

Estimated effect on
Lecta Group EBT
-2.3 MEUR
Lecta Group’s counterparts are leading financial
institutions that had credit ratings equal to or better than
A-2 short-term or BBB long-term ratings (or equivalent)
when the hedging instruments were traded.
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39.6. Currency risk on transactions

39.9. Business risk

Lecta Group’s EBITDA is exposed to the fluctuations of
non-euro currencies on future sales and purchases.

Lecta Group negotiates insurance policies for major
risks, such as property damage & business interruption,
and general liability. Lecta Group also invests in the
prevention and the protection of its assets following the
recommendations by leading insurance companies.

Favorable (unfavorable) impacts on EBITDA of a decrease
of 0.01 of exchange rate [e.g. for USD/EUR from 1.19
(average in 2021) to 1.18, or for GBP/EUR from 0.86
(average in 2021) to 0.85], all other things being equal,
based on actual figures of 2020, are:

Estimated effect on
Currency Lecta Group EBITDA
USD
-1.1
GBP
+0.7

Lecta Group covers the fluctuations of non-euro
currencies, mainly USD and GBP, according to the
following rules (see Note 38.4):

39.10. CO2 emission rights
Lecta Group emits more CO2 than the CO2 emissions
rights (“ER”) granted for free. This deficit is covered with
the purchases of ER from third parties +/- the stock of
ER available at the end of the prior period (see Notes 18
and 31). The purchase price of ER is exposed to market
fluctuations.
Lecta Group did not acquire any derivative to cover the
purchase price fluctuation of ER.

• Statement of financial position approach for trade
receivables and payables: on a regular basis, the
actual sales and purchases denominated in non-euro
currencies are covered through forward agreements
with fixed expiry dates consistent with those of the
hedged items.
• Income statement approach for forecast incomes and
expenses: on an occasional basis, a part of the future
sales and purchases to be made in non-euro currencies
may be covered through forward agreements or options
for a maximum period of six months.

39.7. Currency risk on investments
Lecta Group has no significant investments in the noneuro zone.

39.8. Currency risk on borrowings
The borrowings of Lecta Group are essentially
denominated in euro.
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40. Events after the
Statement of financial
position date
40.1. Changes in Lecta Ltd Board
Georges Gravanis was appointed non-executive director
of Lecta Ltd on 1 January 2022.
His background and broad experience in the pressure
sensitive businesses will be a valuable contribution to the
development of the Company.
His last position was President of labels & Graphics
at Avery Dennison corporation, where he held several
management positions during his 17 years tenure.
Georges Gravanis has a doctorate degree in polymer
chemistry from Scientific University of Grenoble.
Eduardo Querol resigned from his position of executive
director on 23 February 2022, and became Vice Chairman
of the Group and Special Advisor to the Chairman.
Gilles J. Van Nieuwenhuyzen was appointed CEO of Lecta
Group and executive director of Lecta Ltd on 1 March
2022, succeeding Eduardo Querol.
Gilles has a vast and diversified experience in different
industries such as chemicals (DSM), packaging (Rexam and
Stora Enso), food ingredients (Danisco and CSM), and paper
& board (Stora Enso). He has also served several positions
as independent advisor and top interim executive.

Following these changes, the Board of Lecta Ltd is now
composed of seven Directors:
– Dermot F. Smurfit, Chairman and non-executive director
– Javier Abad, non-executive director
– Dominique Binet, non-executive director
– Marco Casiraghi, non-executive director
– Alain Gaudré, CFO and executive director
– Georges Gravanis, non-executive director
– Gilles J. Van Nieuwenhuyzen, CEO and executive
director

40.2. Cancellation of Naturgy contract
On 7 January 2022, Torraspapel and its Spanish
subsidiaries received the termination notices of the
agreements from their common methane gas supplier
Naturgy.
These termination notices triggered the payment of a
compensation of EUR 39 M cashed on 14 March 2022.
Lecta has implemented new supply agreements to allow
the operations of the mills.
The new conditions are unfavorable to Lecta due to the
current turmoil on the energy market. Lecta is proactively seeking selling price increase to compensate for
the increase in cost.

He has proven all along his career a successful focus
on the same pillars which form the basis of Lecta
transformation today. He will drive with energy and
passion our path to profitable growth through innovation,
value selling and focused investment while developing
further our operational excellence initiatives.
His last position was Executive Vice President and
Head of the Packaging Solutions Division at Stora Enso,
responsible for containerboards and corrugated &
consumer packaging.
Gilles graduated from Delft University of Technology
(MSc) and Insead (MBA) and is a Dutch national.
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40.3. Military operations initiated by Russia
against the Ukraine
In February 2022, a number of countries (including the
US, UK and EU) imposed sanctions against certain
entities and individuals in Russia as a result of the
official recognition of the Donetsk People Republic and
Lugansk People Republic by the Russian Federation.
Announcements of potential additional sanctions have
been made following military operations initiated by
Russia against the Ukraine on 24 February 2022.
Due to the growing geopolitical tensions, since February
2022, there has been a significant increase in volatility on
the securities, currency, and energy markets, as well as
a significant depreciation of the Russian ruble against the
US dollar and the euro. It is expected that these events
may affect the activities of Russian enterprises in various
sectors of the economy.
The Company regards these events as non-adjusting
events after the reporting period.
Although neither the company’s performance and going
concern nor operations, at the date of this report, have
been significantly impacted by the above, Management
continue to monitor the evolving situation and its impact
on the financial position and results of the Company.
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LECTA Ltd
(Registered Number 12405393)
Company Financial Statements
for the period ended 31 December 2021

Company Financial Statements
LECTA LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 12405393

Company Statement of Financial Position
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As
31 31
December
2021 2021
ASatAT
DECEMBER

31
January
31December
December 3131
January
2021 2021
20212021
Note
€000
€000
Note
€000
€000
Fixed assets
Investments

253,725

253,725

253,725

253,725

9

121

63

10

370

121

491

184

(253)

(113)

238

71

253,963

253,796

Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

11

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

12

Net assets

(8)

-

253,955

253,796

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital

13

27,918

27,750

Share premium account

14

32,175

32,175

Other reserves

15

1,415

Merger reserve
Retained earnings

-

193,800

193,800

(1,353)

71

253,955

253,796

The Company financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf by:

27 April 2022
................................................
Alain Gaudré
Director
Alain Gaudré
Director

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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LECTA LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 12405393

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD
ENDED 31 DECEMBER
Statement
of Changes
in Equity2021
For the period ended 31 December 2021
Called up
share
capital
Called
up share
€000
capital

Share
premium
account
Share
premium
€000
account

Other
reserves
Other
reserves
€000

Merger
reserve
Merger
reserve
€000

Retained
earnings
Retained
earnings
€000

Total
equity
Total
equity€000

€000

€000

€000

€000

€000

€000

Profit for the period

-

-

-

-

71

71

Total comprehensive income
for the period

-

-

-

-

71

71

-

-

-

59,925

Shares issued during the period
Other movement type 1

27,750
-

32,175
-

-

193,800

-

193,800

Total transactions with
owners

27,750

32,175

-

193,800

-

253,725

At 1 February 2021

27,750

32,175

-

193,800

71

253,796

Loss for the period

-

-

-

-

(1,424)

(1,424)

Total comprehensive income
for the period

-

-

-

-

(1,424)

(1,424)

-

-

-

-

168

-

1,415

-

-

1,415

-

1,415

-

-

1,583

Shares issued during the period
Transfer between other reserves
Total transactions with
owners
At 31 December 2021

168
-

168
27,918

32,175

1,415

193,800

(1,353)

253,955

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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LECTA LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 12405393

Notes to the Financial Statements
For
the period
ended
31 December
2021
NOTES
TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
1.
1.

Generalinformation
information
General
Lecta Limited ("the Company") is a limited liability company whose principal place of business is at 8 Sackville Street,
London, W1S 3DG. The Company was incorporated on 15 January 2020. The principal activity of the Company is that
of investment in the paper manufacturing industry.

2.
Accountingpolicies
policies
2. Accounting
2.1
of financial
statements
2.1. Basis
Basisofofpreparation
preparation
of financial
statements
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise specified
within these accounting policies and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102, the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland and the Companies Act 2006.
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company's accounting policies (see
note 3).
The following principal accounting policies have been applied:

2.2. Foreign
Foreign
currency
translation
2.2
currency
translation
Functional and presentation currency
The Company's functional and presentational currency is Euros.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.
At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Non-monetary items
measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and
non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate when fair value was
determined.
2.3
Taxation
2.3. Taxation
Tax is recognised in profit or loss except that a charge attributable to an item of income and expense recognised
as other comprehensive income or to an item recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates income.
2.4
of of
investments
2.4. Valuation
Valuation
investments
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment.
2.5
2.5. Debtors
Debtors
Short-term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans receivable are measured
initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment.
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LECTA LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 12405393

Notes to the Financial Statements
For
the period
ended
31 December
2021
NOTES
TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
2.

Accounting policies (continued)

2.6. Cash
Cashand
and
cash
equivalents
2.6
cash
equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice
of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in no more than three
months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.
2.7
Creditors
2.7. Creditors
Short-term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including bank loans, are
measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
3.
3.

Judgments in
in applying
accounting
policies
and key and
sources
estimationofuncertainty
Judgments
applying
accounting
policies
keyofsources
estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with FRS102 requires the Directors to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses. Although these estimates are based on the Directors' best knowledge of the events
and amounts involved, actual results may differ from those estimates.

4.
4.

Profit
/ (loss) for
year
Profit
/ (loss)
forthe
the
year
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected not to present its own profit and
loss account for the year.
The Company reported a loss for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 of EUR (1,423,596) (2020 Profit: EUR
70,996).
Other comprehensive expense for the year was EUR (2,139,213) (2020: (4,126,074).

5.
Auditors'remuneration
remuneration
5. Auditors’

Fees payable to the Company's auditor in respect of the audit of the Company's
annual financial statements

6.
6.

31 December

31 January

31 December
2021
2021
€000
€000

31 January
2021
2021
€000
€000

9

9

Employees
Employees
The Company has no employees other than the Directors.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For
the period
ended
31 December
2021
NOTES
TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
7.
Taxation
7. Taxation

Corporation tax

31 December
2021
31 December

31 January
2021
31 January

4

13

4

13

4

13

2021 €000
€000

Current tax on profits for the year

Total current tax

2021 €000
€000

Deferred tax
Total deferred tax
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities

-

-

4

13

Factors affecting tax charge for the period
The tax assessed for the period is the same as the rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% as set out below:
31 December

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
of 19%

Disallowable tax in relation to MIP

31 January

31 December
2021 2021
€000
€000

31 January
2021 2021
€000
€000

(1,420)

84

(270)

13

269

-

Adjustments to December 2021

5

-

Total tax charge for the period

4

13
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For
the period
ended
31 December
2021
NOTES
TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

8.
8.

Fixed
assetinvestments
investments
Fixed
asset
31 December

Shares in subsidiary undertakings - Paper Industries Financing Sàrl

9.
9.

31 January

31 December
2021
2021
€000
€000

31 January
2021
2021
€000
€000

253,725

253,725

253,725

253,725

Debtors
Debtors
31 December

10.
10.

31 January
2021
2021
€000
€000

Trade debtors

81

36

Other debtors

40

27

121

63

Cashand
and cash
Cash
cashequivalents
equivalents
31 December

Cash at bank and in hand

11.
11.

31 January

31 December
2021
2021
€000
€000

Creditors:
falling
due within
Creditors: Amounts
Amounts falling
due within
one yearone year

31 January

31 December
2021
2021
€000
€000

31 January
2021
2021
€000
€000

370

121

370

121

31 December

31 January

31 December
2021
2021
€000
€000

31 January
2021
2021
€000
€000

Trade creditors

83

23

Corporation tax

17

13

Other taxation and social security

28

-

9

-

Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
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NOTES
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12.
12.

Creditors: Amounts
falling
due after
one than
year one year
Creditors:
Amounts
falling
duemore
afterthan
more
31 December

31 December
2021
2021
€000
€000
Trade creditors

13.
13.

Share capital
capital
Share

Allotted, called up and fully paid

2,791,822,912 ( 31 January 2021 – 2,775,000,000) Ordinary Shares of €0.01 each

31 January

31 January
2021
2021
€000
€000

8

-

8

-

31 December

31 January

2021
31 December
2021 €000
€000

2021
31 January
2021€000
€000

27,918

27,750

In October 2021 16,822,912 new Ordinary Shares were issued at €0.01 against the conversion of 4,153,806 warrants.
14.
14.

Share premium
premium
Share

Share premium

15.
15.

31 December

31 January

2021
31 December
2021 €000
€000

2021
31 January
2021 €000
€000

32,175

32,175

32,175

32,175

Share based
based payments
Share
payments
Equity-settled share option scheme
Details of the Company's equity-settled share option scheme are given in Note 37.2 to the Consolidated financial
statements.

16.
16.

Events after
after the
Statement
of financial
position date
Events
the
Statement
of financial
position date
Details of subsequent events are disclosed in Note 40 to the Consolidated financial statements.
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